
 

 

Meeting 
 

Children AND EDUCATION OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 

Date and time 
 

Monday 15TH JANUARY, 2024 
 

At 7.00 PM 

Venue 
 

Hendon TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BQ 
 
To: Members of Children AND EDUCATION OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE (quorum 3) 
 
Chair: Councillor Giulia Monasterio 
Vice Chair: Councillor Lucy Wakeley 
 
 
Councillor Joshua Conway 
Councillor Anne Hutton 
Councillor David Longstaff 
 

Councillor Matthew Perlberg 
Councillor Tony Vourou 
Councillor Woodcock-
Velleman 
 

Naomi Phillips Co-opted 
Member 
Tamzin Arora (Co-opted 
Member)  
Raisel Freedman (Co-opted 
Member)    
Nigel Wildish (Co-opted 
Member) 

 
Substitute Members 
 
Sarah Wardle Kamal Gurung Zakia Zubairi 
Dean Cohen   
 
In line with the Constitution’s Public Participation and Engagement Rules, requests to submit 
public questions or comments must be submitted by 10AM on the third working day before 
the date of the committee meeting. Therefore, the deadline for this meeting is Date Not 
Specified at 10AM. Requests must be submitted to Stella Akintan  
stella.akintan@barnet.gov.uk  020 8359 3822  
 
You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached. 
 

Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance 
 
Governance Service contact: Stella Akintan  stella.akintan@barnet.gov.uk  020 8359 3822  
 
Media Relations Contact: Tristan Garrick 020 8359 2454 Tristan.Garrick@Barnet.gov.uk 
 

Assurance Group 
 
Please consider the environment before printing.  
 
Recording of Meetings 

mailto:Tristan.Garrick@barnet.gov.uk


Members of the public have the right to film, record or photograph public meetings. You may be asked to stop 
filming, photographing or recording a meeting if the Chair feels that the activity is disrupting the meeting. 
The meeting may be broadcast live or recorded for later transmission by the Council.  Recordings may be 
available live or viewed for twelve months afterwards. 
If you are attending the meeting either in person or online, you understand that you may be picked up in 
recordings made by the public or the Council. 



 

 

Order of Business 
 
Item No Title of Report Pages  

1.   Minutes of the last meeting  
 

5 - 12 

 
2.   Absence of Members (If any)  

 
 

 
3.   Declaration of Members' Disclosable Pecuniary interests and 

Other interests (If any)  
 

 

 
4.   Report of the Monitoring Officer (If any)  

 
 

 
5.   Public Comments and Questions (If any)  

 
 

 
6.   Members' Items (if any)  

 
 

 
7.   Safeguarding Children in Barnet  

 
13 - 54 

 
8.   Cabinet Forward Plan (Key Decision Schedule)  

 
55 - 78 

 
9.   Scrutiny Work Programme  

 
79 - 86 

 
10.   Task and Finish Group Update  

 
87 - 92 

 
11.   Any item(s) the Chair decides are urgent  

 
 

 
12.   Family Services Quarterly Update  

 
93 - 206 

 
13.   Motion to Exclude the Press and Public  

 
 

 
14.   Any other exempt item(s) the Chairman decides are urgent  

 
 

 
 

Facilities for people with disabilities 

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone Stella Akintan  
stella.akintan@barnet.gov.uk  020 8359 3822.  People with hearing difficulties who have a 
text phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee 
Rooms also have induction loops. 
 
 



 
 
 

Fire/emergency evacuation procedure 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions. 
 
You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts. 
 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings 
 
Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
 
 



1 

 
Minutes of the Children and Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 
21 September 2023 

 
Members Present:- 

 
Councillor Giulia Monasterio (Chair) 

Councillor Lucy Wakeley (Vice-Chair) 
 

Councillor Anne Hutton 
Councillor David Longstaff 
Councillor Matthew Perlberg 
Councillor Tony Vourou 
 

Councillor Woodcock-Velleman 
Naomi Phillips 
Tamzin Arora 
 

 
 
 
 
  

1.    MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 

The minutes were agreed as a true and accurate record. 
  

2.    ABSENCE OF MEMBERS (IF ANY)  
 

There were no apologies for absence. 
  

3.    DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
OTHER INTERESTS (IF ANY)  
 

None 
  

4.    REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY)  
 

None 
  

5.    PUBLIC COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS (IF ANY)  
 

None 
  

6.    MEMBERS' ITEMS (IF ANY)  
 

None 
  

7.    FOCUS ON SPECIAL EDUCATION NEEDS AND DISABILITY (SEND)  
 

Children’s Integrated Therapies Provision 
  
The Executive Director for Children’s Services said this meeting will consider a whole 
range of services in relation to special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). There 
are challenges in regard to provision, assessing need and financial sustainability. 
Therapies is an area of concern, and the department has been working closely with Barnet 
Parent Carers Forum.  
 

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



 

2 

The Assistant Director Commissioning gave an overview of the report highlighting that the 
integrated therapies services cover occupational therapy, physiotherapy and speech and 
language to those up to the age of 25, who require statutory, health and SEND support. 
The Whittington Health NHS Trust took over delivery in 2022 and there has been an 
improvement in service provision and waiting times. There is a national and shortage of 
therapists and rise in number of children being issued with an Educational Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP).  
  
A committee member asked if the dissatisfaction from service users relates to quality or 
level of service. The Director of SEND and Inclusion said the issues, related to the levels 
of provision. 
 
A committee member asked if Barnet is learning from similar challenges in other boroughs. 
The Director of Operations - Whittington Health NHS Trust reported that each borough has 
a different commissioned service.  There is a desire for boroughs across North Central 
London to work together.  Collaborative work is important over the next 12 months to 
reduce duplication. 
 
A committee member asked about future plans given the expected increased demand and 
pressures on funding and retaining staff. The Director of SEND & Inclusion said there is a 
need to deliver the service differently as the current approach is not sustainable, there are 
real opportunities to look at the service more creatively. 
  
The Director of Operations said the change of service model is important but not about 
downgrading provision but strengthening the universal offer. 
 
The Executive Director, Children’s Services said although there has been additional 
resource, staffing levels remain a challenge and there is a role for government to manage 
demand. There is a need to strengthen the ordinarily available offer to avoid needs 
escalating and reduce the need for an EHCP. Barnet’s lead role in the Change Programme 
Partnership will help to test new ideas. 
  
Chief Executive, BELS said we offer a lot of support and training to promote successful 
inclusion and SEND provision in schools to ensure teachers and support staff have the 
resources they need. 
 
A committee member asked if the work on the onset early intervention programmes has 
been considered. It was reported that non-recurrent funding is being used to upskill school 
staff, look at other early intervention programmes including some recent work on language 
support for young children.  
  
A committee member asked about the risk of the rising cost of transport. It was reported 
that Barnet has one of the lowest per capita head costs, however, there has been an 
increase in EHCP leading to an additional demand for the service. There is new 
government guidance, so Barnet needs to update transport policies, councils are being 
asked to ‘consider the cohort more widely’ which has potential to increase demand. 
  
In response to a query, it was reported that more work needs to be done on transition from 
children to adults as the process can be complicated for young people and families. The 
pilot will provide an opportunity to focus in more depth on transition points. 
  
Committee members congratulated officers leading on this work.   

6



 

3 

  
Barnet:  Lead LA for the London partnership of the DfE SEND and AP Change 
Programme.  
  
The Chief Executive of BELS reported that after a competitive process, Barnet has been 
selected as the London Lead for the Change Programme Partnership. This is an exciting 
opportunity to change policy which will be beneficial for Barnet and across the country. 
There will be further clarity from the Department for Education in terms of the detail as the 
pilot progresses.   
  
The Director of SEND & Inclusion gave an overview of the report and the background to 
the pilot which is part of the DfEs SEND and alternative provision improvement plan. There 
is a focus on a three tiered alternative provision to focus on outreach, short term 
placements intensive support and longer term placements. There will be the introduction 
of the standardised EHCP template increasing pressure to do something differently to 
further develop alternative provision, to focus on outreach, short term placements intensive 
support and longer-term placements.  There will be the introduction of the standardised 
EHCP template this is process, this is generally welcomed by local authorities and families, 
particularly those who move to other boroughs.  
  
There will be funding attached to the work and the project team will be seeking to ensure 
the projects are sustainable.  
 
The committee congratulated officers for successfully bidding for the pilot programme.  
  
A committee member asked if there will be a steering group to look at learning across 
London.  It was reported that the Programme will work closely with other regions to 
facilitate joint learning and looking at impact across the region. 
  
The committee wanted to understand how to undertake further scrutiny on this work. The 
Executive Director for Children’s services reported that this topic will be presented next 
year, and officers will provide feedback on progress.  
A committee member reported that people come to Barnet to access the provision and we 
need to advise neighbouring boroughs on SEND provision to ease pressure on our 
services. The Executive Director for Children’s services said outcomes from successful 
projects will be shared.  
In response to a query, committee members were informed that Barnet will receive £4.5 
million over two years to be used to support the pilot across the four London Boroughs for 
the new projects and the work will not impact adversely on existing provision.  
  
A committee member said Barnet schools always feel well supported and in response to 
a query were informed that schools will be contacted in regard to scheduling of pilot 
themes, with information provided about communications and engagement.  
  
Barnet SEND data analysis 
  
The Director of SEND & Inclusion gave an overview of the report and were informed that 
the increase in pupils with SEND is disproportionate to the increase in the pupils 
population. 
 
There are a higher number of SEN pupils in schools and support services are increasingly 
important to assist schools. There are also a high number of SEN pupils in mainstreams 

7



 

4 

schools which is indicative of Barnet as an inclusive borough. There are increased number 
of specialist schools places and a further 135 planned over the next 18 months. 
  
The Chief Executive of BELS said some additional information was requested prior to the 
meeting. The Committee asked for the faith background of children with SEND. This 
information is not available but we will provide numbers of pupils with SEND in faith 
schools at a later date. 
  
A committee member asked how we can reduce tribunals. The Director of SEND & 
Inclusion said we can resolve a high number before tribunals and want to focus on having 
better conversations with parents when there are differences. Further work will be needed 
to improve informal disagreement resolution processes which will be developed with 
Barnet Parent Carer Forum on this.  
  
A committee member asked about the reduction of SEND support in alternative provision. 
It was reported there is good provision in Barnet and a range of support to schools. 
Alternative Provision is one of the themes in the pilot which will provide an opportunity to 
look at the offer more closely. 
  
Key changes in relation to Area SEND Inspection arrangements and implications. 
  
The Chief Executive of BELS gave an overview of the report highlighting that Barnet 
received positive feedback from 2022 OFSTED inspection. There is now a new inspection 
framework. The Department will be preparing and ensure that all systems and are aligned. 
An inspection is due to take place in 2027. 
  
In response to queries, it was reported that new inspection arrangements are significantly 
different and will focus not just on compliance but more widely on the voice and 
experiences of children and young people with SEND and their families as well as strategic 
planning governance. Leaders in Barnet are ambitious which supports the process.  
 
Resolved: That the committee agreed the recommendations in the report. The 
committee will be provided with the number of pupils with SEND in faith schools.  
  
  
  

8.    FAMILY SERVICES QUARTERLY UPDATE  
 

The Executive Director for Children’s services reported that in response to a request prior 
to the meeting, the Annual Complaints report has been circulated.  
  
There has been a whole range of events post pandemic detailed in the reports for which 
positive feedback has been received. Data shows that Barnet is good at supported 
independent living and wrap around support due to the hard work of the leaving care team 
and Barnet Homes.  
  
A committee member queried the reasons for the improvement in assessments completed 
and child protection conference and what are plans to improve further.  
  
The Director Early Help said the improvement is due to greater stability in the work force 
and front door of children’s services and starting to stabilise. This has had an impact on 
timeliness.  
  

8



 

5 

The committee asked for the data to include benchmark figures to compare London 
average and statistical neighbours.  
  
The Executive Director of Children’s services said they can provide benchmarking data. 
The committee were asked to note that there will be further investigation into some areas 
which have not returned to pre-pandemic levels as there are higher contacts and referrals. 
It was reported there is a 15% increase in the MASH, this was not matched with greater 
referrals into social care.  
  
A committee member asked about the success of the ‘Talk about it’ mental health 
campaign. It was reported that this is a new an on-going campaign and analysis will be 
undertaken in the future. A video is currently being co-produced with young people as a 
part of this work. In response to a further question, it was also reported that information on 
support for young people during exam periods was distributed to every school and 
displayed in exam halls. 
 
A committee member commented that the effects of lockdown have been completely 
underestimated and it may take a generation to return to normality. Some children have 
significant amounts of catching up to do. 
 
A committee member asked about care leavers accommodation and relationship with 
Barnet Homes. It was reported that the multi-agency housing panel track details from aged 
16 and care leavers are assisted to make housing application. New housing is ringfenced 
when it comes through. There are lots of initiatives to move young people into housing 
when it is appropriate.  Barnet has a good practice joint working protocol. 
  
The committee thanked officers for the events at the summer of fun which they found to 
be well organised.  
  
Resolved: The committee agreed the recommendations in the report. The 
department will provide the committee with benchmarking data, specifically for 
London. 
  
  

9.    CABINET FORWARD PLAN (KEY DECISION SCHEDULE)  
 

The Committee noted the Forward Plan. 
  

10.    SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  
 

There will be future updates on the work of the Task and Finish Groups. 
The Committee noted the work programme  
  

11.    ANY ITEM(S) THE CHAIR DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 

None 
  

12.    MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

None  
  

13.    ANY OTHER EXEMPT ITEM(S) THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 

9



 

6 

None 
 
 
 

The meeting finished at 8.50 pm 
 

10



Children and Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub Committee Actions Log 2024-25 

Date of 
Meeting  Action  

Responsible 
office  completed  Comment 

15.01.2024 The committee will be 
provided with the number of 
pupils with SEND in faith and 
non faith schools. 
 

Neil Marlow, 
Chief 
Executive and 
Director of 
Education and 
Learning,  
Barnet 
Education and 
Learning 
Service 

3 November 
2023 

The information was sent to the committee by email 

15.01.2024 The department will provide 
the committee with 
benchmarking data, 
specifically for London when 
available 
 

Chris Mundy, 
Executive 
Director for 
Children and 
Education 

On-going London specific data, when available, will be included in the ChAT update which 
is presented to every meeting of this committee.  

 

11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Summary 
In September 2019 the Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP) was established, 
replacing Barnet Safeguarding Children Board with new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
in line with the government guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.’ 
 
The BSCP is a statutory partnership between the Local Authority, North Central London Integrated 
Care Board (NCL ICB) and Police partners to safeguard children and young people in Barnet and 
to promote their welfare. It also works with health providers, education and the voluntary, 
community and faith sector. 
 
The BSCP is required to publish an annual report about how the multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements have been delivered. This report is attached at Appendix A.  
 

 
 

Officers Recommendations  

That the Committee scrutinises the Annual Report and provides any comments. 

 
 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 

 

Children & Education Overview & 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  

 
15th January 2024 

Title Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report 
2022/23 

Report of Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership  

Wards All 

Status 
 
Public  
 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          Appendix A – Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership 
2022/23 Annual Report 

Officer Contact Details  Tony Lewis, Partnership Manager, tony.lewis@barnet.gov.uk  

13

AGENDA ITEM 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


2 

1.1 In line with government guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, local 
Safeguarding Children Partnerships must publish an annual report on the effectiveness of their 
work to promote safeguarding and the welfare of children and young people.  

 
1.2 The Committee is asked to scrutinise the Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP) 

annual report and provide feedback. The annual report is a statutory requirement of the 
partnership. Officers from the partnership will be present to answer questions. 
 

2. STRATEGIC CONTEXT  
 

BSCP annual report 
 

2.1 The annual report sets out what BSCP has achieved over the period September 2022-
September 2023 and how the Partnership has worked to deliver the locally agreed six strategic 
priorities: 

 
• Strengthening leadership and partnership 
• Tailoring our work to local specific issues 
• Driving continuous improvement to safeguarding practice 
• Responding to serious safeguarding cases effectively  
• Creating a strong feedback loop with children, families & practitioners 
• Measuring & evidencing the impact of our work  

 
2.2 It sets out the impact that the Partnership has made in continually improving the multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements within the borough and identifies areas of safeguarding practice 
that all Partners are focussed on tackling.  It also provides an overview of progress made 
against the Partnership’s shared safeguarding themes of: Safer Sleeping, tackling Female 
Genital Mutilation, promoting Family Networks and working together to address cross-
Partnership challenges in the recruitment and retention of staff.  The annual report includes 
contributions from all Partners.  
 

2.3 Our independent scrutineers visit BSCP once per year to scrutinise and gauge the 
effectiveness of our multi agency safeguarding arrangements and publish a report outlining 
their findings for the Partnership to consider. Previous reports can be found here . Our 
scrutineers have previously noted that our annual reports reflected guidance published by the 
institute What Works for Childrens Social Care  which outlines what areas an effective annual 
report should cover. The Partnership will welcome independent scrutineers once more from 
week commencing 22nd January 2024  

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
3.1 The annual report needs to be developed and published in line with statutory requirements for 

local Safeguarding Children Partnerships. The scrutiny sub committee need to scrutinise the 
report as part of their yearly cycle of deep dives. 
 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

4.1 N/A 
 

14

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/about-the-bscp/bscp-annual-reports-independent-scrutiny-reports
https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/research-report/safeguarding-partners-annual-reports-analysis-2020-21/


3 

5. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

5.1 As a multi-agency report by the three statutory partners, the annual report will be submitted to 
the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (‘The Panel’) and What Works for 
Childrens Social Care (also known as the Early Intervention Foundation). This is line with 
guidance published by the Panel.  

 
5.2 The annual report will be published online here in due course.  
 
6. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
6.1 The Corporate Plan  

 
6.1.1 Our Plan for Barnet 2023-26 is centred around being a council that cares for people, our places, 

and the planet. Being a Family Friendly borough is a key driver of our corporate planning with 
the vision of “Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our children and 
young people to achieve their best”. Family Friendly Barnet consists of: 
 

• Family and Belonging - families and children can be together and be part of a community 
that encourages resilience.  
• Safe and Secure – children and young people are safe protected from harm. 
• Education and learning – Children and young people can learn about the world around 
them.  
• Life Chances – children and young people are able to succeed.  
• Health and wellbeing – children are supported to achieve a healthy start in life, enjoy a 
healthy lifestyle and to build resilience. 

 
6.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 

Sustainability) 
 

6.2.1 Partners including the London Borough of Barnet, Police and Health (NCL ICB) contribute to 
the annual budget for Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership and the contributions are set 
out in the published arrangements (see online) 
 

6.2.2 Financial commitments set out in the annual report and proposed by the independent 
scrutineers will be accounted for within current budgets.  
 

6.2.3 The Council continue to support the partnership financially at a greater level than our 
statutory partners with police funding remaining too low. This has been raised with the Police 
and MOPAC and is an ongoing matter pan-London.  

 
6.3 Social Value  

 
6.3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public services 

to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. 
 

6.3.2 Protecting children from abuse and neglect has clear social value and is at the core of BSCP’s 
purpose and activities. Working in partnership with other local agencies improves responses 
to safeguarding concerns and delivers better outcomes for children and young people in 
Barnet. 

15

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1108887/Child_Safeguarding_Practice_Review_panel_guidance_for_safeguarding_partners.pdf
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/about-the-bscp/annual-report
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/about-the-bscp/multi-agency-safeguarding-arrangements


4 

 
6.4 Legal and Constitutional References 

 
6.4.1 Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership exists in line with the Children Act 2004, as 

amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017, which sets a duty for the local authority, 
clinical commissioning group and police to make local arrangements to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of all children in their area.  
 

6.4.2 The annual report and arrangements for independent scrutiny are in line with Working Together 
to Safeguard Children 2018, the statutory guidance which sets out the requirements for local 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. 
 

6.4.3 Under the Barnet Constitution Part 2 C, the Children & Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub-
Committee shall perform the overview and scrutiny role and function in relation to: • All matters 
as that relate to Children’s Social Care • All matters which relate to services pertaining to the 
education and well-being of children and young people including youth services • Receive and 
comment upon any external inspections and reviews 

 
6.5 Risk Management 
 
6.5.1 BSCP works within a risk management approach aligned to the Council’s Risk Management 

Framework. 
 

6.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 

6.6.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities Duty which 
requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
• other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 
• advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups 
• foster good relations between people from different groups. 

The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into 
day to day business and to keep them under review in decision making, the 
design of policies and the delivery of services. 

 
6.6.2 BSCP works to keep equality at the core of its business and continually considers how Barnet’s 

diverse populations may face different safeguarding challenges and require different forms of 
support. 
 

6.7 Corporate Parenting 
 
6.7.1 In line with the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider Corporate 

Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. The outcomes and priorities in the 
refreshed Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, reflect the council’s commitment to the Corporate 
Parenting duty to ensure the most vulnerable are protected and the needs of children are 
considered in everything that the council does. 
 

16



5 

6.7.2 BSCP monitors and receives assurance on Barnet’s corporate parenting role and reviews 
reports and performance data on various safeguarding themes which relate to looked-after 
children. 
 

6.8 Consultation and Engagement 
 
6.8.1 BSCP works with a wide range of local partners to set priorities and deliver activities, including 

health, police, education and voluntary sector partners. The Partnership has consulted with 
young people and residents to inform its work over the past year and further consultation and 
engagement will be driven by the My Say Matters participation strategy.  
 

7 INSIGHT 
 
7.1 BSCP has a multi-agency performance dashboard which helps set priorities and spot emerging 

trends, and its thematic deep dives draw on research and local and national data. 
 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report  
2022–2023

Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Caring for people, our places and the planet

19



1 

Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Annual Report - September 2022-September 2023 

Contents 

Page 2  – Introduction  

Page 9  – About BSCP  

Page  12 – Learning & Development  

Page 25  – Shared safeguarding themes 

Page  33 – Conclusion  

20



 

2 
 

Introduction:  Thank you for taking the time to read this 2022-23 Annual Report of the Barnet 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP). BSCP continues to bring together the Local Authority, Health and Police as 
statutory safeguarding partners alongside wider agencies including education, Probation and our local voluntary 
community and faith sector (VCFS). We shall refer to all throughout this report as ‘Partners’ and ‘the Partnership’.  
 
The impact of the Covid19 pandemic, cost of living crisis and global conflicts have had an impact on children, 
affecting their mental health and economic security.  These events have affected the most disadvantaged in our 
communities and have exposed the deep-rooted and intersectional inequalities of race, religion, gender, gender-
identity and disability in society.  As a Partnership, we want to create a borough that is family-friendly, where we 
work in collaborative partnerships with our local communities to find solutions that will improve the health, 
wellbeing, economic stability and life chances of our children and their families. We will work together to tackle 
inequalities and social injustice so that all children can reach their potential and achieve great outcomes. To do this, 
we will listen to children, parents and those working with and supporting them and take action to create the change 
they need. 
 
At the time of concluding this years Annual report the Partnership has been horrified to witness the violence in Gaza 
& Israel. Recognising the conflict will affect our communities, families and their children we have been working 
closely with school leads to ensure immediate support where required such as in providing school places for children 
displaced across the region. In addition, we have provided emotional wellbeing support for those affected through 
our Barnet Integrated Clinical Services (BICS) provision and provided extensive brokerage and support across schools, 
media, police and the local voluntary and charity sector. We will continue providing support wherever we can to all 
those affected for as long as is required.  
 
This year we have developed and published a new Children and Young People’s Plan 2023 to 2027 which sets out an 
ambitious, cross cutting, multi-agency Plan that children and young people have co-produced with us, placing 
them firmly at the centre of decision making and in line with our My Say Matters child participation and family 
involvement strategy. A broad range of Partners and parents and carers have also contributed to the development 
of the Plan and have informed our 4 key drivers to underpin delivery of the Plan: 
 

1. Great Partnerships: Participation & co-production means that children, young people, parents and carers 
can discuss and co-decide on all matters that affect them, like family, school, community matters, local 
government policies & legal policies. It means that their voices are being heard. 

 
2. Inclusion: We want to ensure that whatever benefits and opportunities there are in Barnet must be afforded 

to all. 
 

3. Great Outcomes: Tackling the gap and fighting inequalities We aim to ensure we understand how children 
and young people experience inequality of opportunities and experiences in Barnet and why this might be, 
to start to tackle these inequalities. 

 
4. Children and young people having fun: Play is an essential right of childhood which stimulates brain 

development. For all young people it’s the fun part that balances the stressful times. It’s where important 
social skills are gained and healthy social development is learned through expression. 

 
The Children & Young People’s Plan has further been informed by the Young People’s Resident Survey (YPS) which is 
a bi-annual face-to-face survey of Barnet young residents aged 11-18, undertaken by an independent research 
company. The survey has been undertaken since 2016 which gives indications of trends in young people’s views over 
time. 500 Barnet young people were interviewed as part of the most recent YPS, the majority of which (89%) agreed 
that Barnet is a family friendly place to live, although children with a disability were less happy with their local area 
as a place to live.  
 
The top 3 priorities for children and young people are: 1) protecting people from anti-social behavior, 2) 
protecting people from harm and, 3) supporting people with mental health concerns.   51% of children said that 

21

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/023575%20Phase2%20CYP%20plan%202024%20landscape%20v14%20FINAL2.pdf
https://www.barnet.gov.uk/young-people/my-say-matters


 

3 
 

knife crime remains among their top personal safety concerns, although the number of children who placed this in 
their top three concerns is significantly lower than in the previous survey. Similarly, the level of concern over gangs 
(35%) is also significantly lower than in the last survey and young people taking drugs has also fallen (34%). However, 
children reflect that they want to feel safer in their communities. 
 
Our progress in achieving our vision of a Family Friendly borough is monitored and rated through our Family Friendly 
Index – a range of data and intelligence relating to changes over recent years that includes views of children and 
young people as well as Partnership information from social care, health, education, housing and crime data. This 
will enable us to be held to understand the impact of the change we are making and be held to account. Our 
ambition is to use feedback from children and parents to further inform the development of the Partnership’s work 
over the course of the next year and beyond.  
 
Education: In terms of day-to-day multi agency Partnership work for children and young people, we wanted to start 
this report by highlighting that, despite global challenges such as the pandemic, children in Barnet schools have 
made good progress and continue to secure hugely positive educational outcomes. This is testament to all children 
and young people, supported through the work of the Partnership.  
 
Educational development and achievement have improved consistently in recent years in the borough. Over 97% of 
Barnet schools are good or outstanding and Barnet continues to be in the top 10% for many measures of 
achievement in schools. Newly published Key Stage 4 (KS4) data from the Department for Education (DfE), shows 
that Barnet is second in the country for Progress 8, which measures the progress that students have made between 
the end of primary school and the end of Key Stage 4 (16 year olds). The Barnet Progress 8 score for the 28 schools in 
the Borough was only beaten by the Isles of Scilly Local Authority, which has only one school in it.  The attainment of 
students in Barnet by the end of KS4 (i.e. grades achieved) was also very strong, ranked third best in the country.  
 
For safeguarding, in 2022/23 there were 45 full Ofsted inspections of Barnet state schools of which 44 were judged 
to be ‘effective’ for their safeguarding. One school received two inspections in the academic year as they were 
graded inadequate for leadership and management because safeguarding was not judged effective. Robust action 
planning and significant support and challenge from the Barnet Education & Learning Service (BELS) team resulted in 
a ‘Good’ judgement overall in June 2023 with safeguarding judged as ‘Effective’. Three Barnet independent schools 
were judged at their last Ofsted inspection to be Inadequate due to safeguarding. When an independent school is 
judged Inadequate for safeguarding, we approach the school to offer support but also challenge how they are going 
to make the necessary improvements to safeguarding. We have identified that only a small number of independent 
schools currently attend Designated Safeguarding Lead briefings. A Partnership Board is currently being convened to 
oversee the quality of independent schools in Barnet and this will be addressed through this Board. The Board will 
include leaders from independent schools in Barnet.  
 
Positively, the Schools Safeguarding Lead holds regular safeguarding briefings every six weeks attended on average 
by 40 schools.  Since January 2023, the briefings have been used as a platform to share safeguarding updates and 
deliver bespoke training. Some of the topics discussed have covered areas such as Keeping Children Safe in 
Education 2023, updates on the Prevent Duty , regular updates from MASH and training on domestic abuse and 
supporting families and training upon responding to Harmful Sexual Behaviours. The sessions have also provided 
Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSL) with a platform to share concerns and best practice and effectively 
communicate with a range of partners. The training sessions have also allowed DSLs to keep in touch with current 
safeguarding themes and implement any changes needed within their settings in a timely manner. The Chief 
Executive and Director of Education and Learning for BELS or the Co-Head of School Improvement prioritise 
attendance at DSL briefings to demonstrate BELS commitment to improving safeguarding in schools and hear first-
hand of the challenges and concerns of schools to enable an appropriate and sustainable BELS response. 
Our School Safeguarding Lead is regularly contacted by Headteachers and DSLs and assists with general safeguarding 
enquiries and concerns. 
 
Schools are offered raising awareness of safeguarding and child protection training (previous level one) which 
highlights the Barnet context, the context of individual schools and can be flexible in picking up any issues/updates 
following Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) investigations, school complaints and child safeguarding practice 

22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1181955/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2023.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1181955/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2023.pdf


 

4 
 

reviews. This is a two-hour interactive session, and these have been delivered ‘in person’.  This year’s training had a 
greater emphasis on child-on-child abuse and how schools can respond to concerns raised, in particular supporting 
victims and perpetrators. There have also been updates on the new bruising protocol, the legislation around forced 
marriage, the importance of liaising with the LADO and the need to understand and report low-level concerns.  
Schools can also buy in external trainers through Barnet Partnership for School Improvement (BPSI). 
 
Childrens Social Care:  Contacts at the ‘front door’ of children’s services or Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), 
have been 15% higher than pre-pandemic volume throughout 2022/23 although this has started to reduce. There 
were 10,103 contacts received in the MASH over the six-month period March – September 2023. This represents a 
6.7% decrease compared to the same reporting period in 2022 (n=10,812) and is 13% higher than pre-pandemic 
reporting during April - October 2019 (n=8929).   
 
The MASH  comprises a range of agencies including Metropolitan Police, our 0 – 19 Healthy Child Programme 
provider, Solutions 4 Health (S4H), Barnet Education & Learning Services (BELS), Barnet Children’s Social Care, Child 
& Family Early Help, Change, Grow, Live (alcohol and substance misuse service), Barnet Homes, London Probation 
Service and Solace Advocacy & Advice (Domestic Abuse) Services. The Partnership actively works together to screen 
contacts received into the MASH, share and analyse information held across multiple client data systems and build a 
picture of the child’s history, current circumstances and agency involvement so that proportionate and timely 
decisions can be made about the type and level of services children need to safeguard their welfare, meet their 
needs and improve their outcomes. In addition to this the Partnership works hard to ensure that the quality of 
decision making is high at this critical stage of the help and support offered to children at risk. The Partnership takes 
a pro-active approach with regards to its assurance in this regard; out of 28 audits completed in the year of contacts 
to the MASH, the majority 89% of overall gradings were good or outstanding. On the domain of quality of decision 
making 82% of audits were graded good or outstanding, evidencing good quality decision making. 
 
The conversion rate from contact at the MASH to referral remains consistent, although the higher volume of 
contacts into the MASH mostly led to a higher rate of No Further Action or signposting to Universal and Universal 
Plus services outcomes. The Partnership has been leading sessions across the system of help for children to 
introduce the refreshed pan-London Safeguarding Children Partnership Continuum of Help and Support; this work is 
set out later in the report. A newly created Early Help post co-located with MASH has been established to support 
referring agencies to access Universal and Universal Plus support directly. The MASH steering group is a sub-group of 
the Partnership and meets quarterly to examine the effectiveness of the MASH partnership arrangements and 
practice by drilling into data and outcomes which creates opportunities for shared learning and service 
development. The MASH partners have a regular physical presence in the office which facilitates regular 
opportunities for dialogue, information sharing and decision making. The MASH attends Designated Safeguarding 
Lead, GP and Head Teacher Forums on at least an annual basis and has designated links with some community 
services to support relationship building through a single point of contact.  
 
The number of referrals to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO), in respect of allegations made by children 
against staff within the Partnership, for this reporting year has decreased from last year. Education continues to 
make the highest number of referrals and the highest number of allegations were against school staff; which is 
expected given this is where children spend a significant amount of their time.  The LADO receives a high volume of 
calls from professionals in the borough seeking advice and discussing thresholds; there were 155 LADO contacts in 
the past year. The LADO has instructed agencies to refer to OFSTED where safeguarding concerns have been 
identified with Childminders, Nurseries or Schools. Partnership working remains key to the LADO’s success in 
working with agencies. The LADO has met with the Youth Assembly to consult and co-produce a new LADO leaflet 
for primary and secondary pupils. This is due to be launched soon and a training video is also being produced for 
volunteers and professionals which children are also supporting to develop.  The LADO has provided training to all 
residential providers and independent schools in Barnet to ensure LADO is well understood and is actively involved 
in the London LADO Networking Group. Oversight and scrutiny of the LADO function is provided by the Performance 
and Quality Assurance subgroup yearly, with the production of an annual report received by all Partners.  
 
In respect of Children in Care at the end of September 2023 there were 336 Children in Care whom we were 
responsible for, 60 of whom are Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children. 82 children entered into care during the 

23



 

5 
 

six-month period to end of September 2023, of these children 14 are Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children 
(UASC) and our readiness to look after these vulnerable children arriving in this country and to work with national 
partners is positive, but there is no doubt at times of increasing financial pressures this places stretch and challenge 
upon the local system.  For children aged under 16 years who have complex needs and are at risk of entry into 
residential care, there is a placement sufficiency risk which can force reliance on unregistered homes. This is a 
national issue and to address the problem locally we started a programme of developing small local children’s homes 
to complement our existing 6 bed offer at the Green Bank House children’s home, while working with Ofsted to 
expedite registration of provision at Edgerton Gardens where planning consent has been obtained for a solo 
provision. We are working nationally to address concerns we have with a new complex child group, which is being 
coordinated by the Department for Education. A new national framework for semi-independent provision post-16 is 
coming into place this year and we are working with providers to ensure registration is carried out. We have 49% of 
our care experienced young adults in independent accommodation with wraparound support, with a lower 
proportion in supported accommodation as our goal is to prepare and support young people in independent living 
and comparative studies shows we perform well on this aspiration. Data is showing we have low numbers of 
adoptions, and we are working with courts to expediate proceedings. We have also a number of children in early 
permanence placements which ensures timely adoptions meeting the needs of those children. 
 
The Early Help partnership has developed a refreshed Child and Family Early Help Strategy 2023 – 2027 in 
consultation with children, parents, key stakeholders and members. Child & Family Early Help Services have gone 
from strength to strength since our Child & Family Hub model was introduced in October 2018.  It is supported by a 
well-established and growing network of services work that work together and provide support when children, 
young people and their families need it. Our three Child and Family Early Help Hubs are linked to several satellite 
buildings where a vast range of early years, family support, prevention, diversionary and targeted support is 
available to children and families. This includes midwifery, health visiting, breastfeeding, parenting support, parental 
conflict, positive activities, mental health support, welfare advice, groupwork programmes and a range of other 
services – a true Partnership approach.  
 
The Child & Family Early Help Service has a strong place-based presence with local advisory boards that invite local 
providers and parents to contribute to the way in which services are planned and delivered. Parent Champions have 
undertaken ‘mystery shopping’ activities to provide feedback on user experience of the settings and the 
‘Empowering Parents, Empowering Communities’ training is creating space for parent-led parenting programmes 
that expand the reach and impact of the service. Between October 2021 and April 2023, we have supported 19,155 
individuals through the Household Support Fund for which Child & Family Early Help Services been key, ensuring 
schools and community settings are clear on how to access the fund. For Summer BACE 2023, Barnet increased 
engagement via a targeted communication campaign on social media, in schools and directly to families in need, 
including families living in asylum hotels. Over 40 activity camps were commissioned across the borough with more 
than 4,000 children accessed BACE activities. The Child & Family Early Help welfare advisors continue to work 
alongside families providing support for those struggling with the cost-of-living.  Early Help Assessments are 
developed in partnership with families, so they are focused on the help families need and decisions are made 
together. Between March and September 2023 there were 1898 open Early Help Assessments; Barnet has the 
highest rate of Early Help Assessments in London. Audits completed in the last year show the majority, 79%, have 
an overall grading of good or outstanding. The Child & Family Early Help Service benefits from a stable and 
experienced management team that provides robust oversight and support, enabling good practice to flourish. 
 
A special mention in this year’s Annual Report must go to the Barnet Youth Justice Service (YJS) and Multi-Agency 
Partnership for attaining ‘Youth Justice SEND Quality Lead Status’ with a Child First Commendation. The YJS 
demonstrated effective evidence-based practice against the quality assurance framework at the first time of asking. 
This is a great achievement and a testament to strategic and operational commitment, investment, Partnership 
approaches and endeavour over an extended period. Amongst the features of the work that contributed to this 
award are: a long-established relationship between the Local Authority SEND Team and the Youth Justice Service, 
further strengthened by refreshed Terms of Reference for the relevant multi-agency panels. In addition, multi-
disciplinary and co-located staff (such as Educational Psychologist, Speech and Language Therapist, Forensic 
Psychologist & Youth Justice Liaison and Diversion Practitioner) that play a critical role not only in ensuring timely 
expert support for identified young people, but also in up-skilling frontline staff through training and consultancy. 

24

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/023478%20-%20BC3611%20-%20BARNET%20-%20New%20Child%20and%20Family%20Early%20Help%20Strategy%20-%20WEB%2012.4.2023_0.pdf


 

6 
 

There are strong links to the Pupil Referral Unit, Virtual School and a large number of Borough schools and 
academies, increasing opportunity and impact of early identification and early help. The service is well integrated 
with Child and Family Early Help Service and offering early help provisions for Out-of-Court Disposals, Turnaround 
and custody base provisions via Tri-Borough Project Engage (Barnet, Brent and Harrow) to engage with young people 
during what is known as the ‘teachable, reachable moment’ and link them with positive activities and to access 
universal provisions in the local communities. The commendation also recognised a clear and sustained commitment 
to resettlement and after-care, unconstrained by service "hard-stops" in terms of age or statutory responsibilities 
and a child-first focus that includes residential trips for identified children with complex needs and co-produced 
service materials informed by the child's voice   
 
Police: For our Partners in Policing, acute demand and resourcing challenges exist across the Metropolitan Police 
Service (MPS). An MPS initiative of posting new Detectives into the volume crime investigations with Response 
Policing strands has given positive results on North-west BCU - giving confidence to the Detectives in investigation 
and prisoner processing prior to them being posted to Public Protection and Local Investigations.  This provides an 
expectation of improving retention of officers as a result. Across the MPS, Public Protection (PP) has been recognised 
as below the necessary staffing to carry out essential functions.  Consequently, an uplift of 485 officers for PP has 
been announced MPS wide.  This is split between the 12 BCUs and includes on each Basic Command Unit an 
additional Detective Chief Inspector (to specifically manage offenders and proactivity targeting the highest risk 
offenders known within the MPS  and additional Detective Inspector and an uplift in researchers and Police 
Conference Liaison Officers (PCLOs) across MASH and Child Abuse Investigation Team Referrals. 
 

Locally on NW BCU officers from other strands are being attached to the Community Safety Unit to assist in the 

response to Domestic Violence, and the Rape and Serious Sexual Offences teams to assist in the response to serious 

sexual assaults.  These initiatives have been assisting to reduce workloads and improve responses whilst NW BCU 

Public Protection remains under strength across all teams, awaiting the positive results of a recent recruitment 

campaign. 

 

Over the period September 18th to 27th 2023 His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Service 
(HMICFRS) visited all 12 MPS Basic Command Units to interview a range of teams in order to understand the MPS 
response to missing children and those suspected to be at risk of exploitation. Units interviewed at North West BCU 
included:  Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE) /Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) / Missing children / Rape & Serious Sexual 
Offences / Local Investigation – Gangs engagement / Neighbourhood Policing Teams for Schools.  In early October 
2023 HMICFRS published a report outlining accelerated causes for concern with regards to Missing children and 
risks of exploitation, outlining that: “The force needs to improve how it identifies and assesses risks, and how it 
responds, when children are reported missing.” 
 
HMICFRS identified that children who are regularly missing should have been treated as High risk and those who 
have missing episodes which are out of character. With regards to Exploitation the report outlined: “The force should 
improve its investigations when children are at risk of, or harmed by, criminal or sexual exploitation.” The concerns 
centered upon the closure of reports where victims of the exploitation did not wish to assist police investigate and 
prosecute offenders. However, it was found that reasonable lines of enquiries were not always carried out to 
identify the perpetrator and that this left risks to the public and to other children. 
 
The MPS leadership team are steadfast in their commitment to ensure the risks that children and young people are 
facing are appropriately identified, risk assessed, investigated, and responded to, and that those who abuse or 
exploit them are brought to justice.  In response to these concerns about the MPS response to vulnerable children 
and young people in the New Met for London the commitment to strengthening the response is set out. As part of 
this work the MPS are investing in an additional London wide 565 posts, 72 of which will be deployed to build 
capacity within the exploitation teams. In tandem with this the MPS are undertaking work to redesign the targeting 
operating model to deliver a more holistic approach to child protection matters. In design is a new Children and 
Young People’s strategy that will drive a ‘Child First’ approach. In the immediate short term the MPS are putting in 
place immediate measures to better protect children now. These include appointing a new Lead Responsible Officer 
for exploitation and a rapid plan to address the Accelerated Causes for Concern overseen by the Assistant 

25

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YPB04vP0YjQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YPB04vP0YjQ
https://www.met.police.uk/notices/met/a-new-met-for-london/


 

7 
 

Commissioner.  
 

A key collaborative checkpoint over the past year has been a jointly funded community safety programme by the 

Council and the MPS focusing on the Grahame Park Estate in the west of the borough. Clear, Hold, Build  has 

already had significant success over the last couple of months. On a radio interview with LBC Radio, it was fantastic 

to hear directly from residents who have already started to talk about the impact that Clear, Hold, Build is having. 

Parents feel happier to let their children play outside as there is less anti-social behaviour happening around the 

estate. As well as the high-profile police activity in the area, the community safety team and other officers have been 

identifying crime hotspots, improving CCTV, and closing empty properties that can become a magnet for crime. A 

huge thank you to all officers involved, and we look forward to continuing to improve the environment around 

Grahame Park for our residents in the future. 

 

Health: For our Partners in the Health arena, following the passage of the Health and Care Bill in April 2022, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups were dis-banded, with statutory responsibilities transferring into the newly established North 
Central London Integrated Care Board (NCL ICB) on 01 July 2022. NCL ICB, comprises the London boroughs of Barnet, 
Enfield, Haringey, Islington and Camden. NCL ICB has responsibility to coordinate services and plan health care in a 
way that improves the health of its population and contributes to the reduction of inequalities between different 
groups across NCL and this is integral to the Safeguarding agenda. Within NCL ICB Executive responsibility for 
safeguarding in the ICB sits with the ICB’s Chief Nursing Officer. In December 2022 the ICB appointed a Director of 
Safeguarding to support the Chief Nursing Officer in ensuring statutory requirements are met.  The Safeguarding 
team comprises borough based Safeguarding Children Designated Nurses, Doctors, Professionals, Named General 
Practitioner for Safeguarding, and the child death review process aligned to our five boroughs. 
 
At the time of writing NCL ICB are currently going through a consultation process as part of an organisational 
change programme. In order to deliver the Population Health and Integrated Care strategy, change is needed in 
order to meet population demand.  The pandemic has further highlighted the significant health inequalities that 
exist within our population and the NCL ICB continues to work with our partners across health and social care to 
better focus our resources on addressing these inequalities and on driving improvement in population health 
outcomes across NCL boroughs. Over the past year as a result of the newly established ICBs, Safeguarding Assurance 
Group (SGAG) have been established.  The terms of reference have been agreed with health system leaders in July 
2023.The group is a key strategic forum within the Integrated Care System (ICS) that will inform the process of 
safeguarding assurance for the ICB. The purpose of the SGAG is to provide a strategic forum within the ICS for health 
partners across NCL ICS system to seek assurance on the performance of the ICB and commissioned health services 
with regard to the discharge of statutory safeguarding responsibilities and duties in line with the Safeguarding 
Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the NHS Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework (NHSE 
2022). The SGAG will provide the ICB and ICS with a further strategic mechanism to support the delivery of the NCL 
ICB Safeguarding and Looked After Children strategy, identify ICS safeguarding concerns/risks and opportunities for 
improvement and learning, including addressing inequalities and routinely and systematically share and triangulate 
intelligence, insight and learning on safeguarding matters across the system to gain assurance the statutory 
safeguarding responsibilities are met.  
 
It is important that BSCP holds Partners to account when service delivery is not as strong as we would wish to see. 
This has occurred this year in respect of the provider of our 0-19 Healthy Child Programme provider – who provide 
an integrated health visiting and school nursing service that supports children and young people aged 0 to 19 and 
their families. Following an Inadequate judgment upon the category of ‘safe’ (which incorporates safeguarding of 
children) the Leadership of BSCP and its Performance and Quality Assurance sub – group has afforded scrutiny, 
challenge and support wherever necessary to improve the service provided to children and families. At the time of 
concluding this Annual Report this remains an ongoing process and we would expect to provide further updates for 
Partners over the coming months upon the delivery of the Healthy Child Programme.   
 
This year has presented opportunity for the first time since the pandemic for the Partnership to come together to 
actively discuss and consider national reform proposals to children’s social care. Over the summer of 2023 we held 
our first in person conference as a safeguarding partnership since before the pandemic. Over 60 key stakeholders 

26

https://lbbcommunicationsinternal.cmail19.com/t/d-l-vtdkun-juhjhkhiz-j/
file:///C:/Users/Griffin/Downloads/'We%20can%20let%20our%20children%20out%20to%20play%20again':%20Residents'%20joy%20as%20cops%20nab%20160%20people%20on%20council%20estate%20after%20shooting%20spree
https://nclhealthandcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/PH-IC-Strategy-V.Final-long-version.pdf


 

8 
 

attended a lively day of discussion and debate where we focused upon readiness for reform across children’s social 
care and multi-agency safeguarding arrangements and in particular reflected upon key proposals for reform within 
the Governments Stable Homes, Built on Love  social care reforms, and the draft proposals outlined within Working 
Together 2023. We will of course enact any legislative change as a result of any of these reforms as and when they 
come in force.  
 
As ever our Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements  outlines our governance processes in line with Working 

Together 2018. To deliver upon these arrangements our 2023/24 Business Plan sets 6 key priorities for the 

Partnership to work towards. They are not listed in order of any priority: 

1. Strengthening leadership and partnership 

2. Tailoring our work to local themes 

3. Driving continuous safeguarding practice improvement 

4. Responding to serious child safeguarding cases effectively 

5. Creating a strong feedback loop with children, families, and practitioners 

6. Measuring and evidencing the impact of our work 
   
The BSCP Leadership Forum monitors the ongoing implementation of the Business Plan and this report outlines 
evidence and impact as a result of embedding in practice our continual learning. We hope that you can review plenty 
of evidence of transfer of knowledge into practice so that the local safeguarding system continues to strengthen year 
after year. This year we have laid down 4 cross-cutting shared safeguarding themes of:  
 

• Female Genital Mutilation (FGM),  
• Safer Sleeping,  
• Promoting multi-disciplinary approaches 
• Promoting Family Networks. 

 
These shared themes represent a pro-active approach to tackling safeguarding challenges faced by children and young 
people and more upon these are laid out later in this report.  
 
We want to thank all those colleagues that are working across the Partnership in a variety of roles, to support 
children, young people and families every day.  Significant pressures lay ahead in the field of muti agency 
safeguarding work but we feel that that this Annual Report outlines how we respond as ‘One Partnership’ to the 
challenge and we are immensely grateful for all that our do across the borough on a daily basis for children and 
families.     
 

27

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/working-together-to-safeguard-children-changes-to-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/working-together-to-safeguard-children-changes-to-statutory-guidance
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/barnet_multi_agency_safeguarding_arrangements_aug_23_ammends1.docx


 

9 
 

About BSCP: Leadership Forum: BSCP is overseen by a small Leadership Forum with membership from 

the three statutory partners of Local Authority, Health and Police with a rotating Chair. The Chair serves as the 
single point of contact for the BSCP over the length of a term, which is one year.  A primary Term of Reference for 
the Leadership Forum is to oversee the delivery of the BSCP business plan, agree the funding for the Partnership 
each year by the Leadership Forum and receive quarterly updates from the Performance and Quality Assurance 
Panel (PQA) and Learning & Thematic Review Group (LTRG) to address stubborn or pertinent issues within the system 
as well as scrutinising and actioning system-wide reports such as Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. 

Performance and Quality Assurance subgroup: The PQA is chaired on a rotating basis by the 3 senior safeguarding 
leads of health, social care and police partners. It holds representatives from many partner organisations within those 
3 statutory strands of the Partnership. It has a crucial scrutiny and assurance function, reviewing multi-agency 
performance data and a range of annual reports including from the MASH, LADO, Vulnerable Adolescents Community 
Partnership Education and other upon request. PQA takes an active role in monitoring and advising many of the 
BSCP activities, including development and scrutiny of the multi-agency data dashboard, multi-agency audits, the 
workforce development training programme, scrutiny of service level reports including MASH, private fostering and 
LADO, Section 11 audits, Professional and Young People Forums and thematic deep dives. This forum also includes 
regular reports from the Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector subgroup 

Learning and Thematic Review Group: The Learning and Thematic Review Group is chaired independently by 
Bridget Griffin, a hugely experienced multi-agency safeguarding profess ional , and has a membership  from 
across the council, police, health, community safety, public health and a legal adviser. It undertakes Rapid 
Reviews, oversees local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and other bespoke learning activities and monitors 
the implementation of recommendations. It also reviews national Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and other 
relevant learning and good practice to implement in Barnet. 

Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector Sub-group: Our VCFS subgroup aims to bring the voice and knowledge of 
VCFS organisations to the Partnership, as well as to improve safeguarding practice across the sector and increase 
engagement with Partnership activities and training.  

 
 

28



 

10  

Section 1: Learning & Development: A key focus for the Partnership continues to be 

upon ensuring that the learning we obtain from national safeguarding reviews, local safeguarding reviews, multi-

agency audits and other learning activity is embedded into practice. All of the learning activity we undertake within 

BSCP is driven forward by our Learning & Improvement model as demonstrated below:  

 
 

Learning from local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and Rapid Reviews: Over 

the past 18 months BSCP has coordinated and published Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (CSPRs) and submitted 
to the national panel Rapid Reviews leading to the identification of important learning which means that we are well 
placed to improve the local multi-agency system. We have received positive feedback from the national panel upon 
the quality and concise identification of learning within them.  The grid below provides an overview of the cases we 
have reviewed, and critical learning and practice themes identified within them:   
 

Case  Critical learning themes identified:  

Child L CSPR • Role and responsibilities of Leaving Care Personal Advisers reviewed.  

• Information sharing across GP network strengthened   

• Probation and Leaving Care arrangements  

• Step up / step down arrangements – Continuum of Help & Support (thresholds) 

• Housing protocols for 16/17 year olds 

Child A CSPR ( 
anonymous 
publication)  

• Suicide/filicide risk  

• Information sharing - particularly across public / private providers 

• Embedding a Think Family approach  

• Intersectionality and cultural competence  

Child KL Rapid 
Review ( CSPR 
underway) 

• Malnutrition  

• Application of thresholds across the Continuum of Help & Support.  

• Working with families where engagement is reluctant or sporadic  

 

Child GA & RA 
Rapid Review  

• Application of thresholds  

• Timeliness of strategy meetings  

29



 

11  

• Intersectionality  

Child SS Rapid 
Review (CSPR 
underway)  

• Working together to safeguard children who are victims of exploitation  

• Supporting vulnerable families moving from private housing into Local Authority 

housing  

• Adultification  

• Adopting a Think Family approach  

• Intersectionality and cultural competence.  

Child AS Learning 
Review  

• Child protection medical examinations  

• Importance of cross Partnership challenge & escalation  

• Intersectionality  

• Sharing of information involving children with complex needs 

Our Learning & Improvement model has tracked and developed learning from these local reviews and provided 

challenge to partners upon how effectively they are embedding this learning in practice. Multi-agency peer to peer 

challenge workshops have been hosted every 6-8 weeks inviting key Partners to update upon progress and the 

following provides insight into how we are continually improving the local system. Some reviews hold repeat 

learning themes which have informed the dissemination:  

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review -  Child L: In February 2023 the Partnership published a local child 

safeguarding practice review entitled ‘Child L’,. This was an independent review into harm experienced by a child 
who was known to both Barnet and Brent multi-agency safeguarding services. The child was placed in the care of the 
local authority and is safe and well. The review was conducted jointly with Brent Safeguarding Children Partnership 
and included an extensive analysis of the multi-agency services provided to Child L and his mother. The review 
includes a summary of learning. The review also found several examples of strong and committed multi-agency 
safeguarding practice over the unprecedented Covid19 pandemic. Barnet and Brent accepted the recommendations 
of the review in full and continue to act, both locally and nationally, to take forward the recommendations. Critical 

CHILD L: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: 
BRUISING PROTOCOLS: The review identified the problem of needing to be clearer upon bruising protocols in 

order to provide frontline health and other professionals with a knowledge base and action strategy for the 

assessment, management and referral of pre- mobile infants and non-mobile children and young people who 

present with bruising or unexplained injury. The protocols can be found here . Police Partners report that as a 

result the Bruising Protocol had been disseminated to officers and have evidenced during an interaction 

with a lady in the street officers were dissatisfied with an explanation of how a toddler she was caring for 

had sustained the bruises they witnessed. Applying the Bruising Protocols, she was arrested, and the child 

was safeguarded.  

 

- INFORMATION SHARING PROTOCOLS: New information  sharing tools have been developed such as a GP data 
sharing and information sharing form  which is a standardised form expected to be used by all Barnet GPs. This 
development is a direct result of learning taken from the Child L CSPR and was seen as a problem. The 
template has been circulated to all GP practices and an all-Barnet GP session has been held to raise awareness 
and provide guidance on info sharing. Case studies of the change in practice have been provided by the GP 
network and include: A family subject to an ongoing Child Protection plan saw the multi-agency review 
group require some more information. The GP data sharing form helped identify missed appointments with 
a GP - which helped the chair to formulate a more detailed picture of the family. 
 
-For a family receiving support through a child in need plan the data sharing form helped the GP to recall if 
there were ongoing mental health issues in the family – the mother had just been diagnosed with severe 
schizophrenia and this information promptly informed the child in need plan from the outset.  
 

 
 

 
 

30

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/barnet_cspr_child_l_final_5.docx
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/barnet_cspr_child_l_final_5.docx
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/professionals/bruising-in-mobile-and-non-mobile-children-a-protocol-strategy-and-pathway
file:///C:/Users/tony.lewis/Downloads/child%20protection%20data%20sharing%20form%20(2).pdf
file:///C:/Users/tony.lewis/Downloads/child%20protection%20data%20sharing%20form%20(2).pdf


 

12  

learning themes within this review featured: working across boroughs when care leavers are parents and live with 
their children, implementing joint supervision with agencies and developing an offer of provisions and support at the 
Early Years Parenting Hub for Care Leavers. Further learning centered upon developing Partnership understanding of 
Supervision Orders. 

 
 

CHILD L: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT (CONTINUED): 
For Partners at the RFLNHSFT there have been significant improvements to the electronic patient record (EPR) 
to ensure staff recognise, respond and refer effectively where safeguarding concerns are identified. This is a 
direct learning and action point from this CSPR. The Child Protection Information System (CP-IS) is now fully 
embedded into EPR for children attending unscheduled care in the emergency department and urgent 
treatment centre. This ensures frontline staff are aware of children and young people who are on a child 
protection or looked after plan or have been in the last 12 months. CP-IS also alerts staff when mothers attend 
whose unborn baby is subject to a child protection plan. 
 
Within this CSPR, key learning focused upon how as a Partnership we respond to situations where children do 
not attend critical health appointments – often seen in national reviews as key practice episodes that can lead 
to harm for children. As a result, in line with guidance from the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 
an audit was completed regarding the use of the did not wait (DNW) RAG rating in the emergency department, 
used by Emergency Department staff when children and young people are removed from the department 
before being seen or before they have had treatment. This showed how cases are identified where further 
follow up is needed by either clinicians or the safeguarding team. Evidence of transfer of learning into 
practice is outlined in the case study below:  
 
A child under 2 and their mother did not wait to be seen following a head injury and there was no information 
about how the child had sustained the injury. The safeguarding team were made aware using the RAG rating 
proforma and were able to follow up with the mother, getting a history of how the child, who was walking, 
slipped and bumped their head. They did not wait as mum had become less worried after speaking to a family 
friend who was a GP and the child had remained very well. This information was then shared with their health 
visitor. 
 
Further strengthening of cross Partnership information sharing protocols, as a result of learning from this 
review, centered upon the Partnership revising and updating its  unborn protocol which sets out guidance and 
locally agreed procedures to practitioners working with pregnant women in early help, health agencies and 
Children’s Social Care settings. This is with the purpose of ensuring every unborn baby in need of support and 
protection is safeguarded through multi-agency assessment, planning and decision making as early in the 
pregnancy as possible. This is a critical stage in safeguarding vulnerable unborn children and the protocols 
have been disseminated extensively through BSCP webinar dissemination on this review.  
 
CHILD L CONTINUED: SUPPORTING CARE LEAVERS NEEDS: Critical learning from the Child L CSPR featured on 
how to better improve housing needs of Care Leavers. This revised approach supported the pan-London 
Safeguarding Children procedures to be updated with more accurate guidance and can be found here (Ref: 
Sc 1.8 and 5.8 ) . Furthermore, the Partnership committed to developing a revised joint protocol for 16- & 17-
year-olds and this was published in March 2023 upon our website here . A specific care leaver housing panel, 
which is co-produced between leaving care and Barnet Homes has been developed with the first panel 
taking place in May 23.  
 

The enhanced offer for Care Leavers has been embedded within the Parenting Hub. This is a Family Services 
single agency service which links with Early Help and Childrens Social Care - providing highly specialised 
mentalisation based parenting programmes for parents with complex trauma needs. It supports pre-
proceedings assessments as well as targeted support. It is now managed under Barnet Integrated Clinical 
Services (BICS). More on the Parenting Hub is detailed on within the Family Networks section of this report.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

31

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/unborn_protocol_october_2022_.docx
https://www.londonsafeguardingchildrenprocedures.co.uk/chi_fam_bound.html?zoom_highlight=housing
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/professionals/joint-protocol-for-youth-homelessness


 

13  

 
Child Safeguarding Practice Review – Child A: Over Spring 2023 the Partnership concluded a local CSPR 

following the death of a child and his mother in Summer 2022. This CSPR identified some critical learning themes 
upon:  suicide and filicide, information sharing across public and private sector health agencies and intersectionality 
when working with families using a ‘Think Family’ approach.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CHILD A CSPR: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: 
INFORMATION SHARING ACROSS PRIVATE AND PUBLIC HEALTH AGENCIES: The review panel engaged a 

provider of private mental health care who was the provider of services for a family member within this 

case – this was a lengthy and extensive process, but one seen as vital to ensuring the review held key 

stakeholders to account. Information sharing, or lack of, between public and private health bodies has been 

viewed for some time as a key area in need of strengthening in order to secure improved outcomes for 

children and families – particularly at a time when more people turn to private health care provision.  The 

private provider engaged extensively with the review and we are pleased to evidence that significant 

improvements have been made by them in respect of their safeguarding responses including: a review of 

their use of language interpretation services; intersectionality training for clinicians has been provided,  a 

new Head of Safeguarding has been recruited and there has been extensive learning dissemination across 

their service.  

 

At the time of writing the Partnership is working with NHS England to provide a platform to engage senior 
health care leaders and policy makers in order to flag the importance of laying clear protocols for private 
health care providers within safeguarding and information sharing. We hope this work will continue into 
2024 to provide long lasting change for those involved within this review. In order to protect the welfare of 
the family this CSPR was not published publicly, but learning has been shared with the national Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and some key practice developments and impact is outlined below.  
 

Within our own Partnership, the dissemination of learning from this case has been extensive. This includes 

Partners at North London Mental Health Partnership (NLMHP) undertaking a Board Level Panel investigation 

from which the findings and outcomes have been shared with Partnership. Many of the areas which have been 

strengthened center upon processes and information sharing. Local community representation was secured on 

the review panel to ensure that issues of intersectionality, cultural competence in practice and how to address 

stigmatising issues such as mental health with minority ethnic communities were considered and how we can 

as a Partnership strengthen responses in these areas.  

 

As a result of this learning activity, Partners at NLMHP now ensure that a consent form is given to service 

users during initial contact to gain immediate consent to share information with GPs. Reminders, 

encouragement and challenge is provided to practitioners during supervision to communicate with GPs and 

to be child focused. Across our GP network specific information sharing/seeking sessions for GPs have been 

held, led by safeguarding leads. GPs ask patients whether they are using private health care and if yes, 

consent is gained for them to communicate with private providers. Assessment forms have been changed; 

they now include a question asking for consent to contact other providers.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

32



 

14  

 

 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review – Child KL and Rapid Review for Child GA & RA:  In Spring 

2023 the Partnership came together to review two separate safeguarding incidents involving young infants. All 
children are now safe and well and looked after by the local authority. One Rapid Review for Child KL has now been 
taken forward as a local CSPR to be published early 2024.  Primary learning themes centered upon application of 
thresholds for children receiving services and information sharing across GP and health networks when children do 
not attend GP appointments:  

INFORMATION SHARING CONTINUED: NLMHP is the 2nd mental health organisation that the Child Protection-
Information Sharing (CP-IS) digital system is being piloted and is currently live.  The Trust has completed 4 
training sessions with 3 planned sessions remaining, this is with an aim to ensure that CAMHS front line 
clinicians are aware of the children on child protection plans through the CP IS system and are able to 
implement appropriate actions to safeguard them, accordingly, ensuring collaborative and effective working 
relationship with social care. NLMHP recently appointed a Practice Development Nurse / Clinical Nurse 
Specialist for the Day Service within the Beacon Centre based at Edgware Hospital. It is a service that will 
operate between the hours of 9-5pm, Monday to Friday. The service will operate as a step-down centre for 
inpatients, and a step-up centre for patients in the community, crisis teams and emergency departments. The 
plan is to connect with all the CAMHS services to encourage referrals to the service and reduce inpatient 
admissions. 
 
ADOPTING A THINK FAMILY APPROACH: Over 80 partners attended a series of webinars disseminating the 
learning from this CSPR. At the heart of the dissemination was the concept of promoting a ‘Think Family’ 
approach within safeguarding. Essentially, this is about making sure that practitioner’s identify wider family 
needs which extend beyond the individual child or young person they are supporting. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 
CHILD KL CSPR AND CHILD GA & RA RAPID REVIEW: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND 
ITS IMPACT:  APPLICATION OF THRESHOLDS: Key learning centered upon children who were in Universal 
health settings and should have been receiving support at a higher level of intervention either through a 
coordinated Early Help response, or more targeted statutory child protection level. The Partnership has since 
adopted a new pan-London Continuum of Help and Support Threshold Document . This new continuum 
provides a framework for practitioners who are working with children and families in Barnet and aims to help 
identify when a child may need additional levels of support to achieve their full potential. It provides 
information on the levels of need and gives examples of some of the indicators that a child may need 
additional support. The London Safeguarding Children Partnership's Editorial Board will review the Continuum 
of Help & Support Quarterly and we will update the local version accordingly. To embed the new Continuum 
across the Partnership a concerted and extensive awareness raising series of webinars and learning 
dissemination commenced  securing over 350 Partners engaging. Across the partnership key Partners have 
audited cases, spent time speaking to practitioners about the new Continuum and delivered extensive training.  
For our Partners in education dedicated sessions have been established for safeguarding leads in schools and 
support is provided by the MASH team for schools who make above average referrals in order to ensure that 
the right outcomes are achieved sooner for children and families. Across all areas of the Partnership work to 
promote and embed the new Continuum of Hep & Support is taking place. Level 3 safeguarding by the 
RFLNHSFT includes the oversight of the Continuum of Help & Support and when to make a referral to the 
MASH. This work has extended to our Housing partners too who have been included in this review and we are 
pleased that the sharing of learning with our Housing partners has developed this year. MASH continues to 
develop partner interface and contribute to service developments through local forums and training such as 
the Head Teachers forum, GP forum, Prevent, MAPPA, MARAC, wider forums such as London Councils MASH 
partnership. Training on thresholds has been provided to Health colleagues including Midwives and 
pediatricians. In March, an Early Help Social Worker was appointed to join the MASH and lead work with 
partner agencies, particularly those where high volumes of contacts lead to no further action/signposting. The 
Social Worker will ensure agencies are clear on the support available for children and families so they can be 
directly referred for help rather than sent to MASH. 
 
 
 
 
 

33

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/barnet_continuum_of_help__support_2023_______3.docx
https://vimeo.com/861148723?share=copy
https://vimeo.com/861148723?share=copy


 

15  

  

CHILD KL CSPR AND CHILD GA & RA RAPID REVIEW: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND 
ITS IMPACT: APPLICATION OF THRESHOLDS (CONTINUED): To further test whether children and families were 
receiving the right levels of support our 0-19 Health Child Programme provider, Solutions 4 Health, undertook 
and extensive audit of 600+ cases.   The audit was designed to assess whether cases were correctly sitting in 
the universal caseload and if needs had been appropriately identified and regularly reviewed. 
During June and July 2023, a 99% confidence audit was carried out.  Members of the safeguarding team, the 
virtual ward and team managers reviewed 651 Universal records, looking at key Healthy Child Programme 
assessment points to understand whether they had been seen and whether a full assessment had been carried 
out and risks identified and whether appropriate follow ups had been in place to support families. If it was 
identified that a family had an unmet health needs an appointment for a reassessment was made at the time. 
Positive findings included:  Contacts are being done in a timely way (83% of new births within 14 days, with 
98% being done by a HV)); 98% of 6–8-week reviews by 8 weeks, 98% of 9-12 month reviews by a year and 
100% of 2-year reviews by 30 months). 20% of families required follow-up from the audit, and this was done at 
the time – the majority were due to no face-to-face contact because of the pandemic. This is being offered 
where appropriate.80% in the universal caseload had no red flags identified. Those that did, were largely due 
to the child not having a face to face as above. Anecdotally, there were many cases of good practice identified 
during the audit, but one in particular was of a mum who had suffered a previous still birth and was given a lot 
of follow up and support from the Health Visitor after the birth of her next child.  Going forward, regular dip 
sampling of the Universal caseload will occur to ensure children & families are assigned to the correct level 
of need using the LCON. This is also checked during safeguarding supervision. 
 
In terms of the impact all of this work is making upon the local system, more time is needed to monitor this. 
Our Annual Report last year highlighted an extended period of upward trend in numbers of contacts into 
MASH and data is now showing positive signs of a stabilising system, as relayed within the Introduction 
section of this Annual Report. However, the contact rate remains around 15% higher than it was pre-
pandemic.  Pan London data shows that Barnet had the second highest level of contacts to MASH in the North 
London region and showed the highest percentage change (+15%) from Q2 2022/23. Barnet was ranked 5th 
highest for rate of contacts across all London Boroughs in the same reporting period. It us hugely important 
therefore when applying the Continuum of Help & Support that children and families are receiving the right 
support, by the right service, at the right time.  
 
There are notable increases in contacts to the MASH from education and health agencies, the higher rate of 
contacts is not leading to a higher rate of referrals to Children’s Social Care which suggests that there is not 
an increase in safeguarding risk. Data has been shared with education and health safeguarding leads and will 
be further interrogated to better understand what is driving the increase in referrals to MASH.  Data continues 
to be provided to Senior Managers showing the top ten referrers, schools, and health agencies which have 
resulted in Signposting to MASH to enable continuous tracking and scrutiny. In education this is being led by 
the Designated Safeguarding Lead.  
 
We are developing systematic reporting of step up and step down between Early Help and Children’s Social 
Care statutory services. Data shows that over the last year over 95% of step ups from Early Help to Children’s 
Social Care are stepped up for additional support on Child in Need plans and not because of an escalation to 
Child Protection Plan, showing that families are being effectively supported and parents are building resilience 
in their families. The learning from this review stresses the need to continue developing the role of the Lead 
Professional. When we identify that a family needs support from more than one agency we will start a Team 
Around the Family (TAF) process. This is where all the people who care about or are working with a child form 
a team that works together to help support them. One professional will take the lead and ensure that services 
are coordinated and working effectively towards the change that is needed for the child and family. The lead 
professional can be any professional working with the family and who is part of the Team Around the Family, 
they will act as a single point of contact for the child and their family throughout the period of assessment and 
support. They will work closely with the child and family to ensure everyone is clear on how, when and where 
support will be provided. 
 
 
  

 34



 

16  

 
Child SS CSPR: The Partnership has commenced a local CSPR following an incident of serious youth violence 

within the borough. The young person sustained life changing injuries and is in recovery with the full support of key 
Partnership services. Primary learning themes have been identified at the early stage of this review of: working 
together to safeguard children who are victims of exploitation, supporting vulnerable families moving from private 
housing into Local Authority housing, adultification, adopting a Think Family approach and intersectionality and 
cultural competence in practice with children and families are all to be explored by the Partnership and how to 
strengthen our local system will be considered. Some key practice improvements have already been put in place 
outlined below and we hope to publish the full CSPR early 2024:  

CHILD KL CSPR AND CHILD GA & RA RAPID REVIEW: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND 
ITS IMPACT (CONTINUED) Information sharing when children do not attend GP appointments: In both cases 
upon review health partners identified that more could have been done to support the families when the 
children did not attend GP appointments. In particular, when newborn infants are not registered at GP 
practice this should flag concerns. As a consequence, the following strengthening has taken place as a result:  
 

• The GP practice will re-integrate Health Visitor notification emails back into their process for non-

attendance. Specifically, where a baby is not registered or brought to the postnatal and baby check 

by 10 weeks of age, the practice will contact the 0-19 team to ask if they have seen mother and 

baby, if there are clinical or developmental concerns and any safeguarding or risk factors.  

• The GP practice and Named GP recommend that attendance of Health Visitors at regular practice 

meetings would offer a planned forum for information sharing and exchange. This will help identify 

and mitigate children and families at risk.  

• If there is no reply or outcome from the above, of if there are other outstanding concerns, the 

Named GP for Safeguarding Children can be contacted for advice and assisting interfacing between 

agencies.  

• The practice will add patients who are living out of area and have been asked to register with a 

practice local to them to their “grey list” in order they may proactively track their registration status.  

• The practice will aim to make antenatal referrals via face-to-face review and assessment wherever 

possible instead of patients self-referring to services.  

The Partnership continues to receive updates from health Partners upon how this strengthening of the system 
is improving the level of provision children and families receive. We expect to publish the full local CSPR in 
early 2024.  
 
 
 
 
 

CHILD SS CSPR: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: EARLY-STAGE FINDINGS 
AND ACTIONS: Intersectionality: Children from Black, racially minoritised, or other marginalised backgrounds 
are disadvantaged by the historical, structural, and systemic racism that exists in society, hindering their 
progress. Across BSCP we are committed to anti-racist and anti-discriminatory practice.  This review at this 
early stage has identified that more could have been done by multi agency partners to consider how cultural, 
religion, social biases and equality and equity of service were considered in practice.  All areas of the 
Partnership have been asked to reflect on this. For children’s social care, The Practice Standards 2023 – 2027 
sets out a framework which has been developed for practice leaders, managers, and practitioners so we have a 
shared understanding of the resilience-based approach the Partnership holds and how we use a strengths-
based approach in supporting children and families, in which recognition of religion, cultural heritage and 
ethnicity is held in mind through all stages of intervention.   
 
Across our multi agency workforce development programme training focusing on mentalisation-based 
techniques, trauma-informed approaches, Social GRACES, confident conversations in race and 
communication with children with disabilities has been promoted with strong attendance from staff. These 
efforts aim to enhance practitioners’ skills in building trusted relationships with children and young people 
from all backgrounds, promoting their well-being.  
 
 
 

35



 

17  

 

Child AS Learning Review: Relevant Partners came together to conduct a thorough learning review in respect 

of safeguarding a child with a disability.   The child is currently safeguarded and achieving good outcomes. The 
Partnership felt that although the threshold for a serious incident had not been met, there was an opportunity to 
identify whether any learning could be taken from this incident in order to strengthen the local system. Practice 
themes of: timely and effective child protection medicals, appropriate escalation when there is difference of opinion, 
cultural competency in practice and information sharing involving children with complex needs have all be 
considered and actions taken, this is summarised below:  
 

CHILD SS CSPR: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: 
For Police partners use of the THRIVE+ model supports Officer’s understanding of intersectionality in practice 
and how they may relate to specific vulnerabilities of victims. For health Partners, NCL ICB ensure that 
supervision with staff, recording of information, audits and service away days all consider intersectionality and 
continual learning for practice/clinical work.  
 
Further learning at this early stage of the review, centers upon how health assessments for looked after 
children, who come into care through a Section 20 parental agreement, are delivered. Immediate work and 
strengthening of this process between health and children’s social care Partners includes:  

• Health Partners have developed a joint Initial Health Assessment (IHA) process map, which has been 
agreed with Partners.  

• Current exploration underway to develop a health consent form for social workers to use when 
gaining section 20 consent from parents 

• CSC have agreed to have a Looked After Child (LAC) lead administrative worker to support 
coordination of LAC health documentation for IHAs. This person will liaise weekly with the health 
LAC coordinator to ensure good information sharing. 

• Future joint LAC CSC and health meetings quarterly to support joint challenges and good practice 
with the first in September 2023.  

• Health assessment leaflet developed by LAC health team, shared with CSC to support social workers 
when discussing health assessments with children, carers and parents.  

• Independent Reviewing Officers are to escalate LAC who have not had their IHA at the first review to 
Head of Service in CSC. 

Child SS was frequently missing, and this report outlines at the start the recent Police review into how the Met 
responds to missing children, and that the response needs to be stronger. Separately, but at the same time , 
what should further strengthen this area of practice is the Strategic Needs Assessment which has been 
completed under the Serious Violence Duty and which will formulate a Serious Violence Strategy for the multi-
agency Safer Communities Partnership , due to be published in January 2024. In addition, the Tackling Violence 
and Exploitation Strategy that we have been consulting on over the summer with children and parents, key 
stakeholders and local VCS providers will provide a refreshed strategy and approach and will be launched in 
March 2024 after a period of co-production.  

 

36

https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/members-area/member-briefings/crime-and-public-protection/what-serious-violence-duty-and-when-it


 

18  

 
 

Wider multi agency audits, learning activity and national reviews:  

Data: The PQA subgroup have ensured that stubborn and ‘knotty’ issues within the local system have had the 

appropriate levels of scrutiny in order to overcome them. Our comprehensive multi-agency data dashboard provides 

the platform for this.  A good example of how data can be used to provide scrutiny can be seen by the Partnership 

Child AS LEARNING REVIEW: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: 
Timely and effective child protection medicals: A key practice theme in this review identified that a child 
protection medical examination (CPME) undertaken could have been conducted in a more effective manner 
and that it should have involved Police Partners. Our lead Health safeguarding Partners and colleagues in 
Police have subsequently established a new telephone hotline to operate between 8am – 8pm to Police 
Child Abuse Investigation Team officers and Health colleagues working in clinical Paediatrics settings in 
hospital.  As a result of this work the Barnet Designated Doctor reported an increase in referral numbers 
for Child Protection Medical Examinations (greater than the total sum 2 years ago). Not all referrals have 
been for bruising, some have been for neglect – these were appropriate and timely referrals, and the view by 
clinicians held is that this new approach is ensuring CPMEs are conducted more thoroughly and in a timelier 
fashion. 
 

Appropriate escalation: A critical practice episode identified that those involved in supporting the child and 
family did not hold the confidence nor knowledge as to how to escalate concerns upon decision making. 
Professional discourse and disagreement are part and parcel of a healthy safeguarding system and   can lead 
to crucial cross agency challenge. As a consequence, the Partnership has come together and updated and 
revised its Escalation & Resolution Policy. The RFLNHSFT have since this review delivered training to over 
30 health care professionals, outlining and promoting the new Escalation & Resolution policy securing 
positive feedback and a renewed confidence in providing important cross Partnership challenge and 
scrutiny in decision making. Further dissemination of the revised policy has been included in webinars 
delivered upon the Continuum of Help & Support, as discussed earlier in this report.  
 

Cultural competency in practice: Ensuring that individuals and systems work or respond effectively across 
cultures, in a way that acknowledges and respects the culture of the person or organization being served, 
underpins what we mean by cultural competency. A critical learning theme within this review centered upon 
this. For Partners at Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH), who provide specialist  
school nursing support,  this has led them to ensure that when system files are opened a template 
reminder appears informing staff of the need to record ethnicity and cultural representation so as to 
ensure it is a core focus of the individual receiving the interventions. The Partnership has produced a 
cultural competency in practice toolkit, and revised and refreshed it to include physical chastisement and is 
available for the whole Partnership to inform practice: BSCP cultural competency practice statement and 
tools designed and published on BSCP website: 
 
Information sharing for children with complex needs: Opportunities for reflection and discussion for 
children with complex needs was identified as a practice theme within this review. Since then, the school 
involved in providing education for the child has established multi-disciplinary forums that facilitate 
reflection and discission about the psycho-social needs of all children with complex needs. Partners at CLCH 
are invited to be part of this multi display approach. Further support threads have been established to 
facilitate more effective information sharing by way of the school sharing bests practice across the SEND 
Headteacher Forum, supported by Partners at BELS. Colleagues at RFLNHSFT have further embedded peer to 
peer safeguarding supervision from Autumn 23, providing a space for colleagues to provide scrutiny and 
challenge to one another.  
 
Duty of care – protecting staff from online smear campaigns: As a consequence of this learning review the 
Partnership has committed to issuing a statement outlining a zero tolerance towards abuse of staff from 
members of the public. At the time of preparing this Report this statement is being finalised. 
 

37

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/about-the-bscp/resolution-policy
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/news/bscps-cultural-competency-practice-statement
https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/news/bscps-cultural-competency-practice-statement


 

19  

exploring the areas below:  

• Our BSCP multi agency data dashboard now reports on A&E presentation of young people with mental 
health and self-harming incidents. This has led to colleagues in Public Health begin a process of scrutinising 
comparative data across similarly populated boroughs so that service provision can be better informed 
across the Partnership.  
 

• Tracking disproportionality within school exclusions: The PQA has provided additional scrutiny and 
challenge upon the issue of disproportionality within schools exclusions provided by data. The PQA sub 
group has learnt that the lead reason for permanent exclusion has shifted and returned to ‘persistent 
disruptive behaviour’ despite this category remaining low for many years now. Followed closely by the 
second most common lead reason for permanent exclusion being ‘physical assault on a pupil.’ There has 
been a significant percentage decrease in the number of black pupils being permanently excluded in 2019-
2021. However, these statistics are masking a disproportionality between the exclusion of black pupils 
compared to the exclusion of white pupils. Black pupils living in Barnet are 2.12 times more likely to have a 
fixed term exclusion than White pupils. In North London only Haringey has a higher comparative rate than 
Barnet. 

 
The work to tackle disproportionality of black boys exclusion across education arose from a review led by 
Youth Justice Services in north London which in turn resulted in the establishment of the BELS Preventing 
Exclusions of Black Boys group. This is regularly reported to the Youth Justice Management Board; tackling 
disproportionality is a strategic priority for the multi-agency Youth Justice partnership and is a priority in our 
Vulnerable Adolescents Strategy. We know that school exclusion is a key risk factor in children developing 
poorer outcomes and can increase their vulnerability. 38 pupils who live in the London Borough of Barnet 
were permanently excluded between September 2022 and July 2023 and 33 were referred to the Pavilion 
Study Centre (PRU) to further their education before returning to mainstream school. Any pupil who does 
not live in Barnet but who has been permanently excluded from a Barnet school will have been referred to 
their home borough for support back to education. From the 38 pupils permanently excluded 26 pupils were 
male and 7 pupils were female. There is a shift in permanent exclusions of girls since 2019 and to date there 
remains a clear gender imbalance regarding permanent exclusion with twice as many boys being excluded 
than girls compared to previous years which showed there was a growing concern that White British girls 
were being permanently excluded in Barnet at a greater rate. There is a clear gender disparity between the 
ethnicity of permanently excluded pupils with 5/7 girls being WBRI (White British) in comparison to 4/26 
boys. The highest ethnic group of permanent exclusions of boys is MOTH (Any Other Mixed Background) 
with 9/26 boys. The number of secondary permanent exclusions in 2022/23 was 32. This compares to 23 in 
2021/22, a rise of 9 permanent exclusions. Permanent exclusions in Barnet predominately occur in the 
secondary phase, in line with national data.   
 
In addition to the aforementioned reporting to the Youth Justice Management board, the Partnership holds 
a strong working partnership with schools and services, supporting multi-agency working when a child is at 
risk of exclusion. Schools identify the need for an at-risk notification to the education welfare team to 
support schools with pupils who are awaiting an EHC outcome. The Partnership has developed a strong 
Inclusive Advisory Team (IAT) and Autism Primary provision that work closely with schools and the Meadway 
Primary Nurture Hub. The Pavilion Study Centre provides respite packages of intervention and assessment 
for pupils at risk of exclusion and an outreach programme to schools commissioning mentors. The RON 
Mentee Programme has extended its offer of specialist support for students at risk of exclusion in Years 7-11 
to prevent permanent exclusion of secondary pupils working with students engaging in an offsite direction 
or respite provision. As a consequence of this the Schools and Settings Standards Partnership Board (SSSPB) 
is in place as part of the wider governance structure for the partnership between the council, Barnet 
Education and Learning Service (BELS) and schools as overseen by the Children’s and Young People’s 
Partnership Board. It acts as a forum to keep under review those aspects of the Barnet education strategy 
that relate to: Equalities and appropriateness of the curriculum,  pupil attendance, pupil exclusions , 
disproportionality between ethnic groups, the authority’s monitoring, challenge and support of maintained 
schools and EY settings regarding equalities, exclusion and attendance and other relevant statutory 
functions. Partners at BELS continue to tackle disproportionality through the Preventing Exclusion of Black 
Boys Project  

38

https://www.bels.org.uk/equality-diversity-inclusion
https://www.bels.org.uk/equality-diversity-inclusion


 

20  

 

• The PQA sub group has tracked numbers of registered Private Fostering arrangements. As part of our 
ongoing awareness raising campaign, and following the Covid-19 pandemic, the Partnership has restarted its 
promotion activities regarding private fostering. This has included updating the website, to ensure that 
communications about private fostering are audience focused, current and accessible and developing a 
database of partner agencies, where these updated materials will be disseminated across the borough. The 
Private Fostering Lead and Team Manager have worked alongside the Partnership to present a webinar to 
partners, including health, school, education, and the police. BELS partners have presented information and 
circulated posters and leaflets to both Primary and Secondary Headteachers at their termly forums. The 
Private Fostering Annual Report and regular updates are presented at Partnership meetings to ensure 
awareness at senior level across the partnership. Communications have been disseminated throughout 
Children’s Services to ensure that practitioners understand where and how to refer private fostering cases. 
There is also a duty phone line and a recently created private fostering email, for practitioners, other 
professionals, and members of the public to access should they wish to discuss anything related to private 
fostering with the Social Work Lead. Bespoke inhouse training has been provided to the Carer Support Team 
to ensure that private fostering practice is current and incorporates learning from historic SCR’s. Advice and 
support has been provided to the MASH, which supports the Private Fostering Lead to complete all the 
necessary checks and visits within the statutory timeframes. MASH and the Carer Support Team have forged 
close relationships and have regular liaison about cases that could fall within the Private Fostering 
Regulations. This relationship has been crucial in determining if there is a private fostering element to cases 
coming through the front door. 

 

Child Death Overview Panel: This year has continued the strengthened alignment between BSCP and the formal 
Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) processes, owned by NCL ICB. Any child death is tragic, and any learning 
identified by  CDOP is important to share across the wider BSCP to reduce the risk of child death.  In 2022-23, NCL 
CDOP received 95 notifications of child deaths through the eCDOP system. Of these cases, 25 were for Barnet 
children. Of the notifications received for Barnet, 10 were for unexpected deaths. Working Together 2018 defines an 
unexpected death when the death of a child was not anticipated as a significant possibility 24 hours before the 
death. The Child Death process requires the CDR partners to convene a multi-agency Joint Agency Response meeting 
for each unexpected death. A Joint Agency Response (JAR) meeting is convened for all unexpected deaths, ideally 
within 72 hours There were 9 JAR meetings in Barnet in 2022/23.  

• Immediate safeguarding steps were taken where appropriate in relation to siblings and family support.  

• Immediate learning highlights the ongoing need to raise awareness on safer sleeping.  

• Two of the child deaths are also being reviewed under the NHS Serious Incident Framework. 

• There was a significant delay in notification for 1 child who would have met the criteria for a JAR. The family 

were living abroad at the time of the death. The reason for notification for each JAR is outlined below: 

 
 
Further data analysis is provided below highlighting a breakdown of information of the 25 children in Barnet who 
were notified to the CDOP, with 52% of the children being male , and the most prevalent age range for the children 
is being in the 1st year of birth and later in early adolescence. At the time of writing BSCP LTRG  is considering the 
recommendations of a recent report by the National Child Mortality Database and the deaths of children due to 
traumatic incidents, and how the learning here can be absorbed into practice by the Partnership.  

6

2 1 1

SUDI Trauma or other external
event

Cardic Congential or Acquired Violent or maltreatment
related death

Barnet

39

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ncmd.info%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F07%2FNCMD-Trauma-Thematic-Report.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Ctony.lewis%40barnet.gov.uk%7C5c4fb0e74a834fbc97d608db86c1ec96%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638251939679199166%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=JKIvxZNJahN6PeWyjJ%2FqbCNR0qQwODMksOb%2BgI5EfjQ%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ncmd.info%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F07%2FNCMD-Trauma-Thematic-Report.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Ctony.lewis%40barnet.gov.uk%7C5c4fb0e74a834fbc97d608db86c1ec96%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638251939679199166%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=JKIvxZNJahN6PeWyjJ%2FqbCNR0qQwODMksOb%2BgI5EfjQ%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ncmd.info%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F07%2FNCMD-Trauma-Thematic-Report.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Ctony.lewis%40barnet.gov.uk%7C5c4fb0e74a834fbc97d608db86c1ec96%7C1ba468b914144675be4f53c478ad47bb%7C0%7C0%7C638251939679199166%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=JKIvxZNJahN6PeWyjJ%2FqbCNR0qQwODMksOb%2BgI5EfjQ%3D&reserved=0


 

21  

           

 
 

Multi-agency workforce development: The multi-agency safeguarding training offer available to all of the Partnership 

remains robust and is continually adapting to meet the changing needs of local safeguarding issues. Feedback 

received from participants highlight satisfaction with the quality of course content and the delivery skills of trainers. 

Our Learning in Context approach offers a comprehensive and practical learning experience for our workforce. It is 

designed to be accessible, relatable, and applicable, with a focus on timely and targeted learning opportunities. The 

Partnership provides a combination of training through e-learning, workshops, and face to face learning activity.   

 

 
The Partnership has maintained the number of learning events this year in line with our commitment to continuous 

learning and improvement. However, attendance figures have decreased due to demands on time and recruitment 

and retention challenges right across the Partnership. Moving forward, we recognise the need to strike a balance 

12

13

Gender

Female Male

0

5

10

0-27
days

28-364
days

1-4 yrs 5-9 yrs 10-14
yrs

15-17
yrs

Age range 

7
3

1
2
2
2

1
1

2
2
2

White - British

Asian or Asian British-Bangladeshi

Asian or Asian British-Pakistani

Black or Black Britsh-Caribbean

Other ethnic group-Any other Ethnic Group

Other ethnic group -Chinese

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Ethnicity

40

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/professionals/multi-agency-workforce-development-safeguarding-training-open-to-all


 

22  

between an agile and responsive learning offer. Close collaboration with partners and targeted promotion of courses 

will be key in increasing multi-agency course uptake. 

 

 

A core element of the multi-agency programme continues to prioritise assessment, intervention, and planning within 
the social care context. We maintain an emphasis on promoting child-centered and strengths-based approaches, co-
production and equality, diversity, and inclusion, ensuring these principles are embedded throughout our training. 
The well-attended courses are Social Graces, Critical Analysis, and Signs of Safety. There has been an increase in 
targeted training developed to address evolving service needs, such as Adultification. Overall, we have seen an 
increase in attendance for all staff and the attendance for BICS, foster carers, and early help practitioners has 
remained consistent. Multi-agency training attendance has fallen this year, although feedback from the partnership 
about training opportunities is consistently positive. The decrease in attendance will be explored with partners to 
ensure barriers contributing to uptake of courses are understood.  

To address inequalities, disparities, and racism, we have integrated cultural competence into our training offer and 

diversified our training providers. The honorarium fund and leadership development programmes available within 

Family Services have provided valued opportunities for our staff from diverse backgrounds and with protected 

characteristics. We will continue to prioritise diversity, inclusivity, and support career advancement within Family 

Services through tailored learning activities and ongoing dialogue on structural inequalities. 

 
For critical Partners in Health the NCL ICB have this year delivered extensive training to our GP network on a range of 
topics. Feedback has been very positive from these sessions and the value to practice a clear theme throughout. 
Attendance numbers and feedback positively reflects the commitment of GPs in Barnet to ongoing learning.   
 
Topics included:  
 

❖ Adverse Childhood Experiences’s and effect on future wellbeing (39 attendees  ) 

❖ Beliefs linked to witchcraft and spirit possession (25 attendees ) 

❖ Learning from reviews -Human stories on self-neglect and impact (33 attendees  ) 

❖ Information sharing and lessons learned from local reviews( 47 attendees) 

❖ Responding to and supporting patients with sexual violence disclosure  

❖ Managing allegations against professionals (52 attendees ) 

❖ Level 3 safeguarding training delivered to GP Safeguarding leads and GP trainees. This is a rolling 

programme.  

41



 

23  

❖ Presentation on learning from Child L CSPR (outlined earlier in this report) - delivered to Barnet Federation 

of GP’s (100 plus attendees) 

❖ Learning from reviews session jointly with BSCP Business manager to 0-19 service with service specific 

learning. (90 attendees) 

❖ Development of NCL Safeguarding assurance matrix which incorporates the key components of the SAAF.  

❖ Designated Nurse support 0-19 service to roll out the ICON infant crying programme (see next section of 

this report).  

In addition to the programme above, BSCP has delivered as a Partnership a series of well attended learning webinars 

on a multitude of themes mentioned earlier in this report. The BSCP Learning Repository continues to expand with 

the following delivered to a total of over 450 Partners over the past year:  

• Publishing Barnet's new Continuum of Help & Support: Over Summer 2023 BSCP delivered webinars 
designed to raise awareness of the updated Continuum of Help & Support . A webinar can be found below 
which will help develop your understanding of the levels of need children and families experience and the 
help & support they can expect to receive: https://vimeo.com/861148723?share=copy 

• Bruising protocols in mobile and non-mobile children (April 2023): https://youtu.be/HUlxdaomxp4 

• BSCP webinar outlining Private Fostering arrangements and raising awareness of Special Guardianship and 
wider kinship care February 2023 

• BSCP webinar upon briefing paper published by national safeguarding panel upon domestic abuse and the 
prevalence of this affecting children, particularly under the age of 1: https://youtu.be/G675qCqlVKY 

Multi agency learning & improvement: A range of quality assurance activities and measures, alongside 

performance data, are used to routinely evaluate the quality of early help, social work and multi-agency 
safeguarding practices. This seeks to ensure that the service we offer to children and families is of a consistently high 
standard. The Safeguarding, Quality Assurance and Workforce Development Service based within Family Services 
delivers rigorous oversight, high support, and high challenge with a committed team of systemically trained Quality 
Assurance Officers (QAO), Conference and Reviewing Officers (CRO) and Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) led by 
a Service Manager and Principle Reviewing Officer.  
 
CROs and IROs provide independent oversight and quality assurance for each child subjected to a Child Protection 
Conference and Plan and Children in Care Reviews and All About Me Plan. They complete evaluation and monitoring 
forms after every conference and review. They undertake robust mid-way reviews to track the progress of plans and 
compliance with statutory requirements, on occasion they will escalate concerns to Team Managers to ensure 
practice is of high standards.  
Quality Assurance Officers (QAOs), CROs, and Team Managers (TMs) use an Appreciative Inquiry (AI) approach to 
undertake regular audits across Family Services. AI is a collaborative, strengths-based approach to change in 
organizations and other human systems. TM’s and CRO’s undertake one audit every 2 months as part of the whole 
service regular audit schedule. QAO’s routinely undertake audits, double-lock TM audits, and write 6-monthly 
narrative QA reports for each part of Family Services.  
 
Alongside, our regular case file audits thematic auditing activity is completed where we want to look at specific areas 
of practice, focus on certain cohorts or embed learning from national or local learning reviews. Over 2022/23 we 
have completed thematic audits on the Quality of s.47 investigations, 16/17 year old homelessness, FGM and 
Forced Marriage, Private Fostering, and children subject to Public Law Outline (PLO) processes. Practice Leaders, 
QAO Officers and Practice and Learning Managers lead multi-agency reflective forums to share findings and learning.  
 
In April 2023 Team Managers in Family Services co-developed a refreshed an audit tool to better capture the impact 
of practice on children and this was integrated into the system. We wanted our audit tool to help us better 
understand what works well in practice and reflect our refreshed practice framework which includes strengthening 
our processes for family feedback to be included.  

42

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/bscp/professionals/bscp-learning-repository#:~:text=Welcome%20to%20the%20BSCP%20Learning,inform%20your%20own%20safeguarding%20practice.
https://vimeo.com/861148723?share=copy
https://youtu.be/HUlxdaomxp4
https://youtu.be/G675qCqlVKY


 

24  

Throughout, 2022/23, 269 Family Services case audits were completed, some of which are measured against the 

new tool. Audits remain rigorous and comprehensive enabling quality assurance of practice across a range of 

domains including diversity, voice of the child, involvement of parents as well as the quality of assessment and 

planning for children. 

In the arena of Child & Family Early Help Service audits enable the service to focus on areas of practice that can be 

strengthened evidencing good outcomes for the children who use the range of services on offer. Audit data over the 

past 12 months shows that under the domains of diversity, parent/carer engagement and child’s voice, practice is 

usually good or outstanding; there is a specific focus on improving recording of direct work and reflecting how 

individuals’ unique diversity and identity informs our approach to supporting them. 

In June 2023 a practice development day for multi-agency practitioners was held. Multi-agency audits were 

undertaken with multi agency Partners from Health, CAMHS, BYCASS (Young Carers), Schools and Adult Social 

Care; the outcome of the audits demonstrated good multi-agency information sharing and a need to strengthen 

action planning. Using an Appreciative Inquiry approach, Service Managers and the Assistant Head of Service met 

with practitioners 1:1 to review their work with children and families.  The review evidenced good outcomes, 

direct work, and meaningful interventions with practitioners demonstrating a good understanding of the needs of 

children and families they are supporting at an early help stage. Audits demonstrated practitioners are tenacious for 

families and positively link them into wider programmes of delivery in the borough through strong relationships with 

Voluntary Community, Faith, Social Enterprise (VCFSE) providers.  

 
The 0-19 Healthy Child Programme is delivered alongside Children Centre settings, there have been some challenges 
in the delivery this year and our Early Years leads have been supporting S4H to embed into the settings and expand 
reach to vulnerable families i.e., Asylum Hotels. Between April – August 2023 footfall data showed that families with 
children under 5 accessed a Children’s Centre service 21,296 times and in the same period there was a 5% increase 
in children under 5 years on Child Protection Plans accessing Children's Centre services following a targeted effort by 
Children’s Centre leads to increase engagement.  During the summer there was a 60% (n=729>1217) increase in 
take-up of the Free Early Years Education for 2-year-olds (FEE2). The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) 2023 
is due to be published following a public survey in which families, early years providers and schools have been 
consulted. This will inform planning for the extension to the 30-hour offer for children aged 9 months – 5 years in 
2024. 4,535 children accessed the 3 & 4 year old 30-hour entitlement; 2,166 of which are using the full 30 hours. 
 
Multi agency audit upon neglect: Further to last year’s BSCP Annual Report, and neglect being a safeguarding 
priority, the Partnership came together in late November 2022 to undertake a multi agency audit which featured the 
review of 3 children’s experiences in receipt of multi agency provision, where neglect was a prominent concern. 

Working Together 2018 defines neglect as: ‘The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or 
psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or development.’ 

 We wanted to make sure that of the 3 cases audited by the safeguarding partnership, there was a strong 
identification of where the experiences were positive for children and families, and where multi agency responses 
could have been strengthened so that we can build this into future planning and delivery under our Learning & 
Improvement model. 

Within the multi agency audit, common practice themes were identified that it was felt that, going forward, the 
Partnership would hold in mind as risk factors that could exacerbate any neglect children experience. They were:   

• Children with Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND), 

• meeting the needs of young carers, 

• transfer of children in and out of services and local areas, 

• responses to domestic abuse, 

• identifying the impact of poverty upon children through an intersectional lens,  

• children who identify as transgender, 

• children receiving elective home education 

43

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942454/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_inter_agency_guidance.pdf


 

25  

•  cultural competency in practice. 

Responding to and tackling neglect was identified as an ongoing practice issue to be held in mind across areas of the 
Partnership and a learning review, found here  , has been published and disseminated in order to help practitioners 
consider this pervasive issue in the lives of children and young people.  

National Reviews: This year the primary national review considered by the Partnership has been the Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel’s review into safeguarding children with disabilities and complex needs in 
residential settings.  The PQA sub-group has received an assurance overview from Partners upon the 
recommendations outlined within the review and include developing a range of programmes and provisions to 
support children with SEND who cannot remain at home, and to this end pathfinder programmes are being explored 
for autism support and respite hubs.  Where a residential placement is being considered parents and child are 
supported by SEND case workers, allocated social workers and a joint Tri-partite process oversees the decision 
making. The Tri-partite working group is refreshing our joint processes, and this recommendation will be added to 
this work stream.  

Section 2: Shared safeguarding themes:  
 
Safer Sleeping: While rates of sudden unexpected death in infancy (SUDI) declined steeply in the 1990s and 

continued to decline until 2014, families living in the most deprived neighbourhoods continue to experience 
a disproportionately higher rate; the National Child Mortality Database found that 42% of SUDIs occurred in 
deprived neighbourhoods, compared with 8% in the least deprived.1  In addition, Babies under the age of one have 
consistently been the largest category of serious incidents notified to the national Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel. In 2021, 32% of incidents of non-fatal physical abuse involved children younger than a year old 2 The 
Myth of Invisible Men review focused on the role of male carers and identified a number of challenges for 
safeguarding partners. This included the need to explore the vulnerability of babies under one, in depth, with both 
parents (regardless of whether they live together or are in a relationship with each other) as well as with other new 
partners. The review also identified the familiar difficulties with information sharing, both within different sections 
of the health service and across the wider safeguarding system. Furthermore, additional causational links to 
domestic abuse, Violence Against Women and Girls , substance misuse and parental mental ill health were evident in 
a large number of reviews where harm was caused to babies and infants . Babies continually crying and not being 
soothed is identified as a trigger to harm caused to them, often perpetrated by male carers.  
 
To address these issues the Partnership has been pro-active. We have maintained consistency in delivering 
important programs of intervention which promote safer sleeping and raising awareness of the risk posed to babies 
under the age of 1 to serious safeguarding incidents. The ICON program aims to help parents and carers cope with a 
crying baby. The campaign was driven following several national infant deaths and serious case reviews where a 
baby has died or been seriously injured as a result of abusive head trauma. The campaign involves sharing simple 
messages and promoting avenues of support for parents and carers, supported by evidence-based information. The 
Child & Family Early Help Service’s reducing parental conflict programme is an early intervention to prevent 
escalation to domestic abuse; which has often been found as a pervasive issue when harm babies and infants have 
experienced through inappropriate sleeping arrangements and care is evidenced 3  The service has completed the 
first year of a new round of 3-year funding from DWP (Department for Work and Pensions) Reducing Parental 
Conflict Grant. Over the year, 10 awareness-raising virtual workshops have been held for a wide range of 
professionals about Parental Conflict; refresher training has been provided for Early Help Practitioners around the 
structured interventions which form part of the Early Help offer. Two workshops via the Tavistock on the 
Mentalisation Approach, when working with higher levels of parental conflict and two workshops on helping 
professionals to differentiate the difference between domestic abuse and parental conflict have also been held.  

 

1 University of Oxford (https://www.ox.ac.uk/news/2023-03-13-new-report-promoting-safer-sleeping-babies-england) 
2 Child Safeguarding Practice Review Annual Report 2021 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-review-investigates-babies-harmed-by-fathers-and-stepfathers 

 

44

https://thebarnetscp.org.uk/assets/1/ma_audit_-_neglect_-_briefing_.docx
file:///C:/Users/Griffin/Downloads/National%20safeguarding%20practice%20review%20into%20safeguarding%20children%20with%20disabilities%20and%20complex%20needs%20in%20residential%20settings
file:///C:/Users/Griffin/Downloads/National%20safeguarding%20practice%20review%20into%20safeguarding%20children%20with%20disabilities%20and%20complex%20needs%20in%20residential%20settings
file:///C:/Users/Griffin/Downloads/National%20safeguarding%20practice%20review%20into%20safeguarding%20children%20with%20disabilities%20and%20complex%20needs%20in%20residential%20settings
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017944/The_myth_of_invisible_men_safeguarding_children_under_1_from_non-accidental_injury_caused_by_male_carers.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017944/The_myth_of_invisible_men_safeguarding_children_under_1_from_non-accidental_injury_caused_by_male_carers.pdf
https://www.ox.ac.uk/news/2023-03-13-new-report-promoting-safer-sleeping-babies-england
file:///C:/Users/Griffin/Downloads/Child%20Safeguarding%20Practice%20Review%20Panel%202021%20-%20annual%20report
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-review-investigates-babies-harmed-by-fathers-and-stepfathers


 

26  

 

SAFER SLEEPING: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: Colleagues at the 
RFLNHSFT have contributed to several reviews where babies and infants have died or been harmed. Consequently, 
they have concentrated learning for staff around supporting mothers and fathers to understand the triggers for 
abusive head injury and the principles of safer sleeping. The Trust has linked with a Father Inclusion Lead from 
another borough to provide training to our midwives about the importance of including the father the care and 
advice around pregnancy and the newborn. They have worked with Barnet Domestic Abuse & Violence Against 
Women and Girls strategic team to coordinate training for health staff about the new Domestic Abuse Act. 
Colleagues have further worked with the WAVE Trust who screened their award-winning documentary Resilience 

which promotes trauma informed care and the science of adverse childhood experiences. Partners at S4H have 
ensured that safer sleeping is promoted at antenatal contacts, new births and clinic contacts, where 
appropriate,  Awareness has also been added on flyers and posters in clinics. The ICON message has also been 
added to communications, posters and flyers Training has been delivered to staff and a 7-minute briefing sent 
out across the service outlined below:  
 

 
 
The Safeguarding team from Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust (RFLNHSFT) deliver ICON training to the 
Barnet Walk in Centre; these training sessions include an update on Safer Sleeping guidance as part of their  
strategy to “Actively engage with fathers”. Staff will be encouraged to share ICON and Safer sleeping 
information with fathers who often attend Walk in centre appointments with their babies and may not have 
been present at the new birth visit with the community health teams. In addition, changes have been made to 
Electronic Patient Records to improve how the safeguarding information about mother’s and father’s risk 
assessments in the maternity period is captured and used to safeguard the unborn. This includes capturing 
enhanced information regarding partners and fathers of pregnant women and information upon ICON (coping 
with crying) programme information sharing and safer sleep awareness. Training and briefings have been given 
to all maternity staff on this. A recent audit by partners at the RFLNHSFT has demonstrated transfer of 
knowledge into practice with good compliance with data collection and identified further areas for 
developments such as in the post-natal period. Maternity services now use Padlet, an online app where 
information is uploaded for new and expectant parents, including ICON and safer sleeping. Feedback from a 
mother said: ‘having this information available to hand gave me confidence that I was doing the right thing 
for my baby, and I could show my family when they were giving me different advice.’ 
 

The Partnership has throughout 2023 struck a collaboration with the Lullaby Trust to deliver training. Both 
basic and advanced training options were offered, and a total of 37 practitioners have signed up from across 
the Partnership. Training will be re-offered to partners in 6 months’ time so that more practitioners are given 
the opportunity to attend. 
 

45

https://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/


 

27  

  

Family Networks: Family help and family group decision making is a central pillar of the Government’s social 

care reform review and centers upon unlocking the potential of family networks for children as an alternative to 
them entering the care system. As a Partnership we wish to develop a multi-disciplinary approach to furthering this 
pillar, strengthening, and innovating wherever we can.  

 

We know that adults with complex emotional needs are more likely to have experienced significant harm growing up 

due to their own parents’ complex needs. They have typically been known to Children’s Social Care (CSC) as children 

and many are care experienced. With the absence of a secure parenting blueprint and the often-harmful impact of 

their complex emotional needs on their children, there is a greater risk of entry into care, perpetuating a cycle of 

children experiencing significant harm, CSC involvement, and removal into the care system, frequently across 

generations.  In July 2021 Barnet Family Services developed an Early Years Parenting Hub (EYPH) providing highly 

specialised and targeted multi-family interventions for parents with complex emotional needs and their children. A 

wide range of services and organisations were consulted in developing the programme of delivery and when an 

identified need or theme is raised, they have supported and assisted in delivering a session or jointly delivering the 

whole programme. The service aims to ensure that parents receive holistic assessment and intervention ensuring 

that their children, particularly in the early years, can grow up in safe, loving homes with their parents or, where that 

is not possible, to secure permanency early for children so that they can grow and thrive in stable, caring homes with 

alternative caregivers across their family networks where appropriate.  The intervention model addresses the     

parent’s complex emotional needs, the child’s development and the parent-child attachment relationship.   

FAMILY NETWORKS: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: A 3-way joint 
Parenting Hub Contract is formulated by the EYPH and the social worker alongside the parent(s) which is 
reviewed regularly to measure progress. The EYPH work also works closely with multi agency Partners and 
professionals in the wider network including the Early Years/Early Help system to ensure parents are closely 
linked to universal/universal plus services for children ensuring early preparation for step-down/step-across 
where appropriate. Multi agency practitioners report:  
 
“The course provided a profound insight into the significance of mentalization for effective emotional 
regulation and secure relationships. I’m eager to integrate MBT strategies within my work, especially in 
identifying and managing risks within family networks. This training has expanded my toolkit and 
confidence as a practitioner”. 
 

Across the EYPH Consultations are offered to practitioners and social workers to discuss families that may be 
eligible for groups, assessment, and support. These consultations form the basis of referrals to the Parenting 
Hub to promote a quick, efficient referral process. The EYPH jointly manages families alongside the allocated 
social care team, offering reflection and supervision to aid case management and decision making. The 
approach ensures a safe, coherent network of professional help is built around families from the onset of 
assessment to the completion of intervention. Since the launch of the service November 2021, the EYPH has 
provided 70 consultations resulting in 14 referrals for Specialist Parenting Interventions for 19 parents and 
caring for 16 children.  
 

• All 19 parents had extensive CSC involvement as children.  

• parents are care experienced (68%)  

• 12 children had previously been removed from 19 parents (63%)  

• 5 families had a decision securing permanency for 7 children outside of the family at the 12-  

• week assessment.  

• 4 families had a decision securing permanency for 5 children after the first 12 weeks of the 18-  

• month intervention.   

• 1 family (1 parent and 1 child) has completed the 18-month intervention.  

• 4 families currently engaging in the 18-month intervention.  
 
 

46

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love


 

28  

Promoting, developing and supporting Family Networks also occurs across our network of Special Guardians, who 

look after children when adoption is not right for them and they cannot remain with their parents. Often Special 

Guardians are extended family members such as aunties, uncles and grandparents and they receive multi-disciplinary 

support to ensure the children who they care for received the very best outcomes.  

 

 

Family networks are empowered to support those experiencing difficulties through the Child & Family Early Help 

strategy, and in particular Team around the Family processes.  This is where all the people who care about or are 

working with a child form a team that works together to help support them. One professional will take the lead and 

ensure that services are co-ordinated and working effectively towards the change that is needed for the child and 

family. The lead professional can be any professional working with the family and who is part of the Team Around 

the Family, they will act as a single point of contact for the child and their family throughout the period of 

assessment and support. They will work closely with the child and family to ensure everyone is clear on how, when 

and where support will be provided.  

FAMILY NETWORKS: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT:  
Case study: B is 78 years old and a step grandad to T who is 11-years old. T suffered neglect due to his parents’ 
drug abuse and domestic violence. He was removed from their care and placed under a Special Guardianship 
Order with his grandparents. T’s birth mother sadly passed away in 2020 and then sadly his grandmother C 
passed away in 2022. T has therefore suffered the loss of his two significant female care givers in his life and B 
was struggling to cope with his own grief and trying to raise and support T. B was struggling with a passport 
application for T and after speaking to professionals it became apparent the family would benefit further 
support although B was reluctant at first due to worrying about ‘social services involvement’. Soon, wider 
Partnership support kicked in. Further to additional assessment and support the following outcomes were 
achieve in less than 10 months:  
 
- T was referred by the social worker for grief counselling to Grief Encounter. An assessment was completed, 
and T is now accessing therapeutic support 1:1 at school. 
- It was recognised T would benefit from positive activities given restrictions on B’s mobility, so he was 
referred to Barnet Young Carers, a key Partner across the voluntary sector supporting children with caring 
responsibility and T engaged with Chickenshed theatre company and other positive activities 
- T’s primary school were concerned if B was coping and T’s presentation wasn’t always what it should be – 
SW supported a in person meeting with the new Head of the school which was a positive, strengths-based 
meeting and the SG said they felt heard. Out of this the school drew up a morning and bedtime routine for T 
to stick up at home and try to follow, B made sure T’s presentation improved and B decluttered some of the 
home with the social workers help to create more space and improve home conditions.  
- B was quite isolated, grieving the loss of his wife and struggled to accept help for himself – the social worker 
built a positive relationship with him and through helping to secure some support for T he began to trust the 
SW to think about B’s own needs.  
 
Over Summer 23 a Special Guardian (SG) and kinship care celebration event brought together, for the first time, 
the network of SG’s and our kinship carers such as T and B as detailed above. Outcomes for children at the 
summer event included children who have had summer holidays with their SG for the first time, SGs reporting 
that they felt valued and ‘seen’ by professionals and that a peer-to-peer network is vital to the support they 
provide the children.  
 
 

47



 

29  

 

 

 

The headline data for Family Group Conference (FGC) delivery is below, outlining that 191 children from 121 families 

were supported as family networks over 2022/23 to address underlying concerns.  

 

FAMILY NETWORKS: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: A family supported 
by Family Group Conferencing (FGC) has allowed a child to remain with her aunt, and thus with her family, 
whilst her mother receives support to address her own challenges. Concerns centered upon mother’s use of 
alcohol whilst caring for her child. Police were called on a few occasions. The child is now subject to an Interim 
Care Order but is living with maternal aunt, but having twice weekly contact with mother and she is also 
receiving support from Partners Change, Grow, Live in order to address her substance misuse. The child has 
recently stated nursery which has allowed their aunt to return to work.  
 
The FGC helped mum to acknowledge the concerns of the local authority, to encourage her to address her 
drinking and the issues it is causing. In enabled practitioners to ascertain who is able to support mum 
emotionally and who can support maternal aunt care for the child.  

FAMILY NETWORKS: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT: Data based on 
feedback from 175 family members, all of whom participated within a FGC, showed that 94% felt that they 
were well prepared for the FGC with lots of information which was clearly explained. In addition:  

• 90% though the family plan was good and would make a big difference. 

• 94% said that they liked the structure of the meeting and found it helpful.  
Further feedback includes:  
“The meeting was arranged very quickly, and I was informed at all stages what was happening” 
“Glad we got to meet the social worker and she was able to answer any questions we had” 
“We’re glad X got in touch with us if she didn’t, we did not know how bad the situation was (for the family) “ 
 

48



 

30  

 
Female Genital Mutilation (FGM): Female Genital Mutilation, Honour Based Violence and Prevent referrals 

are relatively low in the borough. Despite a child population of over 100,000, Barnet receives very small numbers of 
referrals to Childrens social care. The Partnership wishes to be curious in this area and place a focus and scrutiny on 
this issue to enhance understanding and Partnership response. When appropriate Channel Panel, care proceedings 
and Forced Marriage Protection Orders (FPMOs) have been initiated/obtained and audits of these areas of work 
demonstrate a good understanding of these harms and a safe and robust response to them. 

Alongside regular case file audits, thematic auditing activity is completed where we want to as a Partnership look at 

specific areas of practice, focus on certain cohorts or embed learning from national or local learning reviews. Over 

2022/23 we have completed thematic audits on cases where FGM and Forced Marriage Protection Orders were risk 

factors and outcomes identified in these audits for those affected were identified as ‘good’.  

 
The National FGM Centre eLearning course has been made available to partners and promoted across the 
partnership. It consists of 5 modules exploring the key components of FGM within the context of harmful practices. 
Another FGM eLearning course created by Barnardo’s will be accessible to partners shortly. The course covers 
culture and religion, the law, the impact of harmful practices, and direct work with children, young people, and 

families. Right across the Partnership colleagues have embedded and emphasised awareness of FGM as an illegal 
practice. S4H  staff  are fully aware of their mandatory reporting duty to report any cases of FGM, disclosed or 
identified in females under 18. All staff receive training on FGM in their safeguarding training. NHSE webinars on 
FGM have been shared with staff this year. FGM was also included in safeguarding annual symposium in January 
2023.  NLMHP show an on-going commitment by way of ensuring that all staff receives appropriate safeguarding 
training and have maintained over 80% compliance with training in 2022 to 2023; raising awareness of FGM and 

FGM: EVIDENCE OF PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE AND ITS IMPACT:  Three training sessions on FGM 
and breast ironing/flattening have been scheduled for school staff over the coming academic year 23/24. At 
the time of writing 2 sessions have already taken place for teachers and Designated Safeguarding Leads in 
and the feedback was incredibly positive, with attendees describing the training as “excellent”, 
“informative” and “powerful”. School staff continue to sign up for the remaining sessions and based on 
current interest and those that have attended so far, it’s likely that there will be over 80 attendees altogether. 
Education is a delivery space and audience that we have not delivered in previously, directly to schools, and 
one that is typically hard to deliver in given the nature of the safeguarding issue of FGM.  Feedback from 
Headteachers includes:  

 
“I just wanted to say my deputies and I attended the FGM training yesterday. It was extremely upsetting but 

incredibly important to hear. I’m so very glad I attended. 
We learnt of the training in the Autumn Term Safeguarding newsletter which I have to say is excellent. 

It’s been a valuable source of information for the deputy DSLs and I. 
Best wishes” 

 
The National FGM Centre eLearning course has also been made available to multi- disciplinary partners and 
promoted across the partnership. It consists of 5 modules exploring the key components of FGM within the 
context of harmful practices. Another FGM eLearning course created by Barnardo’s is being made accessible to 
Partners late 2023. This will be an e-learning tool and the course covers culture and religion, the law, the 
impact of harmful practices, and direct work with children, young people, and families. This tool will be placed 
upon the POD platform which provides multi agency staff across the Partnership access to it. The multi-agency 
workforce development programme also holds training upon Harmful Practices and is accessible to all 
Partners.  
 
BSCP also promotes the London Safeguarding Children Partnerships Honour Based Violence and Harmful 
Practices learning programme, which is a rolling programme, and comes complete with all of the additional 
resources and literature from gov.uk sources.  
   
 

49



 

31  

harmful practices is at the heart of their programmes.   A Safeguarding Training Strategy has been implemented 
which sets out the requirements and arrangements for safeguarding training provision for all employees including 
those on bank, honorary contracts, and volunteers.  Partners at CLCH have demonstrated safeguarding assurance in 
2022/23 by developing alerts and FGM updates so CLCH staff are reminded of their mandatory  duty under the 
Serious Crime Act (2015) to report Female Genital Mutilation (FGM). Further still, an FGM Summer Briefing was 
shared widely across CLCH in May 23 as evidence shows that school summer holidays are a time when girls may 
be at increased risk of female genital mutilation (FGM) either by being taken abroad or from cutters coming to the 
UK. CLCH has a FGM Recording and Reporting policy in place to provide clear guidance for staff on the procedure for 
recording FGM and the mandatory duty to report cases of FGM. 
 
Police Partners remain committed to effective tackling of FGM.  All MPS employees have clear directions and 
checklists to work to, ensuring the best policing response.  In these are directions to ensure the voice of the child is 
considered at all stages of the investigation, and they are appropriately safeguarded using Sec 46 Children 1989 
police powers to take the child into police protection, and consideration of any other children in the household, 
especially female siblings and cousins.  Amongst the checklist is that any such referral must generate a Strategy 
Meeting between police and Children’s Social Care, which in turn must trigger a joint S47 investigation.  Enhanced 
secondary investigation reviews are also built in to the operating procedure with a Detective Sergeant reviewing the 
case between 10 and 18 hours, the Detective inspector within 72 hours and the Detective Chief Inspector within 7 
days. 

 
Multi-disciplinary working & building Brand Barnet: At the start of this Report the current challenges 

were noted upon the recruitment and retention of staff across health, police and social care. These challenges are 
not limited to these sectors, indeed the wider children’s workforce to include education and voluntary sector 
Partners are all experiencing high turnover of staff and difficulties in recruiting. This is a national challenge, 
impacting local services. As such, the Partnership wishes to attempt to innovate wherever it can to ensure that 
working with children and families within Barnet is attractive and supportive and that staff feel connected to a wider 
workforce delivering incredible work, each and every day for children and families.  
 
A task and finish group has been established around this theme and is ongoing. A learning and development pack 
has been created which outlines the training offer, specific BSCP resources, the strength of multi-disciplinary 
practice, and a 'who's who’ of officials and agencies across the Partnership. It is our hope that this will be used by all 
partners during the induction process across the Partnership, no matter their organisation or service.  
 
Plans for a bi-annual, in-person, learning and development induction for new starters in the Partnership are in 
progress with a view to this being held at Barnet General Hospital. A short paragraph promoting Barnet and the 
Partnership has been created which can be added to all partners’ recruitment documents once agreement has been 
received.  

The Met Police have a pro-active recruitment campaign currently open with advertising.  Across the MPS Public 
Protection (PP) has been recognised as below the necessary staffing to carry out essential functions.  An uplift of 485 
officers for PP has been announced MPS wide for late 2023.   This is split between the 12 Basic Command Units 

RECRUITMENT & RETENTION: PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE & ITS IMPACT:  
The Partnership delivered an innovative multi agency and multi-disciplinary staff induction session in October 
2023 for new starters right across the Partnership – from health, police, to social care, to education and 
beyond. Time was spent with new recruits outlining the role of the Partnership, over-arching strategic plans 
and a review of learning themes held in the Partnership at present. Crucially, feedback centered on how great 
it was for Partners to understand more about each other’s roles in safeguarding children and how they fit 
within a larger local system and break down silos and barriers. Multi agency induction will now take place 
every 2 my memory is that we agreed 6 monthly but I may be wrong?months with new themes and focus for 
each one – we hope this will support the creation of a more connected Partnership , develop Brand Barnet and 
support the ambition to keep skilled practitioners in our borough working with children and families. Feedback 
includes: Thank you ,really enjoyed it ,so great to get everyone together with a wealth of knowledge. 
 

50



 

32  

(BCU) and includes on each BCU 1 x DCI (to specifically manage offenders and proactivity), 1 x DI, an uplift in 
researchers and Police Conference Liaison Officers (PCLOs) across MASH and CAIT Referrals. 
Locally on NW BCU officers from other strands are being attached to the Community Safety Unit to assist in the 
response to Domestic Violence, and the Rape and Serious Sexual Offences teams to assist in the response to serious 
sexual assaults.  These initiatives has been assisting reduce workloads and improve responses whilst NW BCU PP is 
still under strength across all teams, awaiting the positive results of the recruitment campaign. 

 

The Children’s social work workforce census is an annual statutory census for all local authorities. Data shows that 
there has been a 13% increase in social work vacancies across London, and a 10% increase in agency workers. There 
is a 20% turnover rate of staff across London and England over the 12-month period 1 October 2021 to 30 
September 2022. From 2020 Barnet is showing an overall decrease in Social Work vacancies covered by agency 
where it peaked in 2020 which is positive given that the trend in London and England is that vacancies have 
increased. It is still slightly higher than the average but is heading in the right direction. Barnet Family Services also 
has a lower than average sickness rate when compared with London and England, suggesting a healthier (and 
potentially happier) workforce. 

Since 2020, Family Services has also increased the number of permanently employed social care staff, where the 
trend in London and England shows a decrease. It is still lower than the average, but the trend indicates a positive 
sustained change. Childrens social care holds an 18% turnover rate of permanent staff which puts Barnet slightly 
under the London wide average. Since 2019 there has been a sustained lower staff turnover rate than the average 
borough in London and it is forecast to continue through 2023 into 2024. shows Barnet’s retention rate of Social 
Worker’s is higher, when compared to other London and South East authorities. The picture across London broadly 
shows that there are more leavers than starters, which explains the reliance on agency staff. Part of this may be 
attributable to the increased locum rates for social care staff across London and home counties/the rest of England 
which continued to increase until the London Pledge was implemented in the summer of 2022 which may not yet be 
reflected in this data. We have an 18% turnover rate of permanent staff which puts Barnet slightly under the London 
wide average. A recent recruitment campaign generated 16 offers to Newly Qualified Social Workers to complete 
their ASYE year. To date this is the largest group and they are all in various stages of the onboarding process with a 
view to starting September 2023 at the latest. A further advert will go out later this year with a view to starting in 
January 2024. This is an ongoing cycle and by the far the most successful part of our recruitment process. 

 
Across Health Partners recruitment and retention of a skilled workforce has consistently been one of the greatest 

RECRUITMENT & RETENTION: PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE & ITS IMPACT: NW BCU Public Protection 
teams have reduced staffing levels compared with other BCUs across the MPS.  The Child Abuse Investigation 
Team (CAIT), who operate at approximately 70% of their budgeted workforce; have improved their positive 
outcome rates from 3% (as reported in the 2021 – 2022 partnership annual report) to as high as 15.3% (‘4th 
June 2023 weekly data’).  CAIT outcomes have been included on weekly data since May 2023, the NW CAIT 
have been the top performing team across the MPS CAITs for some weeks, and amongst the top 3 at other 
times, and consistently achieved positive outcomes of over 10%.  This is testament to the NW CAIT dedicated 
staff and effective Partnership working for children and families.  
 
 

RECRUITMENT & RETENTION: PUTTING LEARNING INTO PRACTICE & ITS IMPACT: A Project Manager has been 
in place across Family Services supporting the Conditions for Success programme to enable a better work 
environment including better connectivity, better access to meeting rooms and secure spaces – all in place to 
make Family Services an even more attractive place to work.  Managers are having informal discussions with 
candidates who resign with a view to examining options to enable staff to stay in Barnet. They are also being 
offered confidential exit interviews with the HR Business Partner. A recent review of the recruitment and 
retention rates resulted in a 5% increase for social care teams such as Intervention & Planning, Duty & 
Assessment Teams, Children in Care teams. A retention bonus has also now been added to Newly Qualified 
Social Worker roles to make Barnet an appealing employer and helps attracts a good caliber of candidates. In 
addition, there have been several internal candidates who have been promoted internally, securing staff in 
Barnet. 
 

51



 

33  

challenges over the past year.  Nationally, there is a shortage of both school nurses and health visitors. S4H has been 
actively recruiting and have recruited into key roles and are continuing to do so with on rolling adverts for both 
professions.  Health Partners are looking at innovative ways in which we can develop our own staff and change the 
way we deliver services. Recruiting into substantive posts remains very challenging. Most of the Public Health Nurses 
working in Barnet are working through agencies. S4H recently has had to reduce dependency upon use of agency 
staff due to cost pressures and are working with commissioners on future models of service.  
 

Conclusion:  The Partnership is pleased to publish this Annual Report which we feel reflects the huge 

amount of work and positive impact across multi -agency services for the benefit of children and families and in the 

interest of keeping children safe. We are also proud that amongst all this work, our priorities and themes from 

previous years have continued to go from strength to strength in their delivery and support for children. This is 

particularly reflected in the work undertaken to tackle Domestic Abuse (DA) and Violence Against Women and Girls 

(VAWG) - which affects children and their opportunities to achieve positive outcomes so profoundly. Right across the 

Partnership our DA & VAWG Strategy 2022-25 has led to positive collaborations and partnerships with survivors, 

voluntary sector, faith groups and charities, our partners in front line multi agency delivery and across the council, 

and it is through this that we are meeting the aims of our strategic approach. Young people involved in our youth 

voce forums, under the banner of our My Say Matters strategy, tell us clearly that there is no place in society for 

gender-based abuse and violence, misogyny, sexual harassment and hate. All our information regarding the help and 

support we offer to residents who may be experiencing domestic or sexual abuse can be found on our website. Key 

achievements and milestones include:  

• Barnet VAWG Team securing £1.46m funding from MOPAC to lead delivery of the Culturally Integrated 
Family Approach (CIFA) perpetrator programme in Barnet and across 9 other authorities in London in 
partnership with RISE Mutual CiC until 2025 

• Barnet Child and Family Early Help Services secured a third year of DWP funding for its successful Reducing 
Parental Conflict Programme and has continued to deliver Children Overcoming Domestic Abuse (CODA) 
parent/child programmes 

• Safelives delivered accredited Independent Domestic Violence Advocate (IDVA) training to 23 learners 
from the voluntary sector, Youth Services, Early Help, Children’s Social Care, Adult MASH,RFLNHSFT , Barnet 
Homes, drug and alcohol services, and specialist DA services who have gained Level 3 IDVA Certificate in 
Domestic Abuse and have formed a DA Champion Network across the borough 

• Barnet Homes have successfully bid for MOPAC and Against Violence and Abuse (AVA) funding to develop 
a specialist housing team and partner with domestic abuse survivors to co-create change 

• The Community Safety Team have encouraged 57 of Barnet’s 73 licenced venues to participate in the ‘Ask 
for Angela’ initiative 

• Safe and Together training is being rolled out to the children’s workforce with the aim of strengthening 
practice to keep children safe and together with non-abusing parents 

• 86% of GP Practices in Barnet have completed or partially completed IRIS training aimed at early 
identification of domestic abuse, leading to an increase in GP referrals for victims 

• Barnet’s VAWG Team partnered with Middlesex University’s student led Changing the Culture Initiative 
(CCI) to co-deliver the #HearMyVoice initiative focused on the narratives of individuals, groups and 
organisations in the local community 

52

https://www.barnet.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Barnet%20VAWG%20strategy%20DIGITAL%20FINAL.pdf
https://lbbcommunicationsinternal.cmail20.com/t/d-l-vhkjtg-tdkkldkuju-i/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/campaigns/ask-for-angela/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/campaigns/ask-for-angela/


 

34  

• Barnet Council has committed to working towards culture change for staff, systems and the community 
through its 3-year Action Plan led by a team of STOP VAWG Ambassadors and Champions 

•Barnet council became a signatory to the Women’s Night Safety Charter and a transformation programme, 
led by Street Scene’s Director, to develop a pilot network of Safe Haven’s in East Finchley will be launching in 
December 2023 

Looking ahead, the Partnership will seek to implement any requirements laid down by the forthcoming review of 

Working Together 2018, following on from the period of consultation. The financial pressures facing local 

government and other statutory bodies will also have to be considered by the multi-agency Partnership over the 

next 12 – 18 months and beyond but we will remain, as ever, steadfast in our commitment to children and keeping 

them safe. Thank you for taking the time to read this Annual Report.  

53

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/working-together-to-safeguard-children-changes-to-statutory-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Children & Education Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 

Title  Cabinet Forward Plan  

Date of meeting 15 January 2024 

Report of Head of Governance  

Wards All 

Status Public  

Urgent No 

Appendices Appendix A – Cabinet Forward Plan (Key Decision Schedule)   

Officer Contact Details  Andrew Charlwood, Head of Governance, 
andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk  

Summary 
The report details the Cabinet Forward Plan for 2024/25.  The Committee is requested to consider any 
items they may wish to request for pre-decision scrutiny during 2024/25.  Items that the Committee 
may wish to request for pre-decision scrutiny during 2024/25 will be include in the Committee’s work 
programme for 2024/25. 

Recommendations 

That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers the Cabinet Forward Plan and any items the 
Committee may wish to request for pre-decision scrutiny during 2024/25. 

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 
1.1 The Council’s Constitution (Committee Procedure Rules, Part 3C, Section 38) states:  Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees have the power and responsibility to review or 
scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the discharge of any 
functions which are the responsibility of the executive.  

1.2 The attached Appendix A sets out the upcoming Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to 
take at forthcoming Cabinet meetings.  The committee is requested to review the plan and 
determine if there are any items that the committee may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2024/25.  

  

55

AGENDA ITEM 8

mailto:andrew.charlwood@barnet.gov.uk


2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 
2.1 The Committee could decide to not review the Cabinet Forward Plan.  However, this is not 

recommended as non-Executive Members should have the opportunity to have an input in 
major polices and strategies as they are in development.  

3. Post Decision Implementation 
3.1 Any item that is subject to pre-decision scrutiny will be included in the committee’s work 

programme for 2024/25. 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 This report is aligned with the key priorities in the new corporate plan. Built on the pillars of 
“caring for people, our places and the planet” and underpinned by a foundation of being 
Engaged and Effective. The work of Overview and Scrutiny will support the Council in becoming 
a ‘listening council’ collaborating and building a continuous dialogue with residents and 
communities. In doing so, residents are involved in decision-making and Scrutiny acts to amplify 
the voice of the public, on issue of concern.  

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

4.2 This item will support delivery of the measure how “We act on concerns of local residents and 
involve them in decision making”.  

Sustainability  

4.3 None in the context of this report. 

Corporate Parenting  

4.4 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider Corporate 
Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. This duty will be considered when 
including items to the work programme.  

Risk Management 

4.5 None in the context of this report. 

Insight 

4.6 Insight data and evidence will be used to support scrutiny reviews on the work programme.  

Social Value 

4.7 None in the context of this report. 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1 As part of the Governance review a dedicated team has been created to support the Overview 
and Scrutiny function and this will be delivered within the existing Governance Service budget.   

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  

6.1 The terms of reference of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees are set out 
in Part 2B and 2C of the Constitution.  out in Part 3C of the Constitution.  

56



Under the Barnet Constitution, Part 2C the Children & Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub- 
Committee shall perform the overview and scrutiny role and function in relation to: 
 

• All matters as that relate to Children’s Social Care  

• All matters which relate to services pertaining to the education and well- being of 
children and young people including youth services  

• Receive and comment upon any external inspections and reviews.  

   
 

 

7. Consultation  
7.1  None in the context of this report. 

8. Equalities and Diversity  
8.1 Pursuant to the Equality Act 2010, the Council and all other organisations exercising public 

functions on its behalf must have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; advance 
equality of opportunity between those with a protected characteristic and those without; 
promote good relations between those with a protected characteristic and those without. The 
relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. It also covers marriage and civil 
partnership with regard to eliminating discrimination. The work of overview and scrutiny will be 
transparent and accessible to all sectors of the community.  

  

57



 

9. Background Papers 
9.1 None 

 

58



 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Barnet 
 

Cabinet Forward Plan (Key Decision Schedule) 2023-2024 
 

The Cabinet currently consists of the following members of the London Borough of Barnet: 
 
Councillor Barry Rawlings 
Councillor Ross Houston 
Councillor Paul Edwards 

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member – Resources and Effective Council  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member – Homes and Regeneration 
Cabinet Member – Adult Social Care 

Councillor Ammar Naqvi Cabinet Member – Culture, Leisure, Arts and Sports 
Councillor Anne Clarke Cabinet Member – Community Wealth Building 
Councillor Sara Conway Cabinet Member – Community Safety and Participation 
Councillor Pauline Coakley Webb Cabinet Member – Family Friendly Barnet 
Councillor Alison Moore Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing 
Councillor Alan Schneiderman Cabinet Member – Environment and Climate Change 
Councillor Zahra Beg Cabinet Member – Equalities, Voluntary and Community Sector 

 
This is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at forthcoming Cabinet meetings. The Cabinet agenda containing all  
the reports being considered will be published 5 clear days before the meeting. 
 
Advanced Notice of Executive Decisions 
 
The Council is required to publish notice of all key decisions at least 28 days before they are taken by Cabinet. Details of the decisions  
to be taken at forthcoming meetings of the Cabinet are detailed in the table below. 
 

59



 
Definition of a Key Decisions 
A Key Decision relates to those executive decisions which are likely to: 
i) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the local 

authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; a decision is considered significant if it exceeds an 
expenditure or savings in revenue of £500,000 and capital of £1 million. 

ii) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough. 
A decision is significant for the purposes of (i) above if it involves expenditure or the making of savings of an amount in excess of £1m for 
capital expenditure or £500,000 for revenue expenditure or, where expenditure or savings are less than the amounts specified above, they 
constitute more than 50% of the budget attributable to the service in question. 
Notice of Intention to Conduct Business in Private 
The Council is required to give at least 28 clear days’ notice if Cabinet wishes to hold any of the meeting in private.  Any person can 
make representations to the Cabinet if they believe the decision should instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting by emailing 
governanceservice@barnet.gov.uk  
Urgency  
If, due to reasons of urgency, a Key Decision must be taken where 28 days’ notice have not been given a notice will be published (on the 
website) as early as possible and Urgency Procedures as set out in the Constitution must be followed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Subject Summary of Decision Cabinet Member 

and Lead Officer 
Public, Part 
Exempt or 
Private 

Key –  
Yes / No 

Additional documents to 
be submitted; and / or 
Any Consultation to be 
undertaken 

60

mailto:governanceservice@barnet.gov.uk


16 January 2024 
Annual Review 
of Rents and 
Service 
Charges 2024-
25 

Recommendation to Full Council 
of the proposed changes to 
council dwelling rents and 
service charges, including 
temporary accommodation 
rents, to take effect from 1 April 
2024. 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer 

Public 
 

Yes Annual Review of Rent 
and Service Charges 
2024-25 EqIA 
 
 

Annual Report 
on School 
Funding 

This annual report on school 
funding arrangements updates 
Cabinet on the school funding 
position in relation to Barnet 
schools. 

Councillor Pauline 
Coakley Webb - 
Cabinet Member  
Family Friendly 
Barnet 
 
Finance Team 
 

Public Yes  

Serious 
Violence 
Strategy 

As part of the Police Crime 
Sentencing and Courts Act 
2022's Serious Violence Duty 
requirements, Barnet is 
conducting a Serious Violence 
Duty Needs Assessment and 
producing a Serious Violence 
Duty Strategy. Barnet’s Serious 
Violence Duty Strategy 
summarises key aspects of the 
Needs Assessment; local 
partnership arrangements to 
lead on delivery of the duty; 
areas of activity to prevent and 
reduce serious violence; and 

Councillor Sara 
Conway – Cabinet 
Member 
Community Safety 
Participation 
 
Director Children’s 
Social care 
 

Public Yes • Serious Violence 
Strategic Needs 
Assessment 2023  

• Draft Serious 
Violence Strategy 
2024 - 2027  

Cover Report for the 
Serious Violence Strategy 

61



activity to engage with voluntary 
sector organisations, 
communities - including young 
people, as well as businesses. 

Community 
Participation 
Strategy – one 
year progress 
report 

The CPS was published on 31 
October 2022 and set out the 
council’s proposals for engaging 
and involving communities more 
in our work, listening to residents 
and encouraging active 
citizenship.  
The strategy was a called for 
new ways of working and 
identified four ‘pathfinder’ 
projects that we would use to 
test and model these principles 
and approaches. It was agreed 
that we would report back after a 
year on what we have learned 
and the impact that this has 
made. 

Councillor Sara 
Conway, Cabinet 
Member -
Community Safety 
Participation  
 
Deputy Head of 
Strategy and 
Engagement 

Public No The report will include 
details of widespread 
consultation and 
engagement through the 
delivery of the strategy 

Sustainable 
Urban Drainage 
(SuDS) 
Strategy and 
Highways 
SuDS 
programme 

Approval and adoption of the 
SuDS Strategy and Highways 
SuDS programme for 
implementation 

Councillor Alan, 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 
Director of 
Highways and 
Transportation 

Public Yes Documents: SuDS 
Strategy and Highway 
SuDS programme 
 
Consultation: Flooding 
and Drainage Board 

Barnet Land 
Drainage by-
laws 

Approval of the proposed 
amendments to the Model land 
drainage bye laws to allow the 

Councillor Alan, 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 

Public Yes Barnet Land Drainage by-
laws-proposed 
amendments to model 

62

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-land-drainage-byelaws
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-land-drainage-byelaws


submission to Defra and 
undertake further consulta28tion 
on the proposed Barnet Land 
Drainage Bye Laws. The 
proposed byelaws need to be 
signed and dated by the Council 
before submitting to the Defra. 

for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 
Director of 
Highways and 
Transportation 
 

land drainage by-laws. 

Small Sites 
Programme - 
Nightingale 
Nursery 

A proposal to deem the site at 
23 Victoria Road, Barnet, EN4 
9PH, formerly known as 
Nightingale Nursery, surplus to 
requirements, and seeks 
approval to bring the site forward 
for residential development 
under the Small Sites Modular 
programme 

Councillor Ross 
Houston – Deputy 
Leader, Cabinet 
Member for 
Homes and 
Regeneration  
 
Assistant Director 
of Development 
Delivery 

Public Yes Site plan and public report  

Oak Hill Bowls 
Club – Lease 
Renewal 

This paper is seeking a Cabinet 
approval to the grant of a lease 
to the Oak Hill Bowls Club on 
terms that are less than best 
value; this is to clarify the 
intention of the Environment and 
Climate Change Committee in 
January 2017, the minutes of 
which were ambiguous around 
this position. 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Head of Property 
and Portfolio 
Management 

Public Yes • The Cabinet Committee 
report [Oak Hill Bowls 
Club – Lease Renewal] 

• Community Management 
of Bowling Greens 
[Report to the 
Environment Committee, 
Jan 2017] 

• Minutes of the 
Environment Committee 
11th Jan 2017 

Heads of Terms for 
proposed lease to the Oak 
Hill Bowls Club 

Amendment to Delegate authority to the Deputy Councillor Ross Public No TBG Articles – will be 

63



The Barnet 
Group Articles 

Chief Executive to approve 
changes to the The Barnet 
Group (TBG) articles 

Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes and 
Regeneration 
 
Head of Housing 
and Regeneration 

appended to the covering 
report 

Annual 
Procurement 
Forward Plan 
[APFP] 2024-
25 - 
procurements 

Approval of the Annual 
Procurement Forward Plan 
2024-25 procurement activities 
as follow up from December 
Cabinet meeting.  

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 
Interim Assistant 
Director 
(Commercial & 
Procurement) 

Public 
 

Yes APFP 2024-25 appendix 
 
 

Burnt Oak 
Residential and 
Retail Freehold 
Sales 

For approval to proceed with 
sales process and delegate 
authority to Deputy Chief 
Executive or Director (as 
appropriate to decision level). 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
Assistant Director 
– Estates and 
Decarbonisation 
 

Part-Exempt Yes  

64



6 February 2024 
Business 
Planning 2024-
2030 and In-
Year Budget 
Management 
2023/24 
 

To approve and recommend the 
Budget and Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy to Full 
Council on 27 Feb 2024. 
 
Approve 2023/24 In-year Budget 
Management:  bad debt write 
offs, in-year budget virement 
and changes to the capital 
programme. 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
 
 
 

Public 
 

Yes Chief Finance Officer 
Report: 2024-2030 MTFS 
and 2023/24 In-year 
budget management 
 
 
 

Chief Finance 
Officer Report – 
Quarter 3 
2023/24 
Financial 
Monitoring 
Report  

Note Q3 revenue and capital 
monitoring for 2023/24 
Approve 2023/24 Budget 
Management:  bad debt write 
offs, in-year budget virement 
and changes to the capital 
programme. Building Controls 
Fees and Charges. 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Executive Director 
Strategy & 
Resources 

Public 
 

Yes  
 
 

Investing in 
Barnet's Roads 
 

Final report setting out the 
planned approach to the delivery 
of the Councils Network 
Recovery and Community 
Infrastructure Levy programme 
2024/25 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Brent Cross 
 

Approvals relating to ongoing 
delivery of Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Regeneration  
 
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

65



Regeneration 
Area 
Committee - 
NCIL Budget 
 

For approval of budget 
allocations 
 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources & 
Effective Council 
(TBC) 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Street Scene 
Vehicle 
Washing 
Procurement 
 

To approve the award of a 
contract for the supply of vehicle 
washing services 
 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Street Scene 
Vehicle/Equipm
ent Parts 
Procurement 
 

To approve the award of a 
contract for the supply of vehicle 
and equipment parts 
 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Street Scene 
Vehicle Hire 
Procurement 
 

To approve the award of a 
contract for the supply of hire 
vehicle services 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Parking 
Enforcement 
Service 
Delivery 
 

Approval of proposed future 
delivery model for Parking 
Enforcement services 
 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

66



Corporate 
Parenting 
Strategy 

In Barnet we want the same 
things for the children and young 
people in our care as any good 
parent would want for their child. 
Our vision is for all children and 
young people in Barnet to live 
their lives successfully with the 
right support. This Corporate 
Parenting Strategy supports this 
work, focusing on our 
responsibility for our children in 
care and care leavers. 

Councillor Pauline 
Coakley Webb – 
Cabinet Member 
Family Friendly 
Barnet 
 
Director Children’s 
Social care 
 

 Yes  

West Hendon 
Playing Fields 
(WHPF) – 
project update 

Noting of project progress since 
the Sports Hub Masterplan was 
approved by Environment 
Committee in March 2020 and 
the Outline Business Case was 
approved by Policy & Resources 
Committee in June 2021. 

Councillor Alan 
Schneiderman, 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment & 
Climate Change 
 
Councillor Ammar 
Naqvi, Cabinet 
Member for 
Culture, Leisure, 
Arts & Sport 
 
Assistant Director 
Greenspaces & 
Leisure 

Public Yes  

Arts Depot, 5 
Nether Street, 
Tally Ho 
Corner, North 
Finchley, 
London N12 

Approval for new lease. 
 
 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 

Part-Exempt Yes Heads of Terms pertaining 
to the grant of this lease. 

67



0GA – New 
Lease 

 
Head of Property 
and Portfolio 
Management 

Homeless 
Action in 
Barnet, 36b 
Woodhouse 
Road, London 
N12 0RG – 
New Lease   

Approval for new lease. Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Assistant Director 
Growth & 
Corporate 
Services - Growth 
& Development 
 
Head of Property 
and Portfolio 
Management 

Part-Exempt Yes Heads of Terms pertaining 
to the grant of this lease. 

Barnet Homes 
Management 
Agreement 
review 

 Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
Head of Strategic 
Housing – Growth 
Team, Customer 
and Place 

   

Fire safety in 
timber framed 

 Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 

   

68



houses Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
Head of Strategic 
Housing – Growth 
Team, Customer 
and Place 

Extension and 
variation of the 
care and 
support 
contract at 
Ansell Court 
Extra Care 
Scheme 

This report seeks authority to 
extend the contract with YCB for 
care and support at Ansell Court 
extra cares scheme from 11 
February 2024 (as allowed for 
within the contract) and to vary 
the payment model to bring it in-
line with more recent extra care 
schemes 

Councillor Paul 
Edwards, Cabinet 
Member for Adult 
Social Care 
 
Director of 
Integrated 
Commissioning 

Part-Exempt Yes Public and exempt reports 

Enablement 
contracts 

This report seeks authority to 
waive Contract Procedure Rules 
and award a block enablement 
contract directly to one of the 
current incumbent contractors 
(Bliss) under single tender action 
for a period of 3 months from 
22nd May 2024 to 31st August 
2024. 
 
This report seeks authority to 
extend the current contractual 
arrangement and award a block 
enablement contract directly to 
one of the current incumbent 

Councillor Paul 
Edwards, Cabinet 
Member for Adult 
Social Care 
 
Director of 
Integrated 
Commissioning 

Part-Exempt Yes Public and exempt reports 

69



contractors (YCB) to for block 
enablement hours for a period of 
6 months from 1st April 2024 to 
31st August 2024. 

12 March 2024 
Our Plan for 
Barnet – 
Delivery and 
Outcomes 
Framework, Q3 
2023-24 

To note the Delivery and 
Outcomes Framework. 
 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Transformation 
Director 
 
Head of 
Programmes, 
Performance and 
Risk 

Public No  
 
 

Brent Cross 
 

Approvals relating to ongoing 
delivery of Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Regeneration  
 
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Barnet Homes 
Annual Delivery 
Plan 2024/25 
 

Approval of the Barnet Homes 
delivery plan for 24/25  
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

70



Barnet Group 
Ltd Budget and 
Business Plan 
 

To approve the budget and 
business plan of the Barnet 
Group Ltd 
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Equalities, 
Diversity and 
Inclusion Policy 

To approve a new Equalities, 
Diversity and Inclusion Policy 
 

Councillor Zahra 
Beg, Cabinet 
Member for 
Equalities, 
Voluntary & 
Community Sector 
 
Executive Director 
of Strategy & 
Resources  
Strategy Manager 

Public 
 

Yes Report to Cabinet 
New EDI Policy 
State of the Borough 
Report 
Report on Resident 
Engagement 
 
 

Main 
Modifications to 
Barnet’s Local 
Plan   

Approve the Main Modifications 
(necessary for soundness and 
legal compliance) to the Local 
Plan for public consultation. 
 
Approve Additional Modifications 
to the Local Plan. The Additional 
Modifications generally relate to 
points of clarification, factual 
updates and typographical or 
grammatical errors. They do not 
materially affect the substance 
of the Plan and are therefore not 
subject to public consultation 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader, Cabinet 
Member for 
Homes & 
Regeneration  
 
Director of Growth 

Public Yes Table of Main 
Modifications to the Local 
Plan 
Table of Additional 
Modifications to the Local 
Plan   

Draft 
Supplementary 

Approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 

Public  Yes Draft Supplementary 
Planning Document on 

71



Planning 
Document – 
Planning 
Contributions 

Document on Planning 
Contributions for Public 
Consultation 

Leader, Cabinet 
Member for 
Homes & 
Regeneration  
 
Director of Growth 

Planning Contributions 

Approval to 
undertake 
renewable 
energy 
procurement, 
through a long-
term Power 
Purchase 
Agreement 
(PPA), in 
partnership with 
a number of 
other, as yet 
unconfirmed, 
London 
Councils.   

To source energy from 
renewable assets, by jointly 
procuring a PPA, starting as 
soon as possible, with other 
London Councils  
 
N.B. PPAs come in different 
forms and shapes. The purpose 
of green Power Purchase 
Agreements (PPA) is that 
energy consumers secure long-
term renewable energy supply, 
from a new renewable power 
development, along with the 
green certificates verifying the 
supply as renewable. In most 
cases, volumes and price for the 
renewable energy delivered is 
agreed and structured 
individually. There are two types 
of PPAs:  
 
Physical PPAs represent a direct 
relationship between consumer 
and generator, and they imply 
that the latter will physically 
deliver the energy volume 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Director of Growth 

Public Yes LBB has been working 
with a number of other 
London boroughs, advised 
by  an independent 
renewable energy 
services provider, as well 
as an external advisor that 
LBB is in a strategic 
sustainability partnership 
with.  
 
As a result, these councils 
have formed a group that 
will procure a single PPA 
and have agreed the 
proposed PPA contract 
duration, timing of PPA 
procurement, preferable 
volumes, contracting 
structures etc.   
 
Internally we are 
consulting with Energy 
Resource Manager, 
Assistant Director for 
Estates and 
Decarbonisation, 

72



specified. A range of pricing 
mechanisms can be employed 
to optimize the value of the 
contract.  
 
Virtual PPAs offer options to 
consumers regardless of 
geographical distance. In these 
Virtual PPAs, no physical energy 
exchange is involved (although 
an additional renewable power 
installation is still built) and 
comprises a contract for 
difference between spot and 
PPA price.   
 
Both PPAs are a means of 
hedging against future spot price 
fluctuations. The procurement 
process will establish the most 
suitable for LBB at that time.  
 
The councils collaborating on 
the procurement are not yet 
confirmed, but they will be by the 
time the decision is presented to 
cabinet for approval. 

Procurement Partner and 
Sustainability Team.  
 
Authorisation to proceed 
with procurement will 
enable communication 
with school, and Barnet 
Homes stakeholders who 
use existing energy 
arrangements through 
LBB and further 
engagement to promote 
the opportunity of 
accessing a PPA to be 
established. 

16 April 2024 
Grahame Park 
North East Full 
Business Case 
 

Approval of the Full Business 
Case  

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

73



Regeneration 
Whitings Road 
and Moxon 
Street Full 
Business Case 
 

Approval of the Full Business 
Case  
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Culture 
Strategy 
 

Approval of Strategy 
 

Councillor Ammar 
Naqvi, Cabinet 
Member for 
Culture, Leisure, 
Arts & Sports 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Library Strategy Approval of the process for a 
new strategy for the Library 
Service in Barnet 

Councillor Ammar 
Naqvi - Cabinet 
Member - Culture, 
Leisure, Arts and 
Sports 
 
Executive Director 
Children’s 
Services 
 
Head of Libraries 

Public  Yes Draft Library Strategy 

Brent Cross 
 

Approvals relating to ongoing 
delivery of Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Regeneration  
 
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

74



Education 
Standards 
Report 

Barnet is well known for the 
quality of its schools and the 
diversity of its educational offer. 
The quality of Barnet’s schools 
is a significant contributory factor 
to making the borough a popular 
and desirable place to live and 
supports our strategic drive to be 
the most family friendly borough 
in London. This report will 
provide information on validated 
results for 2022/23 assessments 
and national examinations. 

Councillor Pauline 
Coakley Webb – 
Cabinet Member 
Family Friendly 
Barnet 
 
Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Education and 
Learning (BELS) 

 Yes  

14 May 2024 
Brent Cross 
 

Approvals relating to ongoing 
delivery of Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Regeneration  
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 
 
 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

18 June 2024 
Our Plan for 
Barnet – 
Delivery and 
Outcomes 
Framework, Q4 
2023-24 

To note the Delivery and 
Outcomes Framework. 
 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 
 
Transformation 
Director 

Public 
 

No  
 
 

75



 
Head of 
Programmes, 
Performance and 
Risk 

Chief Finance 
Officer Report - 
Financial 
Outturn 
2023/24 Q4 
 

Revenue and capital forecast 
outturn for the financial year 
2023/24 as at Q4 
 

Councillor Barry 
Rawlings, Leader 
of the Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Resources & 
Effective Council 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

Brent Cross 
 

Approvals relating to ongoing 
delivery of Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Regeneration  
 
 

Councillor Ross 
Houston, Deputy 
Leader and 
Cabinet Member 
for Homes & 
Regeneration 

 
 

Yes  
 
 

23 July 2024 

76



 

 

Subject Summary of Decision Cabinet Member 
and Lead Officer 

Public, Part 
Exempt or 
Private 

Key –  
Yes / No 

Additional documents to 
be submitted; and / or 
Any Consultation to be 
undertaken 

 

77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Barnet 
 

Children and Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee Work 
Programme 

June 2023 - June 2024 
Forward Work Programme  

 
Unless otherwise shown meetings take place at: 

Hendon Town Hall 
The Burroughs 

London NW4 4BQ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: scrutiny@barnet.gov.uk 
 

79

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 9



 

80



 
Title of Report  

 
Overview of decision 

 
Report Of (officer) 

 

Page 3 of 7 
 

8th June 2023 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Arrangements 
 

To receive an overview of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 
in Barnet. 
 

Head of Governance 
 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
(Key Decision 
Schedule) 
 

To consider the Cabinet Forward 
Plan and any items the Committee 
may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2023//24 
 

Head of Governance 
 
 

Family Services 
Quarterly Update 
 

 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 
 
 

My Say Matters Update 
 

To receive the My Say Matters 
Update report and introduce the 
newly elected Youth Parliament and 
Youth Ambassadors 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Children and Young 
People Overview 
 

 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

21 September 2023 

81



 Subject Decision requested Cabinet Member/ 
author 

Consultation Last date 
for reps 

Documents to 
be considered 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
(Key Decision 
Schedule) 
 

To consider the Cabinet Forward 
Plan and any items the Committee 
may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2023/24 
 

Head of Governance 
 

Family Services 
Quarterly Update 
 

To receive the Family Services 
Quarterly Performance update 
including the ChAT analysis. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Focus on Special 
Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) 
 

To consider update on SEND 
services in Barnet in relation to 
Government and local changes.  
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

To agree the work programme for the 
sub-committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

15 January 2024 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
(Key Decision 
Schedule) 
 

To consider the Cabinet Forward 
Plan and any items the Committee 
may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2023/24. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Family Services 
Quarterly Update 
 

To receive the Family Services 
Quarterly Performance Update, 
including the ChAT analysis. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

82



 Subject Decision requested Cabinet Member/ 
author 

Consultation Last date 
for reps 

Documents to 
be considered 

Focus on Safeguarding 
 

To consider the Annual Reports on 
Safeguarding incorporating Annual 
Report of Barnet Children 
Safeguarding Partnership, 
Complaint’s report, Private Fostering 
report and update on Child and 
Family Early Help Strategy. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

To agree work programme for the 
sub-committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

Task and Finish 
Groups/ Scrutiny 
Panels - 
Recommendations 
Tracking 
 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

7 March 2024 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
(Key Decision 
Schedule) 
 

To consider the Cabinet Forward 
Plan and any items the Committee to 
may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2023/ 24.  
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Family Services 
Quarterly Update 
 

To receive the Family Services 
quarterly performance update 
including the ChAT analysis 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Education Standards in 
Barnet 2022-23 
 

To receive the Education Standards 
in Barnet 2022-23 report. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

83



 Subject Decision requested Cabinet Member/ 
author 

Consultation Last date 
for reps 

Documents to 
be considered 

Education Strategies 
Update 
 

To receive the education strategies 
reports including updates on: 
The School and Settings 
Improvement Strategy 2021-24 
SEND and Inclusion Strategy 2021-
24 
Special Educational Places Plan. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Child Care Sufficiency - 
Annual Report 
 

 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

To agree the work programme for the 
sub committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

6 June 2024 

Cabinet Forward Plan 
(Key Decision 
Schedule) 
 

To consider the Cabinet Forward 
Plan and any item the Committee 
may wish to request for pre-decision 
scrutiny during 2023/24 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Family Services 
Quarterly Update 
 

To receive the Family Services 
Quarterly performance update, 
including ChAT analysis. 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Focus on Corporate 
Parenting 
 

To receive Annual Corporate 
Parenting Report and other reports 
relating to the Council’s 
responsibilities to children in care and 
care leavers.  
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

84



 Subject Decision requested Cabinet Member/ 
author 

Consultation Last date 
for reps 

Documents to 
be considered 

Scrutiny Work 
Programme 
 

To agree the work programme for the 
sub committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

Executive Director of Children's Services 
 

Task and Finish 
Groups/ Scrutiny 
Panels - 
Recommendation 
Tracking 
 

A report detailing progress made in 
implementing recommendations 
made by the Task and Finish Groups 
and Scrutiny Panels (accepted by 
Cabinet only) at six monthly intervals. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

Head of Governance 
 

 

85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Children and Education Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub Committee 

Title  Task and Finish Group Updates 

Date of meeting 15 January 2024 

Report of Overview and Scrutiny Manager 

Wards All 

Status Public  

Urgent No 

Appendices Appendix A –Task and Finish Group Updates 

 

Officer Contact Details  Stella Akintan, Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

stella.akintan@barnet.gov.uk  

Summary 
This report provides an update on Task and Finish Groups which were commissioned by this Sub-
Committee.  

 

Recommendations 

1. That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes and comments on the progress with Task 
and Finish Groups.  

2.  

1. Reasons for the Recommendations 

1.1 Part 3C (52) of the council’s Committee Procedure Rules outlines the options for Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees to appoint Task and Finish Groups: 

87

AGENDA ITEM 10

mailto:stella.akintan@barnet.gov.uk


“Overview and Scrutiny Committees may conduct reviews via informal Task and Finish 
Groups but the findings must be reported back to the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee.  

In conducting Task and Finish Groups they may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 
their meetings.  

Task and Finish Groups will be carried out in accordance with the principles set out in the 
Protocol for Member/Officer Relations in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

Following any Task and Finish Group review, a report will be submitted to the relevant 
Committee or sub-committees for onward submission to the Executive.”  

1.2 The progress of current Task and Finish Group is outlined in Appendix A. 

 

2. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 

2.1 None in the context of this report. 

3. Post Decision Implementation 

3.1 The 2023-2024 scrutiny topics for review were decided at meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees in June/July 2023  

3.2 Part 3C (52) of the council’s Committee Procedure Rules states that following any Task and 
Finish Group review, a report will be submitted to the relevant Committee or sub-committees 
for onward submission to the Executive.  

 

4. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 

Corporate Plan 

4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes and proposed Task and Finish Group 
topics include suggestions and input from Councillors, officers, members of the public, 
community groups and the voluntary sector.  

The input of executive members, senior officers, and external partners will all assist scrutiny 
Members to effectively fulfil their role as critical friends constructively challenging decision 
makers. [Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 2022] 

4.2 The work programme should reflect the Council’s priorities and should be targeted on issues 
where scrutiny can add real value. Good practice guidelines for setting overview and scrutiny 
work programmes state that if scrutiny is to be effective in driving service improvement and 
making a real difference to outcomes for local people, its work programme must be: 

• Informed by the priorities and concerns of local people. 
• Led by scrutiny members.  
• Manageable and realistic 
• Integrated effectively with corporate budget-making and strategic planning and policy 

setting processes and add value in contributing to the achievement of the Council’s 
corporate objectives.  

88



• Reflect a proactive approach to driving service improvement, rather than being simply 
reactive in response to decisions of the Executive. 

4.3 This report is aligned with the key priorities in the new corporate plan. Built on the pillars of 
“caring for people, our places and the planet” and underpinned by a foundation of being 
Engaged and Effective. The work of Overview and Scrutiny will support the Council in becoming 
a ‘listening council’ collaborating and building a continuous dialogue with residents and 
communities. In doing so, residents are involved in decision-making, and Scrutiny acts to 
amplify the voice of the public, on issues of concern.  

Corporate Performance / Outcome Measures 

4.4 This item measure how “We act on concerns of local residents and involve them in decision 
making.”  

Sustainability  

4.5 None in the context of this report. 

Corporate Parenting  

4.6 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider Corporate 
Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. This duty will be considered when 
including items to the work programme. This is especially relevant for the work programme for 
the children and education sub-committee.  

Risk Management 

4.7 None in the context of this report. 

Insight 

4.8 Insight data and evidence will be used to support scrutiny reviews on the work programme.  

Social Value 

4.9 None in the context of this report. 

 

5. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

5.1 A dedicated team supports the Overview and Scrutiny function, and the Task and Finish Groups 
will be delivered within the existing Governance service budget.   

 

6. Legal Implications and Constitution References  
6.1 The terms of reference of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees are set out 

in Part 2B and 2C of the Constitution.  Procedure rules relating to Overview & Scrutiny are set 
out in Part 3C of the Constitution. Further rules relating to Overview & Scrutiny are set out in 
Part 3D (Budget and Policy Procedure Rules) and Part 3E (Access to Information Procedure 
Rules). 

6.2 The Council’s Constitution Part 2B – Terms of Reference and Delegation of Duties to 
Committees and Sub-Committees of the Council,  

89



10.1.1 states that the Committee will oversee an agreed work programme that can help secure 
service improvement through in-depth investigation of performance issues and the 
development of an effective strategy/policy framework for the council and partners. 

6.3 Part 3C (52) of the Committee Procedure Rules here outlines the authority given to Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees to appoint Task and Finish Groups: 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee may conduct reviews via informal Task and Finish Groups 
but the findings must be reported back to the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee.  

Task and Finish Groups will be carried out in accordance with the principles set out in the 
Protocol for Member/Officer Relations in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

Following any Task and Finish Group review, a report will be submitted to the relevant 
Committee or sub-committees for onward submission to the Executive.  

6.4 This report complies with the requirements of the Constitution. 

 

7. Consultation  
7.1 Consultation and engagement of Councillors, Officers, members of the public, community 

groups and the voluntary sector was undertaken to provide input into the list of topics for 
scrutiny and will be ongoing as the work programme is implemented.  

7.2 The Scrutiny team has engaged with Councillors through the political assistants and Officers. The 
team also undertook a public consultation exercise on engage Barnet and in the Barnet First 
eNews letter.  

7.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees agreed their programme of Task 
and Finish Groups for 2023/24 at their first meetings (see Background Papers). 

 

8. Equalities and Diversity  

8.1 Pursuant to the Equality Act 2010, the Council and all other organisations exercising public 
functions on its behalf must have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; advance 
equality of opportunity between those with a protected characteristic and those without; 
promote good relations between those with a protected characteristic and those without. The 
relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. It also covers marriage and civil 
partnership with regard to eliminating discrimination. The work of overview and scrutiny will be 
transparent and accessible to all sectors of the community. 

9. Background Papers 
9.1 Item 25: Work Programmes for Overview and Scrutiny 2023/24 - Agenda for Council on Tuesday 

11th July, 2023, 7.00 pm (moderngov.co.uk) 

 

90

file:///S:/Constitution/Constitution%20-%20Current/Part%203C%20-%20Committee%20Procedure%20Rules.docx
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=11444&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=11444&Ver=4


Appendix A 

Task and Finish Group Updates 

 

1. Elective Home Education (EHE) Task and Finish Group 

Membership: Cllr Wakeley (Chair) , Cllr Hutton, Cllr J. Conway, Cllr Radford, Nigel Wildish 
co-opted member, Raisel Freedman, co-opted member 
 

 
This Task and Finish Group is drawing to a close and has met with the following 
witnesses: 

• A meeting was held with Barnet Parent Carers Forum who spoke on behalf 
Parents whose children have Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) to outline their experiences with Elective Home Education. 
 

• A meeting with Professor Daniel Monk from Birkbeck University, who is a 
lecturer and trainer on elective home education matters. Professor Monk 
outlined the legislative framework and provided examples of good practice 
amongst local authorities. 
 

• A  meeting was held with the SEND team who talked about their work in this 
area including partnerships with schools and the elective home education 
team. 
 

• A meeting was held with the Chair of Association of Elective Home Education 
Professionals who gave an overview of the challenges local authorities are 
facing and outlined good practice from around the country.  
 
 

• The T&F Group with support from the EHE Team has also developed a 
questionnaire to be sent to EHE families asking them about their experiences. 
This will run for four weeks from the beginning of January. 
 

This Task and Finish Group has completed the majority of its work and is collating its 
findings and recommendations. A full report will be presented to the Children and 
Education Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee on the 7th March. 

 

 

Youth Homelessness 

 

The Task and Finish Group is due to commence in January. Officers have held an 
initial meeting to gather the relevant data and refine the scope of the review. This 

91



topic may be suitable for a mini review which could be conducted within a day or 
over two meetings. The task and finish group members will be asked to agree the 
approach at their first meeting.  

 

92



 
 

 
 

Children and Education Overview &  
Scrutiny Committee  

Title  Family Services Quarterly Update 

Date of meeting Monday 15 January 2024 

Report of Executive Director for Children’s Services 

Wards All 

Status Public with an EXEMPT Appendix 1&2 (Not for publication by virtue 
of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
as amended). 

Urgent No 

Appendices Appendix 1 – Family Service Self Evaluation (SEF) November 2023 
(Exempt) 
 
Appendix 2 – Ofsted Advisors letter to Barnet containing report 
findings, following Annual Engagement Meeting (AEM) on 7 
November 2023 (Exempt) 
 
Appendix 3 – Children’s Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) 
Performance Report 

Officer Contact Details  Chris Munday, Executive Director for Children’s Services 

Summary 
The report gives an update on Family Services progress and asks Members to scrutinise performance. 

The report updates Members on our Annual Conversation with Ofsted that took place on 7 November 
2023. As part of the ILACS framework, we discussed our progress against the recommendations from 
previous Ofsted focussed visit and Inspection as well as our self-evaluation (appendix 1).  The report 
also contextualises the data that can be found in appendix 3, Children's Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) 

 

Recommendations 

1. That the Children and Education Overview & Scrutiny Committee is asked to scrutinise 
progress and comment on the Family Services self-evaluation summarised in this report 
and provided in appendix 1.  

93

AGENDA ITEM 12



2. That the Children and Education Overview & Scrutiny Committee scrutinise the activity 
around our annual conversation with Ofsted summarised in this report and provided in 
appendix 2.  
 

3. That the Children and Education Overview & Scrutiny Committee is asked to scrutinise and 
provide comments on the ChAT performance report summarised in this report and in 
appendix 3. 

 
 Reasons for the Recommendations 

 
1. Self-Evaluation 

 
1.1 Each year Local Authorities in England are required to develop a Self-Evaluation. This is to aid 

continuous improvement and is considered as part of the Inspection of Local Authority 
Children’s Services (ILACS) framework. Members have previously reviewed self-evaluations 
as part of their role in scrutinising performance. The self-evaluation is an opportunity to 
reflect on our achievements and opportunities for further development. It forms the basis 
for discussion with Ofsted in our annual engagement meeting. The self-evaluation in 
appendix 1 is not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended. 
 

1.2 The key message from our self-evaluation is that our social work practice continues to 
develop since last inspected and we continue our work to improve outcomes for children and 
young people. In summary our assessment of practice is as follows: 
 

1.3 Our organisational strengths: 
• A strong consistent leadership. 
• A tenacious committed workforce. 
• Good schools and good educational achievement by pupils. 
• Whole systems approach to corporate parenting. 
• Strong partnerships. 
• Financial support to innovate and change. 
• Good Member relationships. 
• Cross organisation working 
• Development of residential provision in response to placement sufficiency crisis. 

 
1.4 We are proud of: 
• Our child focused work, including participation and co-production. 
• Our response to migrant children and families 
• Our co-production with parents especially those with SEND. 
• Our broad range of Early Help services. 
• The work we are doing to support parents with complex trauma. 
• Our agile service developments. 
• Growing our own responsive workforce development programme. 

94



• Permanency planning with a strong number of early permanency placements and children 
in foster care who are matched with long term carers. 

• Our care leaver centre and Lifelong offer for care experienced young adults. 
 

1.5 We need to continue to: 
• Deliver accessible and joined-up services for children and families. 
• Develop further placement sufficiency to meet complex needs and maintain placement 

stability. 
• Be responsive to the needs of a changing population; including migrant families, those living 

in poverty and counter impact of disproportionality. 
• To work in and with local communities and partners to keep children safe from extra-

familial harm. 
• Respond to the increasing demand in relation to Autistic Spectrum Disorder developing 

further our multi-agency approach to support and intervention. 
• Grow our offer to further improve young people’s, including care leavers, access to 

education, employment, and training post 16 

1.6 Our future plans: 
• Continue our approach to recruitment, retention and developing our workforce. 
• Find ways to meaningfully measure the impact of innovations and service developments on 

children and families. 
• Develop internal expertise and outward-facing shared services (i.e SEND/parenting Hub). 
• Implement plans for a more responsive 24-hour Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub. 
• Build on success of Early Help for stronger team around the school approach. 
• A focus on Elected Home Education (EHE) and Children Missing Education (CME), which 

includes the work identified for EHE through task and finish groups and as a result of the 
Member scrutiny process.  

• Implement plans for community-based Autism Support Hub. 
• Implement Lifelong Links approach and develop Family of Choice conferences for our care 

experienced young people. 
• Implement innovative training options for young people who are unable to access learning by 

conventional routes. 

2. Annual Engagement Meeting  
 
1.6 On 7th November 2023 we met with colleagues from Ofsted for our Annual Engagement 

Meeting. This is an annual meeting between the Executive Director of Children’s Services and 
Senior Leaders with the link senior Ofsted advisors for social care and education. The 
meeting considers a range of information including the self-evaluation and the CHaT. There 
are also discussions about the impact of national policy changes and local contextual issues. 
 

1.7 It was a positive meeting, and our self-evaluation was well received and seen as reflective. 
The Ofsted advisors recognised that education outcomes for children in Barnet are 
consistently good or better and our sector-leading work on the development of practice and 
resources for children in areas such as participation and co-production, Early Help and 
leaving care. They confirmed the ILACS inspection will take place next year and gave advice 

95



to further strengthen the SEF including clarity on repeat contacts into the MASH; evidencing 
how our Return Home Interview processes are informing children’s plans; evidencing how 
we track the risk and impact of cumulative harm for children subject to Public Law Outline 
interventions (PLO/pre-proceedings); and tracking the impact of placement moves on 
children’s outcomes. All these areas have been strengthened and evidenced in the SEF. 

 
 

1.8 Ofsted Advisors report on the findings of the AEM and the notes are in appendix 2. 

 

3. Children’s Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Performance Report  
 

• Performance remains relatively stable across the majority of all key indicators, when 
compared to the same reporting period in the previous year and the previous six month 
period.  

• There were 10174 contacts to MASH between April – November 2023 which is 6% lower 
than the same period in the previous year (n= 10863) although is 11% higher than pre-
pandemic reporting. The multi-agency training on the refreshed Continuum of Need and 
Support may be having some impact on the volume of contacts being received into MASH 
which is steadily decreasing over time; there is an expected reduction in contacts during 
school holiday periods.  

• There were 1408 referrals to Children’s Social Care in the period April – November 2023 
which is a 5.5% increase from the 1334 reported in the previous six months, although 10% 
lower than the same period in 2022 (n= 1580) 

• There is a 7.5% reduction of Early Help Assessments (EHA) in this reporting period when 
compared to the same reporting period in 2022 (n=2030>1877). However, the volume 
remains significantly higher than the period between April – November 2019 when the 
number of open EHA’s totalled 1316.  

• The number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan is 241 in this reporting period 
which is a 17% reduction from the 293 reported in the previous six months. Children 
subject to a repeat Child Protection Plan have increased from 15% (15 families) to 22% (18 
families); analysis shows that 11 families have a 2 year+ gap between Child Protection Plans 
and there are also two families with large sibling groups.  

• The number of Children in Need in the reporting period is 1556 which is a 12% increase 
from the previous six-month reporting period (n=1386). The volume is 6% lower than  
reported in same period in the previous year (n=1661) which is reflective of the increases 
and reductions in the volume of Child Protection Plans in the same period.  

• 68% of Social Work Assessments were completed within the recommended 45-day 
timescale in the reporting period, this is a small improvement from the same time last year 
and is reflective of a period where assessments took longer to complete due to staffing 
challenges in the Duty & Assessment Teams. The timeliness of assessments is tracked 
through live data reporting available on PowerBi which shows an improvement in 
timeliness which is expected to be reported in the coming months. 93% of children were 
seen during assessment; unborn children cannot be recorded as ‘seen’ in the data.  

• 70% of s47s did not require an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC), this is being 
closely monitored by managers to ensure that s47 thresholds are applied appropriately. 

96



However, 99% of children who progress to an ICPC are made subject to a Child Protection 
Plan which demonstrates appropriate thresholds being applied for children in need of a 
Child Protection Plan to safeguard their welfare. 

• ICPC’s held within 15 days of a Strategy Discussion has improved slightly from 76% to 78%; 
an analysis of this data shows some delay has been caused by difficulties in securing 
interpreters for ICPC’s, some children being born in the intervening period and other 
children where a second Strategy Discussion has been required to collate further 
information to inform decision making.  

• During this period 110 children came into care of the Local Authority up from 82 during the 
previous period.   

• 74 children ceased to be looked after by the Local Authority, similar figure to 77 as reported 
in September.  

• 17% (19 children entering care were UASCs, up from 14% (11) during previous period.  
• Number of children in care is 374, slight increase from 342 reported in September.  
• Children looked after within our own provision remains at over a third of the total cohort 

and will increase as we increase local sufficiency. 
• Children looked after who have had a health check in the last 12 months has risen from 68% 

to 73%. 71%of children looked after have had a dental check however there are known data 
collection issues which is being addressed to ensure that our performance reporting 
improves. 

• Number of care experienced adults is at 323, again a slight increase from 319 in the last 
reporting period. 

• Our performance on staying in touch with 17-18 year olds and 19-21 year olds remains at 
100% and accommodation suitability remains high for both cohorts at 99% and 97% 
respectively. 

The children’s workforce is stabilising further following a period of recruitment challenges earlier in 
the year. A number of agency staff have been on-boarded into the permanent children’s workforce 
and continued investment in Newly Qualified Social Workers will potentially result in all currently 
agency-filled social work posts being permanently filled next year. The London Pledge continues to 
stabilise the agency market and improve quality of candidates in London with agreed notice periods 
and references for agency staff on assignment. Barnet is preparing to develop an internal social 
work Apprenticeship Scheme supported by Department of Education Employment Support fund. 
The scheme will provide career progression pathways for otherwise qualified staff working in Family 
Services.  

4. Alternative Options Considered and Not Recommended 
4.1 None. 

5. Post Decision Implementation 

5.1 None. 

6. Corporate Priorities, Performance and Other Considerations 
Corporate Parenting 

 

97



6.1. In July 2016, the Government published their Care Leavers’ strategy Keep on Caring which 
outlined that the ‘‘ [the government] will introduce a set of corporate parenting principles that 
will require all departments within a local authority to recognise their role as corporate 
parents, encouraging them to look at the services and support that they provide through the 
lens of what a reasonable parent would do to support their own children.’ 

 

6.2. The corporate parenting principles set out seven principles that local authorities must have 
regard to when exercising their functions in relation to looked after children and young 
people, as follows: 

 

• to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-being, 
of those children and young people; 

 

• to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings; 
 

• to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people; 
 

• to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, 
services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 

 

• to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children 
and young people; 

 

• for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and; 

 

• to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living 
 

Risk Management 
 

6.3  Any Family Services risks are recorded on the Family Services Risk Register and monitored each 
quarter by the Senior Leadership Team with escalations to CMT if necessary. 

 

Insight 
 

6.4  Family Services uses a comprehensive suite of performance information, as part of its self-
assessment and to support decision making and, including local and regional datasets, 
audit and financial analysis. This information is scrutinised by Senior Leaders in a variety of 
forums including Placement Board, Performance Board, MTFS Board and quarterly 
meetings with the Lead Member for Children and Families, and the Chief Executive.  

Social Value  

6.5     All commissioning activity includes social value as a standard monitoring item.  

7. Resource Implications (Finance and Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT 
and Property)  

7.1     None in the context of this report. 

8. Legal Implications and Constitution References  
8.1     Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under various legislation including 

the Children Act 1989 and Children Act 2004. They have a general duty to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children in need in their area and, if this is consistent with the child’s 
safety and welfare, to promote the upbringing of such children by their families by providing 
services appropriate to the child’s needs. They also have a duty to promote the upbringing of 
such children by their families, by providing services appropriate to the child’s needs, 

98



provided this is consistent with the child’s safety and welfare. They should do this in 
partnership with parents, in a way that is sensitive to the child’s race, religion, culture and 
language and that, where practicable, takes account of the child’s wishes and feelings. Under 
the Children and Families Act 2014, local authorities must consider how the child or young 
person can be supported to facilitate their development and to help them achieve the “best 
possible educational and other outcomes”. 

 
8.2. Local authorities have specific duties to care leavers under the Children Act 1989 as amended 

by the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The corporate parenting duties and powers under 
the 1989 Act include: 

 
• to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and well-being, 

of those children and young people; 
 

• to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings; 
 

• to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people; 
 

• to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, 
services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 

 
• to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children 

and young people; 
 

• for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 
lives, relationships and education or work; and, 

 
• to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living 

 
8.3. Under the Barnet Constitution Part 2 C, the Children & Education Overview and Scrutiny 

Sub- Committee shall perform the overview and scrutiny role and function in relation to: 
 

• All matters as that relate to Children’s Social Care 
 

• All matters which relate to services pertaining to the education and well-being of 
children and young people including youth services. 

 
▪ Receive and comment upon any external inspections and reviews. 

9. Consultation  
1.1 My Say Matters is the Family Services consultation and participation programme for children 

and young people  

10. Equalities and Diversity  
10.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty which Page 

11 of 12 requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 
 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 

 

• advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups 
 

• foster good relations between people from different groups 
 

10.2 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day business 
and keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and the delivery of 
services. 

 

99



10.3 Equalities and diversity considerations are a key element of social work practice. It is 
imperative that help and protection services for children and young people are sensitive and 
responsive to age, disability, race and ethnicity, faith or belief, sex, gender reassignment, 
language, maternity / parental status and sexual orientation. We continue to closely monitor 
this, as report appendixes notes, in our performance data. 

 
11. Background Papers 
11.1  None  

 

100



Official Sensitive#

Data to Insight is a national project commissioned by the ADCS, 

DfE and Ofsted to help local authorities make better use of data.

Children's Services Analysis Tool (ChAT) 
Based on Ofsted's ILACS Annex A dataset (2020) / Inspection Report

Barnet

07 November 2023

101



Official Sensitive#

Page 3

Page 4

Page 4

Page 5

Page 6

Page 7

Page 8

Page 22

Page 23

Page 3

Page 4

Page 21

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Page 17

Page 18

Page 12

Page 16

Page 21

Early Help in the last 6 months

Contacts in the last 6 months

Page 19

Page 13

Page 14

Page 4

Page 6

Page 7

Page 8

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Referrals in the last 6 months

Assessments in the last 6 months

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months

Children in Need (CIN) - total, started, and ceased in the last 6 months

Children in Need (CIN) with an open episode of need

ContentsChildren's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Page 20

Headline figures

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Page 12

Page 13

Page 14

Page 15

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services

Care leavers accommodation suitability and type

Care leavers activity (Education, Employment, or Training)

Page 15

Page 16

Page 20

Page 22Demographics of children across all areas of children's social care

Page 5

Page 23

Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption decision reversed in the last 12 months

Adoption benchmarking

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months

Child Protection Plans (CPP) started and ceased in the last 6 months

Child Protection Plans (CPP) currently open

Children Looked After (CLA) started and ceased in the last 6 months

Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

Children Looked After (CLA) placements

Children Looked After (CLA) health and missing/absent from placement

Comparisons of headline figures and performance data to published statistics

102

#$CA$1308
#$CA$1370
#$CA$136
#$CA$198
#$CA$1246
#$CA$998
#$CA$1060
#$CA$688
#$CA$1122
#$CA$750
#$CA$812
#$CA$198
#$CA$322
#$CA$384
#$CA$446
#$CA$502
#$CA$564
#$CA$626
#$CA$874
#$CA$936
#$CA$1184
#$CA$260


Official Sensitive#

CPP ceased in the last 6 months

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 3

Total CLA in the last 6 months 450

CLA started in the last 6 months 110

74

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months 0

Adopters

Ongoing assessments

Current children subject of a child protection plan (snapshot)

137

Contacts in the last 6 months 10,174

241

1,556

1,408

1,405

1,668

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months

Social Care Assessments

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Assessments completed in the last 6 months 1,342

1,346

Referrals in the last 6 months

Headline figures

Referrals

Early Help / Common / Targeted Assessments

Contacts

Adoptions

Care leavers

Children Looked After (CLA)

Child Protection Plans (CPP)

Section 47 enquiries and Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCS)

374

CLA ceased in the last 6 months

323

CIN started in the last 6 months

Total CPP in the last 6 months 407

CPP started in the last 6 months

Current children looked after (snapshot)

Children adopted in the last 12 months

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services

426

Total CIN in the last 6 months 2,617

Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption 

decision reversed in the last 12 months
53

Total assessments in the last 6 months

326

48

166

Early Help in the last 6 months 1,877

3

2Children with decision reversed in the last 12 months

Children waiting to be adopted (snapshot)

CIN ceased in the last 6 months

ICPCs that started from an S47 in the last 6 months 116

Current children in need (snapshot)

Children in Need (CIN)

103



Official Sensitive#

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

08/05/2023
07/11/2023

Not recorded

Early Help in the last 6 months

1877 Early Help / Common / Targeted Assessments

22%

13%
12%
15%

39%30%

0%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Not stated
Other ethnic group

from

See page 22 for comparisons
Not recorded

11%

11%Mixed
White

Contacts in the last 6 months

Not stated
Other ethnic group

to

White

Children who also appear 

on the Referrals list

Ethnic backgroundsChildren with multiple contacts in period

to

Children with multiple records in period

9%
26%

07/11/2023
08/05/2023

9%

10174 contacts

13%

12%

Organisation completing assessment

See page 22 for comparisons

Ethnic backgrounds

1%

Black or black British
Asian or Asian British

Mixed

Black or black British
Asian or Asian British

8%

Source of contacts compared to source of referrals

Referral source comparisonContact source

Age and genderAge and gender Early Help cases that also 

appear on the Referrals list

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 4

from

1,263

365 297

2 contacts 3 contacts 4 or more

30%
20%

14%
12%

9%
5%
4%
3%

2%
0%
0%
0%

Police
Health services

LA services
Schools

Other legal agency
Individual

Education services
Other

Housing
Anonymous

Unknown
Not recorded

121

12 2

2 assessments 3 assessments 4 or more

Yes No Yes No

37%

30%

27%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

0%

0%

1%

EAST Central Locality

West Locality

South Locality

Home-Start Barnet

Barnet Carers

0-19 Service

Resources for Autism

Underhill School And Children Centre

EHM -Social Care Team

BEYA

All other organisations

600 400 200 0 200 400 600

600 400 200 0 200 400 600

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

5106 Males (50%) 313 Other (not shown) (3%)

4755 Females (47%) 0-17 population estimate

100 50 0 50 100

400 200 0 200 400

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

974 Males (52%) 31 Other (not shown) (2%)

872 Females (46%) 0-17 population estimate

26%
21%

19%
14%

4%
5%
5%

4%
1%
1%
0%
0%

Police
Health services

LA services
Schools

Other legal agency
Individual

Education services
Other

Housing
Anonymous

Unknown
Not recorded

104



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

First referral
1 prev referral
2 prev referrals
3 prev referrals
4+ prev referrals
Not recorded

*"Last 6 months" calculation differs slightly from national statistics, due to data structure in Annex A

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

from

11%

167

Source of referral

08/05/2023

33%

12%

See page 22 for comparisons

Re-referrals: children with a previous referral within 12 months of their latest referral

1408 referrals Rate of referrals per 10,000 children aged 0-17

Referrals with No Further Action (NFA)

17%

12%
0%

Referrals in the last 6 months

183 children 

with previous 

referrals within 

12 months of 

latest referral

16%

to

Ethnic backgrounds

Age and gender

1,201

0
0

13%

07/11/2023

0
16

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 5

5

14

5

21

1

19

26

4

4

1

0

0

0 20 40

Individual

Schools

Education services

Health services

Housing

LA services

Police

Other legal agency

Other

Anonymous

Unknown

Not recorded

% of referrals

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20
382 392 368

423
371

300 301

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

Re-referral First referral Not recorded

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

703 Males (50%) 35 Other (not shown) (2%)

670 Females (48%) 0-17 population estimate

7

0

5

0

3

6 5

0

5

10

15

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

SNs Eng LA

22
20

19
17

18
16

13

0

5

10

15

20

25

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
ch

il
d

re
n

 r
e
fe

rr
e
d

SNs Eng LA

105



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

6%
0%

Ethnic background

116 assessments (7%) 

for children with a 

disability

toAssessments in the last 6 months

Rate of completed assessments per 10,000 children aged 0-17

68%

07/11/2023

Average duration of completed assessments was 31 working days

from

Comparing timeliness

1668 total assessments

34%

08/05/2023

Assessments completed 

where child was seen

See page 22 for comparisons

1342 completed assessments

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

20%
10%
17%

Age and gender of all assessments

Duration categories as above

Child assessed as requiring LA 

children’s social care support

93%

326 open assessments

Assessments completed in 45 working days

Durations for all completed and open assessments

13%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 6

Child seen Not seen

Unknown

In time Not in time Date error

Last 6 months

LA 19-20

SNs 19-20

Eng 19-20

45 working days

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 15 30 45 60 75 90 105 120+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

a
ss

e
ss

m
e
n

ts

Working days for all completed and ongoing assessments

100 80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80 100

100 50 0 50 100

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

849 Males (51%) 31 Other (not shown) (2%)

788 Females (47%) 0-17 population estimate

450 467 473 471
395

328
287

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

89
80

90

66

88 84

68

0

20

40

60

80

100

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 a

ss
e
ss

m
e
n

ts

SNs Eng LA

7

26

9

8

13

6

8

14

10

0

0 20 40

Same day

1-10 days

11-20 days

21-30 days

31-40 days

41-45 days

46-50 days

51-60 days

61+ days

Date error

% assessments

Last 6 months LA 19-20

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

62%

36%

2%

Yes

No

Not recorded

106



Official Sensitive#

*Including where latest S47 did not result in ICPC

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F *Annualised rate for comparison purposes

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Trend of ICPC timeliness (within 15 days of S47 start)

08/05/2023

70%

19%
9%
5%
0%

2 child(ren) with a repeat ICPC 

within 12 months of latest Section 

47*

Section 47 enquiries in the last 6 months from

See page 22 for comparisons

of completed S47s did not require an ICPC

Rate of ICPCs per 10,000 children aged 0-17

to 07/11/2023

Comparing ICPC durations

116 Initial Child Protection Conferences (from S47 in period)

ICPC not required may include S47s for open CPP where ICPC 

was not required, and may exclude children where an ICPC 

was required but has not yet occurred 

of ICPCs resulted in a child 

protection plan

78%

Page 7

426 Section 47 enquiries

Age and gender

Rate of S47 enquiries per 10,000 children aged 0-17

25 S47s (6%) for children with a disability

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Children with a repeat S47 

within 12 months of latest
Ethnic background

37%
20%
10%

99%

ICPCs occurred within 15 working days of the strategy discussion date

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

304

54

7

5

No prev S47

1 prev S47

2+ prev S47

Not recorded

In time

Not in time

Date error

21

29

16

12

58

51

66

65

8

5

8

9

14

15

12

13

Last 6 months

LA 19-20

SNs 19-20

Eng 19-20

% of ICPCs

0-10 days 11-15 days 16-20 days

21+ days Date error

15 working days

0

10

20

30

40

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

IC
P

C
s

Working days

30 20 10 0 10 20 30

30 20 10 0 10 20 30

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

205 Males (48%) 8 Other (not shown) (2%)

213 Females (50%) 0-17 population estimate

96 106 101 108
83 80 91

0

50

100

150

200

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

35 39 35 31 31 27 25

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

67
76 70 65

83 80 78

0

20

40

60

80

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months

%
 o

f 
IC

P
C

s

SNs Eng LA

107



Official Sensitive#

#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes

374 14%

Children in Need (CIN) - total, started, and ceased in the last 6 months

0%

Closed episode

Open assessment

Looked after child

from

Rate of children who started an episode of need per 10,000 children aged 0-17

Comparing CIN ceased durations Comparing CIN ceased reasons

2617 total CIN in 6 months*

Cases included in Annex A / ChAT

Case status not recorded

Case status of children on CIN list

Page 8

to 07/11/2023

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

08/05/2023

0

1346 CIN ceased in 6 months

1405 CIN started in 6 months

PercentageNumber

*Note: the numbers of children in need reported in ChAT are not 

directly comparable to published CIN census statistics due to an 

undercount of referrals and care leavers.

241 9%

330 13%

326 12%

1,346 51%

Rate of children who ended an episode of need per 10,000 children aged 0-17

Child in need plan

Child protection plan

Total (excluding case status unknown) 2,617 100%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

254 297 250
340

268 218
300

0

200

400

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

262 249 268
307

267
212

287

0

100

200

300

400

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

31

15

16

19

20

0

0 20 40 60 80

0 > 3months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

% ceased CIN

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.4

5.2

0.1

94

0 20 40 60 80 100

Missing / unknown

Adopted

Died

Residence Order

SGO

Transfer to other LA

Transfer to ASC

Not in need after…

% ceased CIN

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

108



Official Sensitive#

'Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded
See page 22 for comparisons

19%

13%

Page 9

17%

160 children (10%) with a disability

CIN with an open episode of need with a disability

Ethnic background

Comparing primary need of open CIN

6%

Children in Need (CIN) with an open episode of need

Rate of open CIN per 10,000 children aged 0-17*

*Note: Annex A figures in this section are not directly comparable to the published Children in need census statistics (see note on page 8)

10%

Comparing episode duration of open CIN

Snapshot 07/11/2023

0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

1556 Children in Need with an open episode of need*

Age and gender

Time since the child's latest social worker visit

35%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

57%

23%

5%

7%

3%

5%

0%

In the last 6 weeks

6 - 12 weeks ago

12 - 18 weeks ago

18 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CIN<1month)

No visit (CIN 1+month)

Date error

31

15 16
19 20

0
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

0 > 3

months

3 >= 6

months

6 months

> 1 year

1 year > 2

years

2+ years Error

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
IN

Latest snapshot LA 19-20

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

150 100 50 0 50 100 150

120 100 80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80 100 120

0

5

10

15

Age 20+

833 Males (54%) 22 Other (not shown) (1%)

701 Females (45%) 0-17 population estimate

17

13 14 15
12 11 10

0

10

20

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
IN

SNs Eng LA

205
238

206
230

207 198
166

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

61

8

1

10

7

2

0

5

5

0

0 50 100

Abuse or neglect

Child's disability or illness

Parent's disability or illness

Family in acute stress

Family dysfunction

Socially unacceptable

behaviour

Low income

Absent parenting

Cases other than CiN

Not Stated / Code error

% open CIN

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

109



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes *Annualised rate for comparison purposes

166 CPP ended in 6 months137 CPP started in 6 months

Page 10Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Child Protection Plans (CPP) started and ceased in the last 6 months from 08/05/2023

to 07/11/2023

Comparing re-registrations for CPP started

Initial category of abuse for CPP started

22%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Rate of children who started a CP plan per 10,000 children Rate of children who ended a CP plan per 10,000 children

Re-registrations for children who started on a CP plan (ever) Comparing plan durations for CPP ended

30 of the 137 children who 

started a plan in the period have 

been the subject of a previous 

child protection plan

4 of 166 children ended a CP plan after 2 years or more

Re-registration

No previous plan

31 35 29 27 27 22
29

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

28 31
37

29 26 23

35

0

20

40

60

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

15 17
11 10 9 12

22

0

10

20

30

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Last 6

months%
 C

P
P

 s
ta

rt
e
d

SNs Eng LA

16

17

69

32

4

0

0 20 40 60 80

Less than 3 months

3 to 6 months

6 months to 1 year

1 to 2 years

2 or more years

Date error

% CPP ceased

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

52

12
6

30

0 0
0

20

40

60

Neglect Physical

Abuse

Sexual Abuse Emotional

Abuse

Multiple Not recorded

%
 C

P
P

 s
ta

rt
e
d

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

110



Official Sensitive#

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Latest category of abuse for current CP plans

Open CPP seen 

alone at their last 

social work visit
(excludes Not recorded or N/A)

Ethnic background

34%
28%
9%

Rate of CPP per 10,000 children aged 0-17 

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 11

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

12%

50%

Duration of current open CP plans (in months)

See page 20 for comparisons

Time since the child was last seen

Child Protection Plans (CPP) currently open Snapshot

19 children (8%) 

with a disability

7 open CP subject to 

Emergency Protection Order 

or Protected Under Police 

Powers in last 6 months

16%
1%
0%

Comparing duration of open CP plans

07/11/2023

241 children currently subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP)

Age and gender

Time since the child's latest review

90%

7%

1%

1%

0%

0%

0%

In the last 4 weeks

4 - 8 weeks ago

8 - 12 weeks ago

12 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CPP<1month)

No visit (CPP 1+month)

Date error

Yes

No

2 years

0

10

20

30

40

50

0 6 12 18 24 30 36 42 48+

N
o

. 
o

p
e
n

 C
P

P

Months

20 15 10 5 0 5 10 15 20

20 10 0 10 20

0

5

10

15

Aged 20+

129 Males (54%) 5 Other (not shown) (2%)

107 Females (44%) 0-17 population estimate

27
30

22
18 18 17

26

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Latest

(ChAT)

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

28

22

24

20

5

0

0 10 20 30 40

0 > 3months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

% open CPP

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

54

12
5

29

0 0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Neglect Physical

Abuse

Sexual

Abuse

Emotional

Abuse

Multiple Not

recorded

%
 o

p
e
n

 C
P

P

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

47%

33%

13%

5%

0%

2%

0%

0%

a) 0 > 3 months

3 > 6 months

6 > 9 months

9 > 12 months

1 year or more

No review (New CPP <3months)

No review (CPP 3+ month)

Date error

111



Official Sensitive#

*Annualised rate for comparison purposes Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F *Annualised rate for comparison purposes Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

Children Looked After (CLA) started and ceased in the last 6 months
08/05/2023
07/11/2023

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 12

3%

Reason episode of care ceased

12%

9% 3% 19% -

from

Last 6 

months

2018-19 (published)
LA SNs Eng

9 of the 110 CLA 

starters have 

previously been 

looked after

to

Comparing the primary need of CLA starters

110 CLA started in the last 6 months 74 CLA ceased in the last 6 months

Rate of CLA started per 10,000 children Age and gender Age and gender

17%

2018-19 (published)

Special Guardianship Order

Last 6 

months Eng
8%
SNs

9%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

LA

Adopted

3%

8%

7%

Rate of CLA ceased per 10,000 children 

19 of the 110 CLA starters 

were unaccompanied 

asylum seeking children 

(UASC)

2

0

3

16

0

1

7

19

3

0

1

0

0

17

5

Adopted

Died

Care taken by another LA

Returned home to live with parents/ relatives

Live with parents/relatives (not PR)

Residence order granted

Special Guardianship Orders

Moved into independent living

Transferred to residential care funded by ASS

Sentenced to custody

Accommodation on remand ended

Age assessment determined child was 18+

Child moved abroad

Any other reason

Not recorded / Error

Number of CLA  ceased by reason in the period

20 10 0 10 20

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

45 Males (41%) 46 Females (42%)

18 UASC M (16%) 1 UASC F (1%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

30 20 10 0 10 20 30

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

32 Males (43%) 30 Females (41%)

12 UASC M (16%) 0 UASC F (0%)

 Other (not shown) (0%)

20 20
23

19
17

20

23

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Last

6ms*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

21
20 19 20 19 19

16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

'14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 '18-19 '19-20 Last

6ms*

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

55

0 1

17

4 6
0

17

0
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

%
 o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

Last 6 months LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

112



Official Sensitive#

White Return to family
Mixed Adoption
Asian or Asian British SGO/CAO
Black or black British Supported living
Other ethnic group L/T residential
Not stated L/T fostering
Not recorded Other

Not recorded

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

0%

0%
0%

0% 0%

Time since the child was last seen

0%

Number

0 0%

9% 3% 37%

11% 13%

15%

Not UASC UASC

38%

6%

45% 7%

0%

0

45%

Snapshot

374 Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

0%
0%

Time since latest review

0
0

40 children 

(11%) with a 

disability

See page 22 for comparisons

71 open unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC)

8%

Rate of CLA per 10,000 children (snapshot) Ethnic background

25% 30%

4%

Permanence plan

%

0
0
0

1%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

0 0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 13

Comparing legal status of open CLA (snapshot)

All CLA

07/11/2023Children Looked After (CLA) with an open episode of care

2% 1%

Age and gender

UASC as a percentage of CLA (snapshot)

37%

36%

20%

6%

1%

0%

0%

0%

a) 0 > 3 months

b) 3 > 6 months

c) 6 > 9 months

d) 9 > 12 months

e) 1 year or more

No review (New CLA…

No review (CLA 1+ month)

Date error

34%

40%

10%

3%

0%

In the last 6 weeks

6 - 12 weeks ago

12 - 18 weeks ago

18 or more weeks ago

No visit (New CLA<1month)

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

80 60 40 20 0 20 40 60 80

Age 0

5

10

15

Age 20+

160 Males (43%) 69 UASC Males (18%)

143 Females (38%) 2 UASC Females (1%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%) 0-17 population estimate

34 35 38 37 34 35
40

0

20

40

60

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

SNs Eng LA

3
6 9

20 21 20 19

0

10

20

30

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

20

32

0

0

40

0

3

0

0 20 40 60 80

Interim care order

Full care order

Freed for adoption

Placement order granted

Accommodated under S20

Detained on CP grounds in

LA accommodation

Youth justice legal status

Not recorded / code error

% open CLA

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

113



Official Sensitive#

Placement type (open CLA)

Foster placement

Placed for adoption

Placed with parents

Independent living

Residential employment

Residential accommodation

Secure Children’s Homes

Children’s Homes

Residential Care Home

NHS/Health Trust

Family Centre

Young Offender Institution

Residential school

Other placements

Temporary placement

Total placements

Due to limited data in the Annex A dataset, ChAT does not present 

short-term stability alongside published statistics

Snapshot 07/11/2023

Total

Eng 2018-19
41%SNs 2018-19

Foster placements Own provision

34%

Children Looked After (CLA) placements
Number of placements in the last 12 months

Comparing short term placement stability

Page 14Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

LA 2018-19 47%LA 2018-19 65%

Comparing long term placement stability

128

11

Duration of latest placement for each current CLA aged under 16 who have been looked after for 2½ years or more
0

Comparing long term placement stability
0

0

Due to limited data in the Annex A dataset, ChAT does not present 

long-term stability alongside published statistics

Eng 2018-19

0 0 0

12

72%

2212112107

1 0

0

7 8

2 2

0 0 0

0 0

65

6

8

Own LA Private Other

0

0 38

0

0

0 0

00 11

0

0

CLA placements out of borough

1

0

2

225 21 374

6 0

0

30

8 8

0

0

Duration of placements

1

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

0 0 0 0

50%
SNs 2018-19 70%

0 0 0

CLA placements by type and provision

59%

1 78

230

92

29

12

5

1

0

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7+

Not recorded

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
la

ce
m

e
n

ts

Foster

placements

Other

placements

Not recorded

Own

provision

Other

provision

Not recorded

8

3

7

19

34

0

0 > 3 months

3 >= 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 2 years

2+ years

Date error

59 61 62 63 62 63

51

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest snapshot

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

12 12 12
11

12

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

56

74
67 70 67

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

114



Official Sensitive#

Number of all CLA with a missing incident
Percentage of all CLA with a missing incident
Total number of missing incidents for all CLA
Average number of incidents per CLA who went missing

Missing children offered return interview
Missing children not offered return interview
Missing children return interview offer not recorded
Missing children where return interview was n/a

Missing children accepted return interview
Missing children not accepted return interview
Missing children return interview acceptance not recorded

Number of all CLA with an absent incident
Percentage of all CLA with an absent incident
Total number of absent incidents for all CLA
Average number of incidents per CLA who were absent

16%

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

who have had a dental check in the 

last 12 months.

29 of 83

SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

SNs 19-20

7.5
624

11%
83 of 450

51
3%

0 of 83

0 of 450 looked after children had an absent incident in the last 12 months

10%

4.0

35%

50%

73%

83 of 450 looked after children had a missing incident in the last 12 months

Page 15

Number of missing episodes per CLA

Children Looked After (CLA) health and missing/absent from placement Snapshot

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

with an up to date health 

assessment (in the last 6 months for 

CLA aged under 5, and in the last 

12 months for CLA aged 5-plus)

Eng 19-20

4.0

7%

LA 19-20

18%

6.7
542

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

0%

Dental checks

218 current open CLA looked after for at least 12 months

Missing incidents - return home interviews

12 of 49

49 of 83

Latest data

Absent from placement

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

59%

Latest data

11 of 49

Health assessments

07/11/2023

4.7
240

-

24%

13%

26 of 49

0

Missing from placementHealth

6.5

Latest data

6.4

0%
5 of 83 6%

53%

81

Latest data LA 19-20
0 of 450

22%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
L
A

97 99 97 98 100 94
73

0

50

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

89 91 81 86 78 79

50

0
20
40
60
80

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

59%
53%

Offered RHI  Accepted RHI

115



Official Sensitive#

White
Mixed ChAT
Asian or Asian British Numbers in cohort
Black or black British LA in touch with YP
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F

Relevant
Former relevant
Qualifying
Other
Not recorded

ChAT
Numbers in cohort
LA in touch with YP

Aged 21

LA in touch with 19-21 year olds

50

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

0

Aged 18

309

See page 22 for comparisons

Ethnic background

27%
11%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

100% 100%

17 (5%) care leavers with a 

disability

0

Aged 17 Aged 18 Total
62

Remain with former foster carer

Total

100%

200
Aged 19 Aged 20

10% 62

Age and gender

0

75

29%

Page 16

0%
0%

Care leavers currently in receipt of leaving care services Snapshot 07/11/2023

Eligibility category

100%

100%

323 care leavers

100%

LA in touch with 17-18 year olds

-20%

75

100%

Remained in care until aged 18
YP who ceased to be looked after aged 16-plus who were 

looked after until their 18th birthday

Aged 19-20

1

100%

Relevant = YP aged 16-17 no longer looked after 

and eligible for leaving care services.

Former relevant = YP aged 18-25 eligible for 

leaving care services.

Qualifying = YP aged 18-25 in receipt of support 

but not eligible for full leaving care services.

1

100 50 0 50 100

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

Age 25

215 Males (67%) 95 Females (29%)

13 Other (not shown) (4%)

68 67 69
81

87 86
79

0

20

40

60

80

100

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 o

f 
Y

P

SNs Eng LA

In touch

Not in touch

Not recorded

89 88

96

100

80

85

90

95

100

105

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8

SNs Eng LA

In touch

Not in touch

Not recorded

85 85 84 89
100

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

0

44
63 72

56 53
65

4951 55 57 58

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

LA SNs Eng

17
29 26 27

9

23
33 3025 26 26 28

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

LA SNs Eng

116



Official Sensitive#

ChAT ChAT
Numbers in cohort Numbers in cohort
In suitable accommodation In suitable accommodation

98%

Aged 18

98%
62 620

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

75

Snapshot

Aged 20

07/11/2023

98%

Aged 17

97%

Accommodation types of 17-18 year olds

Aged 21 Total
50

97%
75

Page 17

Aged 19

Accommodation types of 19-21 year olds

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

200

Accommodation suitability of 19-21 year olds

95%-

Care leavers accommodation suitability and type

95%

95%

Total

Accommodation suitability of 17-18 year olds

Suitable accom

Not suitable

No information

85
88

93
95 95

75

80

85

90

95

100

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8
SNs Eng LA

2

0

23

8

0

0

0

0

0

2

45

5

0

5

5

5

2

0 10 20 30 40 50

With parents or relatives

Community home

Semi-independent transitional

Supported lodgings

Gone abroad

Deported

Ordinary lodgings

Residence not known

No fixed abode / homeless

Foyers

Independent living

Emergency accommodation

Bed and breakfast

In custody

With Former Foster Carer

Other accommodation

LA does not have information

% 17-18 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

Suitable accom

Not suitable

No information

84 81 82 86
98

0

50

100

150

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

4

0

4

1

0

0

0

0

0

2

81

1

0

3

6

1

0

0 20 40 60 80 100

With parents or relatives

Community home

Semi-independent transitional

Supported lodgings

Gone abroad

Deported

Ordinary lodgings

Residence not known

No fixed abode / homeless

Foyers

Independent living

Emergency accommodation

Bed and breakfast

In custody

 With Former Foster Carer

Other accommodation

LA does not have information

% 19-21 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

117



Official Sensitive#

ChAT ChAT
Numbers in cohort Numbers in cohort
In EET In EET

75

Education, Employment, or Training (EET) of 19-21 year olds

07/11/2023

Education, Employment, or Training (EET) of 17-18 year olds

Activity types of 17-18 year olds

79% 81%

80%

62

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Aged 18
62 2000

Care leavers activity (Education, Employment, or Training)

Page 18

75

Snapshot

73%
50

80%73%

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Activity types of 19-21 year olds

73%

Aged 17 Total Aged 19 Aged 20 Aged 21 Total

- 78%

YP in EET NEET

No info

52
59 61

67
73

0

20

40

60

80

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

7
-1

8

SNs Eng LA

11

56

5

8

19

0

0

73

27

0

0 20 40 60 80

Higher education (EET)

Education other than higher (EET)

Training / employment (EET)

Illness / disability (NEET)

Other (NEET)

Pregnancy / parenting (NEET)

LA does not have information

EET total

NEET total

LA does not have information

% 17-18 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

8

48

25

7

13

2

80

21

0

0 20 40 60 80 100

Higher education (EET)

Education other than higher (EET)

Training / employment (EET)

Illness / disability (NEET)

Other (NEET)

Pregnancy / parenting (NEET)

EET total

NEET total

LA does not have information

% 19-21 year olds

Latest snapshot LA 19-20 SNs 19-20 Eng 19-20

YP in EET NEET

No info

49
44

56
48

80

0

20

40

60

80

100

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
Y

P
 1

9
-2

1

SNs Eng LA

118



Official Sensitive#

Child/ren adopted last 12 months
Child/ren waiting to be adopted
Child/ren waiting with placement order)
Child/ren with decision reversed

White
Mixed LA last 6 months
Asian or Asian British LA 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Black or black British SNs 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Other ethnic group Other' includes not recorded, not stated, or neither M/F Eng 2013-16 (3 yr average)
Not stated
Not recorded

Matching child and prospective adopters

Average duration of each stage (number of days)

Children aged 5-plus who were adopted

Ethnic background

48

Stage 2

Age and gender

Children ceased who were adopted

2 0 of the 61 children aged 5-plus who 

ceased to be looked after in the last 6 

months were adopted

Of the 74 children who ceased to be looked after in the last 6 

months, 2 was/were adopted (3%)

Adoption order granted

4%
0%

6%
4%

87%
Comparing 5-plus adoptions

Stage 1

(13

53 children

3

2.0%

See page 22 for comparisons

to 07/11/2023Children adopted, waiting to be adopted, or had an adoption decision reversed in the last 12 months

Placement order granted

Child entered care

Page 19

5.0%
5.0%

08/11/2022

0%
0%

0.0%

Decision that child should be placed for 

adoption

Stage 3

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT)

Timeliness of each stage of the adoption process

Stage 5

Range in days between shortest and longest cases at each stage

Stage 6

Stage 4

Placed for adoption

from

0 children (0%) with a disability

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

0%

15 10 5 0 5 10

0

5

10

15

Age 20+

30 Males (56%) 24 Females (44%)

0 Other (not shown) (0%)

0 0 0 0 0 0
0

0

0

1

1

1

Stage 1 to 2

(0 children)

Stage 2 to 3

(0 children)

Stage 3 to 4

(0 children)

Stage 4 to 5

(0 children)

Stage 5 to 6

(0 children)

Stage 1 to 5

(0 children)

a
v
e
ra

g
e
 d

a
y
s

Average days

0 0 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0

Stage 1 to 2

(0 children)

Stage 2 to 3

(0 children)

Stage 3 to 4

(0 children)

Stage 4 to 5

(0 children)

Stage 5 to 6

(0 children)

Stage 1 to 5

(0 children)

Longest 
case

Shortest 
case

9
6 5

7 7

12

3

0

5

10

15

20

'14-

15

'15-

16

'16-

17

'17-

18

'18-

19

'19-

20

Last

6ms

%
 C

L
A

 c
e
a
se

d

SNs Eng LA

119



Official Sensitive#

Average number of days between entering care and moving in with 

adoptive family for adopted children (adjusted for foster carer adoptions)

2/53 children

Last 12 months

4% Children where there was a decision that the child should no longer be 

placed for adoption

(A5) Permanence decision changed away from adoption 

n/a n/a

31/51 children

Last 12 months

(A2) Time between placement order and deciding on a match

3 year average

Adoption benchmarking
08/11/2022
07/11/2023

61% Children placed who waited less than the threshold between entering care 

and being placed for adoption (threshold: 14 months for 2013-16)

3 year average

The average number of days from the date of the placement order to the 

date the child was matched to prospective adopters0 children

3 year average

(A3) Time between entering care and placed for adoption

to

3 year average

Last 12 months

3 children

from

Last 12 months

(A10) Time between entering care and placed with family for adopted children

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 20

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

0

0

0

0

0

0 > 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 1½ years

1½ years > 2 years

2+ years

0

0

0

0

0

0 > 6 months

6 months > 1 year

1 year > 1½ years

1½ years > 2 years

2+ years

0

0

0

0

Child’s needs changed

Court did not make a PO

Prospective adopters

cannot be found

Any other reason

14 

months

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

0 12 24 36 48 60+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

ch
il
d

re
n

Duration to be placed  in months

506

416 428 423

534

0

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

A
ve

ra
g

e
 d

a
y
s

SNs Eng LA

140
154

172 180
163

0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

A
ve

ra
g

e
 d

a
y
s

SNs Eng LA

51
57

46
51

37

61

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

%
 c

h
il
d

re
n

SNs Eng LA

34
38

26

17

0
4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

%
 c

h
il
d

re
n

SNs Eng LA

120



Official Sensitive#

Child adopted
Child placed
Child matched
Application
Enquiry
Withdrawn

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or black British
Other ethnic group
Not stated
Not recorded

from

0
0
0

Adoption Scorecard A15 - new ADM decisions

0 0

0 prospective adopters (0 families)

Families

0
0

Stage 2 start

Stage 2 end

Prospective adopters in the last 12 months

Adults

Adoption Scorecard A12 - wait to be matched

Stage 1 start

Stage 1 end

Registration of interest

Range in days between shortest and longest cases at each stage

#######
to #######

Ethnic breakdown

Adults %

Prospective adopter current status

0
0
0

Placed

Family matched with child(ren)

Child(ren) placed with family

Adoption order granted

Matched

Agency Decision-Maker (ADM decision

#DIV/0!

Adopted

Duration of each stage of the adoption process

Average duration of each stage (number of days)

Percentage of adoptive families matched to a child who waited more 

than three months between approval and matching

Decision of suitability to adopt

Adopter's wish to proceed

#DIV/0! 0%
0%

New two-stage adoption process

87%
#DIV/0! 6%
#DIV/0! 4%
#DIV/0!

Number of new ADM decisions for children in the year

(ADM = Agency Decision-Maker)

4%
#DIV/0!

0
0

0%

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 21

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Children %
#DIV/0!

0 0 0 0
0

0

0

1

1

1

Application

(0 families)

Decision to Match

(0 families)

Match to Placed

(0 families)

Placed to Adopted

(0 families)

a
v
e
ra

g
e
 d

a
y
s

0 0 0 00 0 0 0

Application

(0 families)

Decision to Match

(0 families)

Match to Placed

(0 families)

Placed to Adopted

(0 families)

50

69 69
64

70

0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

'13-14 '14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 Last 12

months

%
 f

a
m

il
ie

s

SNs Eng LA

35

10 10

15

0 0

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

'13-14 '14-15 '15-16 '16-17 '17-18 Last 12

months

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

fa
m

il
ie

s

DATA NOW HELD BY THE REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY

121



Official Sensitive#

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

White

Under 1

Eng 2020

ChAT* compared to mid-year population estimates (ONS-2019)

*percentage of Male / Female genders only, excludes Other

Female

Male

6

13

11

53

% difference

1

Pop

lower -31%

higher 4%

CLA

10

no dif 0%

6

4 12

74

Mixed 22

higher 36%

% difference% differencePop

07/11/2023

Gender

Comparing CLA demographics

higher 1048%

74

13

CLA

Eng 2020

CLA Pop

Male

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

Pop

56

CLA

lower -18%

10

4

CLA % difference

51 higher 9%

29 lower -39%

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

5 to 9

10

39

49

16

lower -10%49

higher 18%

Gender

16-plus 37

10 to 15

Pop

59

higher 270% 24

22

CLA % difference

5 5

Black

ChAT* compared to pupils in the LA schools  (Jan-20)

*percentage of known ethnicity only

ChAT* compared to mid-year population estimates (ONS-2019)

*percentage of known age only

Asian

1 to 4    

5

% difference

Age

10 to 15  

5 lower -4%

51

35 33 higher 7%

39

5 to 9    

CLA figures compared to published population statistics

White

6 lower -54%

041

53

12

Mixed

Ethnicity

Snapshot

Asian 9 lower -65%

lower -26%

lower -20%

15

18

Female 39 49

30 lower -47% 13

44

30 lower -56%

10

higher 59%

41

LA Latest snapshot LA 2020

10

CLA Pop % difference

% difference

61 51

23

higher 285%

lower -16%

11

16

39

33

Pop

11

lower -3%

higher 21%

higher 139%

higher 15%

25

lower -28%

11

36

Under 1

CLA Pop

1 to 4 14 23 lower -40% lower -37%14

higher 104%higher 130%

higher 19%

16 and overOther
lower -11%

15 higher 769%

33

Eng 2020

29

Black 7

Other higher 955%

% difference

5

Pop

Age

CLA

Ethnicity

Demographics of children across all areas of children's social care

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 22

lower -56%

17.6% 16.6% 19.1% 17.7% 19.5% 17.7%
12.6% 11.7%

20.3%

3.8%
School pupils, 

11%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

12.9% 12.5% 13.6% 13.9% 9.4% 14.0% 15.9% 15.0%

30.2%

0.0% School pupils, 

1%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

12.4% 13.5% 11.9% 10.6% 10.8% 10.7% 9.2% 9.3% 10.0%

3.8%

School pupils, 

13%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

15.6% 14.3%
17.9% 21.1% 21.4% 20.7%

28.0% 25.3%

11.9%
5.7% School pupils, 

11%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

41.5% 43.0% 37.6% 36.7% 38.9% 37.0% 34.3% 38.7% 27.7%

86.8%

School pupils, 

53%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

 l
e
a
ve

rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

16.3% 16.7% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 14.7% 18.7% 13.6%

61.9%

Mid-year 

population, 

23%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

5.1% 4.5%
7.0% 7.6% 8.5%

6.1%

13.7%

4.3%

11.9%

Mid-year 

population, 5%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

52% 53% 51% 52% 49% 54% 55% 61% 69%
55% Mid-year 

population, 

51%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

le
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

48% 47% 49% 48% 51% 46% 45% 39%
31%

45% Mid-year 

population, 

49%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

C
a
re

le
a
v
e
rs

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

24.5% 27.9% 25.1% 25.5% 28.4% 23.8%
30.7%

15.8%
26.2%

Mid-year 

population, 

30%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

38.1% 38.5% 35.6% 36.7% 32.6% 34.4% 32.4% 28.9%

0.0%

Mid-year 

population, 

33%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

16.0% 12.4%
17.3% 15.2% 15.5%

21.1%

4.6%

37.4%

0.0%

Mid-year 

population, 

10%

C
o

n
ta

ct
s

E
a
rl

y
 H

e
lp

R
e
fe

rr
a
ls

A
ss

e
ss

-

m
e
n

ts

S
4
7
s

O
p

e
n

 C
IN

O
p

e
n

 C
P

P

O
p

e
n

 C
L
A

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
s

122



Official Sensitive#

Decreasing, low is good  Lowest 25% quartile, low is good 

Increasing, high is good  Highest 25% quartile, high is good 

No change, not RAG rated Mid 50% range, not RAG-rated

Referrals received (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Referrals to social care that were within 12 months of a previous referral (%)  

Assessments completed (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Assessments completed within 45 working days (%) 

Children subject to section 47 enquiries (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Children subject of an initial child protection conference (annual rate per 10,000 of children)  

Initial Child Protection Conferences held within 15 working days of the start of the section 47 enquiry (%) 

Children in need (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children who are the subject of a child protection plan (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children who became the subject of a CP plan for a second or subsequent time (%)  

Children who ceased to be on a CP plan whose plan lasted 2 years or more (%) # # 

Children who are looked after (snapshot rate per 10,000 children)  

Children looked after who had a missing incident in the period (%)  

Children looked after who were away without authorisation in the period (%)  

Children looked after who had their teeth checked by a dentist in the last 12 months (%)  

Children looked after who had their annual health assessment (%) 

Children who ceased to be looked after in the period who were adopted (%) 

Children who ceased to be looked after in the period due to a Special Guardianship Order (%) # # 

Children leaving care over the age of 16 who remained looked after until their 18th birthday (%) 

Care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation (%) 

Care leavers aged 19-21 in education, employment, or training (%) 

A1 - Average time between entering care and moving in with family for children who were adopted (days) 

A2 - Average time between LA receiving placement order and LA deciding on a match with family (days) 













163 242 201 In range

98 Increase 86

Lower

In range

Decrease

94

Date

300

LA compared to mid-50% 

range of all LAs

85 In range

93

79

- -

In range

73 90 In range

3

89 86

Decrease

12 11 12

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

2015-18

- Higher 2019-20

- - 576 577 486 Higher 2015-18

Decrease 86 90 79

Decrease

In range 2019-20

84

Increase

- -

2019-20

5380 48

50

9 -

2019-20

Increase

Higher 2019-20

2019-20Decrease

Decrease

Lower

55 64 LowerDecrease 27

53

10

22

Increase

80 83

17 37 43

78

2019-20

324

167

2019-20

79

Lower

c

Decrease

0

328 537

84

166

3

Higher

Lower

12

2019-20

Increase 16

2019-207

35 2019-20

2019-20

45 67 Lower

13 11

40

317 2019-20

78

Decrease 198

5

2019-20

Higher

-

18

Lower287

Increase

68

LA

Latest data (ChAT)

535

LA

13

531

Decrease

Decrease

In range 

554

SNs EngDirection of travel

2019-20

In range

4

2019-20

26

20

Lower

4

25

Lower

Latest published statistics for all local authorities

Increase

2019-20

8484 2019-20



16 19 21 Lower

22

301

Increase 8091 157

Indicator

The table below shows the Local Authority's latest data for 

each indicator as calculated in ChAT, and the direction of 

travel since the latest published statistics (where available).

Comparisons of headline figures and performance data to published statistics

ChAT v6.0 - Data to Insight

Children's services Analysis Tool (ChAT) Page 23

123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

125

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

129

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the last meeting
	Children and Education Committee Actions Log 2024-25

	7 Safeguarding Children in Barnet
	1.	WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED
	1.1	In line with government guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, local Safeguarding Children Partnerships must publish an annual report on the effectiveness of their work to promote safeguarding and the welfare of children and young people.
	1.2	The Committee is asked to scrutinise the Barnet Safeguarding Children Partnership (BSCP) annual report and provide feedback. The annual report is a statutory requirement of the partnership. Officers from the partnership will be present to answer questions.
	2.	STRATEGIC CONTEXT
	BSCP annual report
	2.1	The annual report sets out what BSCP has achieved over the period September 2022-September 2023 and how the Partnership has worked to deliver the locally agreed six strategic priorities:
		Strengthening leadership and partnership
		Tailoring our work to local specific issues
		Driving continuous improvement to safeguarding practice
		Responding to serious safeguarding cases effectively
		Creating a strong feedback loop with children, families & practitioners
		Measuring & evidencing the impact of our work
	2.2	It sets out the impact that the Partnership has made in continually improving the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements within the borough and identifies areas of safeguarding practice that all Partners are focussed on tackling.  It also provides an overview of progress made against the Partnership’s shared safeguarding themes of: Safer Sleeping, tackling Female Genital Mutilation, promoting Family Networks and working together to address cross-Partnership challenges in the recruitment and retention of staff.  The annual report includes contributions from all Partners.
	2.3	Our independent scrutineers visit BSCP once per year to scrutinise and gauge the effectiveness of our multi agency safeguarding arrangements and publish a report outlining their findings for the Partnership to consider. Previous reports can be found here . Our scrutineers have previously noted that our annual reports reflected guidance published by the institute What Works for Childrens Social Care  which outlines what areas an effective annual report should cover. The Partnership will welcome independent scrutineers once more from week commencing 22nd January 2024
	3.	REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
	3.1	The annual report needs to be developed and published in line with statutory requirements for local Safeguarding Children Partnerships. The scrutiny sub committee need to scrutinise the report as part of their yearly cycle of deep dives.
	4.	ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED
	5.	POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION
	5.1	As a multi-agency report by the three statutory partners, the annual report will be submitted to the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel (‘The Panel’) and What Works for Childrens Social Care (also known as the Early Intervention Foundation). This is line with guidance published by the Panel.
	5.2	The annual report will be published online here in due course.
	6.	IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION
	6.1	The Corporate Plan
	6.1.1	Our Plan for Barnet 2023-26 is centred around being a council that cares for people, our places, and the planet. Being a Family Friendly borough is a key driver of our corporate planning with the vision of “Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our children and young people to achieve their best”. Family Friendly Barnet consists of:
	• Family and Belonging - families and children can be together and be part of a community that encourages resilience.
	• Safe and Secure – children and young people are safe protected from harm.
	• Education and learning – Children and young people can learn about the world around them.
	• Life Chances – children and young people are able to succeed.
	• Health and wellbeing – children are supported to achieve a healthy start in life, enjoy a healthy lifestyle and to build resilience.
	6.2	Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, Sustainability)
	6.3	Social Value
	6.3.1	The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public services to think about how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits.
	6.3.2	Protecting children from abuse and neglect has clear social value and is at the core of BSCP’s purpose and activities. Working in partnership with other local agencies improves responses to safeguarding concerns and delivers better outcomes for children and young people in Barnet.
	6.4	Legal and Constitutional References
	6.5	Risk Management
	6.5.1	BSCP works within a risk management approach aligned to the Council’s Risk Management Framework.
	6.6	Equalities and Diversity
	6.7	Corporate Parenting
	6.8	Consultation and Engagement
	7	Insight
	7.1	BSCP has a multi-agency performance dashboard which helps set priorities and spot emerging trends, and its thematic deep dives draw on research and local and national data.
	BSCP Final Annual Report 22-23

	8 Cabinet Forward Plan (Key Decision Schedule)
	Printed plan Cabinet Forward Plan Key Decision Schedule 2023-2024 Cabinet

	9 Scrutiny Work Programme
	10 Task and Finish Group Update
	Appendix A Task and Finish Group Update

	12 Family Services Quarterly Update
	7 November 2023 ChAT
	Final - Barnet joint AEM letter 2023
	SEF 2023 Final




